HECKE ALGEBRAS AND LOCAL LANGLANDS CORRESPONDENCE FOR NON-SINGULAR DEPTH-ZERO REPRESENTATIONS

MAARTEN SOLLEVELD AND YUJIE XU

ABSTRACT. Let G be a connected reductive group over a non-archimedean local field. We say that an irreducible depth-zero (complex) G-representation is non-singular if its cuspidal support is non-singular. We establish a local Langlands correspondence for all such representations. We obtain it as a specialization from a categorical version: an equivalence between the category of finite-length non-singular depth-zero G-representations and the category of finite-length right modules of a direct sum of twisted affine Hecke algebras constructed from Langlands parameters. We also show that our LLC and our equivalence of categories have several nice properties, for example compatibility with parabolic induction and with twists by depth-zero characters.

Contents

1. Introduction	2 7
2. Deligne–Lusztig packets for <i>p</i> -adic groups	7
2.1. Embeddings of tori and extensions	14
3. Supercuspidal L-parameters of depth zero	21
3.1. Preliminaries	21
3.2. Extensions related to enhancements of L-parameters	23
4. An LLC for non-singular depth-zero supercuspidal representation	s 27
5. Some subquotients of the Iwahori–Weyl group	34
6. q-parameters for Hecke algebras	37
7. The Hecke algebra of a non-singular depth-zero Bernstein block	44
7.1. The supercuspidal case	46
7.2. The non-supercuspidal case	49
8. Hecke algebras for non-singular depth-zero Langlands parameters	54
8.1. Preliminaries	54
8.2. Comparison of q-parameters	57
8.3. Comparison of 2-cocycles	59
9. Equivalences between module categories of Hecke algebras	66
10. An LLC for non-singular depth-zero representations	74
10.1. Construction	74
10.2. Properties	77
Appendix A. Splittings of some extensions on the <i>p</i> -adic side	82
Appendix B. Splittings of some extensions on the Galois side	88
Index of notations	92
References	94

Date: March 12, 2025.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 22E50, 20C08, 20G25.

1. Introduction

Overview and main results.

Let F be a non-archimedean local field and G a connected reductive algebraic group over F. Let G^{\vee} be the group of \mathbb{C} -points of the reductive group whose root datum is dual to that of G. Let \mathbf{W}_F be the Weil group of F. As a vast generalization of local class field theory, the classical explicit local Langlands conjecture, first proposed in the 1960s [Bor], predicts a surjective map from the "group side", which consists of irreducible smooth representations of G(F) up to isomorphism, to the "Galois side", which consists of "L-parameters", i.e. continuous homomorphisms $\varphi \colon \mathbf{W}_F \times$ $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to G^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F$. This conjectural surjective map oftentimes has non-singleton fibres, called L-packets, which are expected to be always finite. When G is a torus, the local Langlands conjecture recovers local class field theory. Both tori and GL_n famously have singleton L-packets.

In order to formulate a conjectural bijection (or an equivalence of categories) for more general reductive groups, partially driven by aesthetics, many mathematicians such as Deligne, Vogan, Lusztig etc. proposed a refined form of the local Langlands conjecture (see for example [Vog] and [ABPS] for a more detailed exposition), which takes into account the non-singleton nature of L-packets, and probes further into the *internal structure* of the L-packets, parametrized by *enhancements* of the L-parameters. The refined local Langlands conjecture considers *enhanced* L-parameters on the Galois side, which consist of L-parameters φ together with an irreducible representation of a certain component group attached to φ (see §3.1 for more details).

In this article, we establish the explicit refined local Langlands conjecture for a large class of representations. In this overview, we first survey some known results in the literature, then highlight the new advancements to the field added by our current article.

On the group side, i.e. in the smooth complex representation theory of p-adic groups, depth-zero representations play a pivotal role. On the one hand, it is expected that most representations of higher depth can be reduced in some sense to depth-zero representations; on the other hand, experts have long postulated that almost all possible technical difficulties (and new phenomena!) already arise at depth zero. In the groundbreaking work [DeRe], DeBacker and Reeder constructed depth-zero regular supercuspidal L-packets, where the condition of "regularity" on a supercuspidal representation can be very roughly (and perhaps rather inaccurately) thought of as the character θ (in Deligne-Lusztig's R_T^{θ}) being "in general position", a notion which goes all the way back to [DeLu]. The results of [DeRe] were later generalized from depth-zero to arbitrary depth in [Kal2], and the assumption of regularity was later relaxed to non-singularity in [Kal3]. To venture beyond the realm of non-singular supercuspidals, one necessarily needs to enlist the theory of Hecke algebras: (i) either one would like to consider singular supercuspidals—terminology first due to [AuXu2], which are supercuspidals whose L-packets mix supercuspidals and non-supercuspidals and whose study necessarily require a careful analysis of their Bernstein block Hecke algebras; (ii) or one would like to consider non-singular non-supercuspidals, which are G-representations whose supercuspidal supports are non-singular.

Hecke algebra techniques have proven particularly powerful in attacking the local Langlands conjecture, as can be seen in [AuXu1, AuXu2, Sol6, Sol10]. This is in part due to the fact that Hecke algebras naturally show up on the Galois side of the conjectural local Langlands correspondence (LLC). More precisely, as shown in [AMS1] (see also $\S 8.1$) the enhanced L-parameters admit a natural decomposition, à la Bernstein, according to their cuspidal supports, and each such Bernstein component on the Galois side is parametrized by the irreducible representations of a certain Hecke algebra [AMS3] (see also $\S 8.1$).

In this article, we generalize the aforementioned literature and construct a local Langlands correspondence for all depth-zero G-representations with non-singular supercuspidal support¹. In [AuXu1], an axiomatic setup for constructing a bijective local Langlands correspondence was proposed, which can be combined with an analysis of Hecke algebras to obtain stronger results. In this article, we verify these requirements for all non-singular depth-zero Bernstein blocks.

Our first main result is a bijection between

- the set $Irr^0(G)_{ns}$ of irreducible non-singular depth-zero G-representations (up to isomorphism); and
- the set $\Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ of non-singular enhanced L-parameters for G which are trivial on the wild inertia subgroup of the Weil group \mathbf{W}_F .

Here (and throughout the paper) G should be viewed as a rigid inner twist of a quasi-split F-group.

Theorem 1. (all results in §10)

There exists a bijection

(1.1)
$$\operatorname{Irr}^{0}(G)_{ns} \longleftrightarrow \Phi_{e}^{0}(G)_{ns}$$

$$\pi \mapsto (\varphi_{\pi}, \rho_{\pi})$$

$$\pi(\varphi, \rho) \longleftrightarrow (\varphi, \rho)$$

such that:

- (a) The map $\operatorname{Irr}^0(G)_{ns} \mapsto \Phi(G) : \pi \mapsto \varphi_{\pi}$ is canonical.
- (b) The bijection is equivariant for the natural actions of the depth-zero subgroup of $H^1(\mathbf{W}_F, Z(G^{\vee}))$ and the associated group of depth-zero characters of G.
- (c) The central character of π is equal to the character of Z(G) canonically determined by φ_{π} .
- (d) π is tempered if and only if φ_{π} is bounded.
- (e) π is essentially square-integrable if and only if φ_{π} is discrete.
- (f) Our LLC (1.1), its version for supercuspidal representations of Levi subgroups of G and the cuspidal support maps form a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \operatorname{Irr}^0(G)_{ns} & \longleftrightarrow & \Phi_e^0(G)_{ns} \\ \downarrow \operatorname{Sc} & \downarrow \operatorname{Sc} \\ \bigsqcup_L \operatorname{Irr}^0_{\operatorname{cusp}}(L)_{ns}/W(G,L) & \longleftrightarrow & \bigsqcup_L \Phi^0_{\operatorname{cusp}}(L)_{ns}/W(G^\vee,L^\vee)^{\mathbf{W}_F} \end{array} .$$

Here $W(G, L) = N_G(L)/L$, $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee}) = N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})/L^{\vee}$ and L runs through a set of representatives for the G-conjugacy classes of Levi subgroups of G.

(g) Our LLC (1.1) is compatible with parabolic induction. Suppose that P = MU is a parabolic subgroup of G, with Levi factor M. Let $(\varphi, \rho^M) \in \Phi^0_e(M)_{ns}$ be

¹For a precise definition, see §2.

bounded. Let $\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+)$ and $\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^{M+})$ be the component groups for φ as object of, respectively, $\Phi(G)$ and $\Phi(M)$. Then

$$\mathrm{I}_{P}^{G}\left(\pi^{M}(\varphi,\rho^{M})\right)\cong\bigoplus\nolimits_{\rho}\mathrm{Hom}_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho,\rho^{M})\otimes\pi(\varphi,\rho),$$

where the sum runs through all $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+))$ such that $Sc(\varphi, \rho)$ is G^{\vee} -conjugate to $Sc(\varphi, \rho^M)$.

- (h) Our LLC (1.1) is compatible with the Langlands classification. Suppose that $(\varphi, \rho) \in \varphi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ and $\varphi = z\varphi_b$ with $\varphi_b \in \Phi(M)$ bounded and $z \in \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{R}_{>0})$ strictly positive with respect to P = MU. Then $I_P^G(z \otimes \pi^M(\varphi_b, \rho))$ is a standard G-representation and $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is its unique irreducible quotient.
- (i) The p-adic Kazhdan-Lusztig conjecture holds for $Rep^0(G)_{ns}$.

For any progenerator $\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ (e.g. from a type), the category $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ is naturally equivalent to the category of right modules for $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$. By [Mor1, Mor2], $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ is rather close to an affine Hecke algebra, while its irreducible modules have been studied extensively in [Sol5]. The Bernstein blocks $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ altogether make up the category of non-singular depth-zero G-representations $\operatorname{Rep}^0(G)_{ns}$. We indicate its full subcategory of finite-length representations by a subscript "fl".

On the Galois side, the set $\Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ decomposes naturally as a disjoint union of Bernstein components $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ [AMS1], indexed by a finite set $\mathfrak{B}^{\vee}(G)_{ns}^0$. To every such Bernstein component $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$, one can associate a certain twisted affine Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ (see [AMS3]²), which is constructed in terms of the geometry of the complex variety of Langlands parameters underlying $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$, and whose irreducible modules³ are parametrized canonically by $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$. Such an algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ can be compared with $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ for an appropriate inertial equivalence class \mathfrak{s} for $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$. Our second main result is the following.

Theorem 2. (Theorem 9.6)

There exists an equivalence of categories

$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}^0(G)_{ns} \cong \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee} \in \mathfrak{B}^{\vee}(G)_{ns}^0} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}),$$

which is compatible with parabolic induction and restriction and with twists by depthzero characters.

There seem to be obstructions to generalizing this equivalence to categories of representations of arbitrary length, due to certain 2-cocycles in the Hecke algebras from [Mor1] on the cuspidal level. On the other hand, for some special cases of groups and representations, an equivalence of categories of the form

$$\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak s} \cong \operatorname{Mod} - \mathcal H(\mathfrak s^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$$

is known. See [AMS3] for inner forms of $GL_n(F)$, [AMS4] for pure inner forms of quasi-split classical groups, [Sol6, Sol7] for unipotent representations, [AuXu2] for $G_2(F)$, [SuXu] for $GSp_4(F)$, and [Sol10] for principal series representations.

Theorem 2 is in the spirit of recent geometric and categorical versions of a local Langlands correspondence [Hel, Zhu, BCHN, FaSc], where the objects on the Galois (or spectral) side are equivariant coherent sheaves on stacks of Langlands

²Compared to [AMS3], we specialized an indeterminate q-parameter to $q_F^{1/2} = |k_F|^{1/2}$.

³In this paper, modules of a Hecke algebra are by default right modules.

parameters, and one must pass to derived categories on both sides of the (conjectural) correspondence to formulate the conjecture. The construction of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ in [AMS3] strongly suggests that its modules are related to such equivariant coherent sheaves, but it has proven difficult to make that precise.

In Section 2, we prove new results on Deligne–Lusztig packets of supercuspidal L-representations, which in the end show that they behave well with respect to conjugation by $N_G(L)$. In §3, we conduct a closer analysis on the representations of the component groups of supercuspidal L-parameters for L, related to conjugation by $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})$. On both sides of the LLC, it involves checking that certain extensions of groups split equivariantly (see §2.1 and §3.2 for details). Using this, we are able to (in §4) even prove new results about the LLC on the cuspidal level from [Kal3].

Theorem 3. (See Theorem 4.8)

Identify $(Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})^{\circ}_{\mathbf{W}_F}$ with the set of Langlands parameters for the group of unramified characters $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$. In the LLC for non-singular supercuspidal L-representations, the choices can be made so that the bijection

$$\operatorname{Irr}^0_{\operatorname{cusp}}(L)_{ns} \longleftrightarrow \Phi^0_{\operatorname{cusp}}(L)_{ns}$$

is equivariant for the natural actions of

$$W(G,L) \ltimes \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L) \cong W(G^{\vee},L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \ltimes \left(Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F}\right)_{\mathbf{W}_F}^{\circ}.$$

Outline and remarks of strategy.

Theorem 3 provides in particular a bijection between:

- the set of inertial equivalence classes $\mathfrak{s} = [L, \tau]_G$ for $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$, such that $\tau \in \operatorname{Irr}^0_{\operatorname{cusp}}(L)_{ns}$ for some Levi subgroup $L \subset G$,
- the set of inertial equivalence classes $\mathfrak{s}^{\vee} = (Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F}^{\circ} \cdot (\varphi_L, \rho_L)$ for $\Phi_e(G)$, such that $(\varphi_L, \rho_L) \in \Phi_{\text{cusp}}^0(L)_{ns}$.

We will denote this bijection simply by

$$\mathfrak{s} \longleftrightarrow \mathfrak{s}^{\vee}.$$

It allows us to pass freely between the set of Bernstein components $\operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ of $\operatorname{Irr}^{0}(G)_{ns}$ and the set of Bernstein components $\Phi_{e}(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ of $\Phi_{e}^{0}(G)_{ns}$.

Sections 5–7 study Hecke algebras for p-adic groups. These sections are logically independent from Sections 2–4. For a non-singular depth-zero Bernstein block $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$, the work of Morris [Mor1, Mor2] provides us with a type $(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$, where $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ denotes the pointwise stabilizer of a facet \mathfrak{f} in the Bruhat–Tits building of G.

Extending results of Morris, we show that $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ is a crossed product of an affine Hecke algebra and a twisted group algebra (see Theorem 7.2). Since we already understand the set of cuspidal supports for $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$, we only need to further consider two aspects of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$: the q-parameters of the simple reflections from the associated finite root system $R_{\hat{\sigma}}$, and the 2-cocycle by which the group algebra has been twisted.

Let $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ be a Deligne–Lusztig packet (see (2.5)) containing a representation in the set of cuspidal supports for $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$. We show in Proposition 6.9 that the q-parameters of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ are equal to the q-parameters of a Hecke algebra for suitable principal series representations of a quasi-split reductive subgroup $G_{\hat{\sigma}} \subset G$ (see (6.13)) with T as minimal Levi subgroup. The argument runs mainly via similar Hecke algebras for finite reductive groups. These q-parameters for $G_{\hat{\sigma}}$ can be computed explicitly from (T, θ) [Sol8].

The comparison between Hecke algebras on the p-adic side and on the Galois side of the Langlands correspondence is done in Sections 8–9. On the Galois side, the twisted affine Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ involves a finite root system $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ and q-parameters, defined in completely different terms from complex algebraic geometry. Fortunately, these parameters can also be reduced to the case of $(G_{\hat{\sigma}}, T, \theta)$, already studied in [Sol10]. In (8.18), we establish a canonical isomorphism of root systems

$$(1.3) R_{\hat{\sigma}} \cong R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}},$$

and we show that the q-parameters on both sides agree. The further comparison of the Hecke algebras is more difficult. Recall that Bernstein associated a finite group

$$(1.4) W_{\mathfrak{s}} := \operatorname{Stab}_{W(G,L)}(\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}})$$

to $Rep(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$. Similarly, one can associate a finite group

$$W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} := \operatorname{Stab}_{W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})} \mathbf{w}_F \left(\Phi_e(L)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \right)$$

to $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$. By Theorem 3 there is a canonical isomorphism (see also [AuXu1])

$$(1.5) W_{\mathfrak{s}} \cong W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}.$$

Let $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}$ be the stabilizer in $W_{\mathfrak{s}}$ of the set of positive roots in $R_{\hat{\sigma}}$, and define $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \subset W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ analogously. Using (1.3), we can decompose (1.5) as

$$(1.6) \ W_{\mathfrak{s}} = W(R_{\hat{\sigma}}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}, \ W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}, \ W(R_{\hat{\sigma}}) \cong W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}), \ \text{and} \ \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}} \cong \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}.$$

The algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ can be written as

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ} \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}],$$

where $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$ is an affine Hecke algebra and $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ is a 2-cocycle of $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$. While $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$ is canonically isomorphic to a subalgebra of $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ (see Lemma 7.8 and Proposition 8.5), $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}$ appears only indirectly in $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$. One can instead replace $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ with $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$, where $\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ is a canonical progenerator of $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ constructed by Bernstein. The algebras $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ and $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ are Morita equivalent, but for various reasons it is easier to work with the latter [Sol5]. In general, however, $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ still does not contain a twisted group algebra of $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}$. To introduce at least a subgroup of $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}}$ into the picture, we localize $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ with respect to suitable sets of characters of its centre. Theorem 3 provides an isomorphism

$$(1.7) Z(\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})) \cong \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}})^{W_{\mathfrak{s}}} \cong \mathcal{O}(\Phi_e(L)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}})^{W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}} \cong Z(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})),$$

so we can localize $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ with respect to the corresponding set of central characters. (This localization technique does not work well for representations of infinite length, so from here on we restrict to finite length modules.) In Proposition 8.8, we show that Theorem 3 and (1.6) induce an algebra isomorphism of the form

(1.8) localized version of
$$\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \cong \operatorname{localized}$$
 version of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$.

In fact, both sides of (1.8) can be described in terms of twisted graded Hecke algebras. On the right-hand side of (1.8), the twist is given by the restriction of $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ to a subgroup of $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$. The twisted graded Hecke algebra on the left-hand side of (1.8) involves a 2-cocycle of a subgroup of $W_{\mathfrak{s}}$ as in [Sol5, Proposition 7.3]. The

comparison of the 2-cocycles on both sides of (1.8) is indeed the most difficult step of the paper. It is finally achieved in Theorem 8.7, using the technical ingredients we established in Appendices A and B. Combining cases of (1.8) gives equivalences of categories

(1.9)
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}} \cong \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \cong \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_{F}^{1/2});$$

see Theorem 9.4. Using (1.2), one deduces Theorem 2. We then obtain our bijective LLC using the parametrization of $\operatorname{Irr-}\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ from [AMS3, Theorem 3.18], which concerns left $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ -modules whereas in Theorem 10.2 we translate to right modules of (1.9). Finally, we prove the list of properties of our LLC in §10.2.

Open problems and outlook.

Clearly it would be desirable to make our LLC for non-singular depth-zero representations canonical (including the enhancements). To this end, the input would have to include a Whittaker datum for the quasi-split inner form of G. However, this is not enough, even at the cuspidal level. At the moment, our LLC, or that from [Kal2, Kal3], is not specified uniquely by a Whittaker datum; more requirements would be needed. This would possibly involve character formulas and endoscopy, as in [FKS], in combination with a better understanding of the traces of the representations in question.

In another direction, one could try to make our LLC functorial with respect to homomorphisms $f: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{G}$ of reductive F-groups such that both ker f and coker f are commutative. The desired outcome was already conjectured in [Bor, Sol3], and has been proven in the cuspidal cases in [BoMe]. This would require some alignment between the local Langlands correspondences for $Irr^0(G)_{ns}$ and $Irr^0(H)_{ns}$, which would render them more canonical.

A local Langlands correspondence for non-singular supercuspidal representations of positive depth was established simultaneously with the one in depth zero [Kal2, Kal3], for groups G that split over a tamely ramified extension of F. Types for Bernstein blocks of non-singular representations of such groups are known from [KiYu]. Recently it was shown [AFMO1, AFMO2] that the Hecke algebras from these Kim-Yu types are isomorphic to Hecke algebras from depth zero types, as in [Mor1, Mor2]. In view of these developments, it is reasonable to expect that our LLC can be generalized to non-singular representations of arbitrary depth.

In a similar manner, one expects that the methods developed in this paper will be useful for the study of arbitrary depth-zero representations.

Acknowledgements.

We thank Anne-Marie Aubert for some helpful comments. Y.X. was partially supported by the U.S. National Science Foundation under Award No. 2202677.

2. Deligne–Lusztig packets for p-adic groups

Let F be a non-archimedean local field with residue field k_F . Let \mathcal{L} be an F-Levi subgroup of a larger connected reductive F-group \mathcal{G} . We write $G = \mathcal{G}(F), L = \mathcal{L}(F)$ etc. Let \mathcal{L}_{ad} be the adjoint group of \mathcal{L} , and let $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}_{ad}, F) = \mathcal{B}(L)$ be the semisimple Bruhat–Tits building of L. Let $Z(\mathcal{L})$ be the centre of \mathcal{L} , and $Z^{\circ}(\mathcal{L})$ its neutral

component. We write $Z^{\circ}(L) = Z^{\circ}(\mathcal{L})(F)$, and let $X_{*}(Z^{\circ}(L))$ be its lattice of F-rational cocharacters. Recall that the Bruhat–Tits building $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}, F) = \mathcal{B}(L)$ is the Cartesian product of $\mathcal{B}(L_{\mathrm{ad}})$ and $X_{*}(Z^{\circ}(L)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$.

Let \mathcal{T} be an elliptic maximal F-torus in \mathcal{L} which contains a maximal unramified F-torus of \mathcal{L} . Let \mathfrak{f}_L be the facet of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}, F)$ corresponding to $\mathcal{T}(F)$. Recall that every facet of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}, F)$ is the Cartesian product of a facet in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}_{ad}, F)$ and $X_*(Z^{\circ}(L)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. We fix an embedding $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}, F) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F)$ that is admissible in the sense of [KaPr, Chapter 14]. We choose a facet \mathfrak{f} of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F)$ that is open in \mathfrak{f}_L .

Let $P_{\mathfrak{f}} = G_{\mathfrak{f},0} \subset G$ be the parahoric subgroup associated to \mathfrak{f} , with pro-unipotent radical denoted by $G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$. Then $P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$ can be viewed as the k_F -points of a connected reductive group. More precisely, by [BrTi, §5.2], there is a model $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$ of \mathcal{G} over the ring of integers \mathfrak{o}_F , such that $P_{\mathfrak{f}} = \mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(\mathfrak{o}_F)$. Then $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F) := P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$ is the maximal reductive quotient of $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$. Let $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be the pointwise stabilizer of \mathfrak{f} in G, it contains $P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ with finite index. Since $P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is a characteristic subgroup of $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$, these two have the same normalizer in G, i.e. we have

(2.1)
$$G_{\mathfrak{f}} := \operatorname{Stab}_{G}(\mathfrak{f}) = N_{G}(P_{\mathfrak{f}}) = N_{G}(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}).$$

By [KaPr, Remark 8.3.4 and §9.2.5], there exists an \mathfrak{o}_F -group scheme $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$, which is locally of finite type but not always affine, such that $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{o}_F) = G_{\mathfrak{f}}$. It gives rise to a k_F -group scheme $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ satisfying $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) = G_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$. This contains $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$ as the group of k_F -rational points of a (possibly disconnected) reductive subgroup $\hat{\mathcal{G}}_{\mathfrak{f}} \subset \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. Similar notations will be used for \mathcal{L} , but they only depend on the larger facet \mathfrak{f}_L . We shall write $P_{L,\mathfrak{f}} := L \cap P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ instead of $P_{\mathfrak{f}_L}$.

In $G_{\mathfrak{f}} = \mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{o}_F)$ we also have $T = \mathcal{T}(F)$ as the \mathfrak{o}_F -points of a subgroup scheme of $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. In this way \mathcal{T} can be viewed as an \mathfrak{o}_F -group scheme. The \mathfrak{o}_F -torus $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}} := \mathcal{T} \cap \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$ is (considered over F) a maximal unramified torus in \mathcal{L} and in \mathcal{G} . Since \mathcal{G} becomes quasi-split over an unramified extension of F, $Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is a maximal torus of \mathcal{G} , and thus it must be \mathcal{T} . By the ellipticity of \mathcal{T} , the maximal F-split subtorus \mathcal{T}_s of \mathcal{T} is contained in $Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}$, thus we have

(2.2)
$$\mathcal{L} = Z_{\mathcal{G}}(Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}) = Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_s).$$

A character of $T = \mathcal{T}(F)$ is said to have depth zero if it is trivial on $\ker(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{o}_F) \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F))$. By the construction of $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$, this kernel equals $\ker(\mathcal{T}(\mathfrak{o}_F) \to \mathcal{T}(k_F))$. Consider a depth-zero character θ of T, or equivalently a character θ of $\mathcal{T}(k_F)$. Throughout this section, we assume that θ is F-non-singular for $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{L})$ in the sense of [Kal3, Definition 3.1.1]. It means that, for any unramified extension E/F and any coroot α^{\vee} of $(\mathcal{L}(E), \mathcal{T}(E))$, the character

$$\theta \circ (\text{norm map for } E/F \text{ on } \mathcal{T}) \circ \alpha^{\vee} : E^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$$

is nontrivial on \mathfrak{o}_E^{\times} . As mentioned in [Kal3, 3.1.4], $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}} := \theta|_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}$ is non-singular for $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F), \mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F))$ in the sense of [DeLu, Definition 5.15], that is, $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is not orthogonal to any coroot of $(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$. Compared to [Kal2, Kal3], we do not require that \mathcal{T} splits over a tamely ramified extension of F.

From the data $(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}, \theta)$, one can build a Deligne–Lusztig representation $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$ of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ (see for example [DeLu] and [Kal3, §2]), in the same way as for the connected group $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$. It is a virtual representation of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$, but $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$ is an

actual representation for a suitable sign \pm . By [Kal3, Corollary 2.6.2], $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$ is a quotient of

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})} \left(\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})} \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \right) \cong \pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{T}(k_{F})} \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \right).$$

Moreover $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$ is a representation of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) \times \mathcal{T}(k_F)$, where $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ acts from the left and $\mathcal{T}(k_F)$ acts from the right via the character θ . The action of $Z(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F) \subset \mathcal{T}(k_F)$ is the same from the left and from the right, therefore,

(2.3)
$$Z(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)$$
 acts on $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$ via $\theta|_{Z(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)}$.

We define the Deligne-Lusztig packet

$$\Pi(\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{f}}(k_F), \mathcal{T}(k_F), \theta) \subset \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{f}}(k_F))$$

as the set of irreducible constituents of $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$. Let $N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ be the stabilizer of θ in $N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})$. Let $\mathrm{Irr}(N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}, \theta)$ be the set of irreducible representations of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ whose restriction to $\mathcal{T}(k_F)$ contains θ . The group $N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ acts on $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$ by $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ -intertwiners, constructed in [Kal3, (2.18)]. First, canonical $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ -intertwining operators are exhibited, by geometric means. These respect the multiplication in $N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ only up to a scalars, and to combine them into an actual representation the geometric intertwining operators are normalized by the choice of a "coherent splitting" [Kal3, Definition 2.4.9] which we indicate by ϵ . By [Kal3, Theorem 2.7.7.1], there is a bijection

(2.4)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}, \theta) \rightarrow \Pi(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F}), \mathcal{T}(k_{F}), \theta) \\ \rho \mapsto (\rho \otimes \pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}(\theta)^{\epsilon})^{N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}}.$$

Let $\operatorname{Rep}(L)$ be the category of smooth L-representations on complex vector spaces. We recall that a L-representation (π, V) has depth zero if it is generated by the union, over all facets \mathfrak{f} of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}, F)$, of the subspaces $V^{\pi(G_{\mathfrak{f},0+})}$. We denote the full subcategory of $\operatorname{Rep}(L)$ formed by depth-zero representations by $\operatorname{Rep}^0(L)$. Let $\operatorname{Irr}(L)$ be the set of irreducible L-representations in $\operatorname{Rep}(L)$ (up to isomorphism). For the p-adic group L, we define the $\operatorname{Deligne-Lusztig}$ packet

$$(2.5) \quad \Pi(L,T,\theta) := \left\{ \operatorname{ind}_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{L}(\sigma') : \sigma' \text{ is a constituent of } \inf_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{L_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)} \left(\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta) \right) \right\}$$

in Irr(L). More precisely,

$$\Pi(L, T, \theta) \subset \operatorname{Irr}^0(L) := \{ \pi \in \operatorname{Irr}(L) : \pi \text{ has depth zero} \}.$$

By definition, a supercuspidal L-representation of depth zero is non-singular if and only if it belongs to one of the packets $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$. By (2.3), we know that

(2.6) every
$$\pi \in \Pi(L, T, \theta)$$
 admits the central character $\theta|_{Z(L)}$.

By [MoPr2, Proposition 6.6], we have a bijection

$$\operatorname{ind}_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{L} \operatorname{inf}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{L_{\mathfrak{f}}} : \Pi(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F), \mathcal{T}(k_F), \theta) \to \Pi(L, T, \theta).$$

Let $\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(T)_{\theta}, \theta)$ be the set of irreducible representations of $N_L(T)$ whose restriction to T contains θ (or equivalently, on which T acts via the character θ). As

explained in [Kal3, §2.7 and §3.3], there is a bijection

(2.7)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(T)_{\theta}, \theta) \to \Pi(L, T, \theta), \quad \rho \mapsto \left(\rho \otimes \kappa_{(T, \theta)}^{L, \epsilon}\right)^{N_L(T)_{\theta}} =: \kappa_{T, \theta, \rho}^{L, \epsilon},$$

where $\kappa_{(T,\theta)}^{L,\epsilon} := \operatorname{ind}_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{L} \operatorname{inf}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{L_{\mathfrak{f}}} \left(\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}(\theta)^{\epsilon} \right)$ is an $L \times N_{L}(T)_{\theta}$ -representation. The action of $N_{L}(T)_{\theta}$ factors through $N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ and is induced from the action on $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}(\theta)^{\epsilon}$ in (2.4).

Lemma 2.1. The supercuspidal L-representation $\kappa_{T,\theta,\rho}^{L,\epsilon}$, as defined in (2.7), is tempered if and only if θ is unitary.

Proof. Any irreducible supercuspidal representation is tempered if and only if its central character is unitary. Since T is a maximal torus of L, it contains Z(L). We denote the maximal compact subgroup of a torus over F by a subscript cpt. Since T is elliptic, $Z^{\circ}(L)/Z^{\circ}(L)_{\text{cpt}}$ is a finite-index subgroup of T/T_{cpt} . Hence θ is unitary if and only if $\theta|_{Z(L)}$ is unitary. The constructions of $\pm \mathcal{R}_{T(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)$ and $\kappa_{(T,\theta)}^{L,\epsilon}$ show that they admit central character $\theta|_{Z(L)}$. Hence so does $\kappa_{T,\theta,\rho}^{L,\epsilon}$.

If X is any set with an $N_G(L)$ -action, then the group $W(G, L) := N_G(L)/L$ acts naturally on the set of L-orbits in X. Let $N_G(L, T)$ be the largest subgroup of G that normalizes both L and T. The W(G, L)-stabilizer of the L-conjugacy class of (T, θ) can be expressed as

$$(2.8) W(G, L)_{(T,\theta)} \cong N_G(L, T)_{\theta}/N_L(T)_{\theta}.$$

The actions of $N_G(L,T)_{\theta}$ on the sets in (2.7) are trivial on $N_L(T)_{\theta}$, thus by (2.8), they factor through $W(G,L)_{(T,\theta)}$. We note that $W(G,L)_{(T,\theta)}$ is a quotient of the stabilizer of θ in $W(N_G(L),T) = N_G(L,T)/T$.

For characters of L, there are several reasonable notions of "depth-zero". It is not a priori obvious which one is the most appropriate, but fortunately they all coincide by [SoXu, Theorem 1.4]. Let $L_{\rm sc} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm sc}(F)$ be the simply connected cover of the derived group $L_{\rm der} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm der}(F)$. We abbreviate the cokernel of the canonical map $L_{\rm sc} \to L$ as $L/L_{\rm sc}$, and we consider the following group of characters:

$$\mathfrak{X}^0(L) = \{ \chi : L/L_{\mathrm{sc}} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \mid \chi|_T \text{ has depth zero for all maximal tori } T \subset L \}.$$

We showed in [SoXu, Theorem 3.4] that $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ is equal to the group of characters of L that are trivial on the image of $L_{\text{sc}} \to L$ and on $L_{f_L,0+}$ for every facet \mathfrak{f}_L of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L},F)$. An advantage of this notion of "depth-zero" for characters is that tensoring representations by elements of $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ stabilizes $\text{Rep}^0(L)$.

Recall that a character $L \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is called unramified if it is trivial on every compact subgroup of L. The group of unramified characters $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ is essential for defining Bernstein blocks in Rep(L). For any maximal torus $T \subset L$, the pro-p radical T_{0+} of the unique parahoric subgroup of T is compact. Hence every unramified character $\chi: L \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ has T_{0+} in its kernel, so $\chi|_T$ has depth zero and $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)$.

More precisely, $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ is a connected component of $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$. Every character of L also defines a character of any inner form L' of L. In this way, the groups $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ and $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ can be identified with their versions for L'.

The group $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ acts on Irr(L) by tensoring, and this action preserves the set $Irr^0(L)$ of irreducible depth-zero representations of L. For $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)$, we have

$$N_L(T)_{\chi \otimes \theta} = N_L(T)_{\theta}$$
 and $W(L,T)_{\chi \otimes \theta} = W(L,T)_{\theta}$;

similarly for other analogous sub-quotients of L. We define $N_L(T)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$ (resp. $N_G(L,T)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$) to be the stabilizer of $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\otimes\theta$ in $N_L(T)$ (resp. $N_G(L,T)$). Set

$$W(L,T)_{\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta} = N_{L}(T)_{\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta}/T \text{ and } W(N_{G}(L),T)_{\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta} = N_{G}(L,T)_{\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta}/T.$$

Likewise, let $W(G,L)_{(T,\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta)}$ be the stabilizer of $L \cdot (T,\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta)$ in W(G,L), which is isomorphic to $W(N_G(L),T)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}/W(L,T)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$. Notice that $N_G(L,T)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$ normalizes $N_L(T)_{\theta}$ and that

$$n \cdot \operatorname{Irr}(N_L(T)_{\theta}, \theta) = \operatorname{Irr}(N_L(T)_{\theta}, n \cdot \theta)$$
 for any $n \in N_G(L, T)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$.

Tensoring a representation with a character does not change its space of self-intertwiners, so in (2.7) we can

(2.9) pick the same coherent splitting
$$\epsilon$$
 for all $\theta' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta$.

Proposition 2.2. Under (2.9), the collection of bijections (2.7) for all $\theta' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta$ is $W(G, L)_{(T,\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta)}$ -equivariant. In particular, the bijection (2.7) is $W(G, L)_{(T,\theta)}$ -equivariant.

Proof. Let \mathcal{U} be the unipotent radical of a Borel subgroup of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$ containing $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. The representation $\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)^{\epsilon}$ is defined on the vector space $H_c^{d_{\mathcal{U}}}(Y_{\mathcal{U}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})_{\theta}$, which arises from the variety

$$Y_{\mathcal{U}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}} := \{ l\mathcal{U} \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}/\mathcal{U} : l^{-1} \operatorname{Frob}(l) \in \mathcal{U} \cdot \operatorname{Frob}\mathcal{U} \},$$

see [Kal3, §2.6]. It is viewed as a complex representation via a fixed field isomorphism $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \cong \mathbb{C}$. For $g \in N_G(L,T)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$, the map $l\mathcal{U} \mapsto gl\mathcal{U}g^{-1}$ induces a linear bijection

$$(2.10) H_c^{d_{\mathcal{U}}}(Y_{\mathcal{U}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})_{\theta} \xrightarrow{\sim} H_c^{d_{\mathcal{U}}}(Y_{g\mathcal{U}g^{-1}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})_{g \cdot \theta}.$$

As in [Kal3, (2.18)], we compose this with $\epsilon \Psi_{\mathcal{U},g\mathcal{U}g^{-1}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ to land in $H_c^{d_{\mathcal{U}}}(Y_{\mathcal{U}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})_{g\cdot\theta}$. Here $\Psi_{\mathcal{U},g\mathcal{U}g^{-1}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is obtained from a canonical geometric construction [Kal3, (2.17)] and it is normalized by means of a "coherent splitting" ϵ . In the process, the $N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ -action from [Kal3, (2.18)] is precomposed with conjugation by g, which we indicate by a superscript $\epsilon \circ g^{-1}$. This allows us to define an isomorphism of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) \times N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ -representations

$$(2.11) g \cdot \pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta)^{\epsilon} \xrightarrow{\sim} \pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(g \cdot \theta)^{\epsilon \circ g^{-1}},$$

which is canonical once ϵ has been chosen. Now by (2.7), we have

$$(2.12) \ g \cdot \kappa_{(T,\theta,\rho)}^{L,\epsilon} \cong \left(\rho \otimes \kappa_{(T,g\cdot\theta)}^{L,\epsilon\circ g^{-1}}\right)^{N_L(T)_\theta} = \left(g \cdot \rho \otimes \kappa_{(T,g\cdot\theta)}^{L,\epsilon}\right)^{N_L(T)_\theta} = \kappa_{(T,g\cdot\theta,g\cdot\rho)}^{L,\epsilon}. \quad \Box$$

The collection of bijections considered in Proposition 2.2 is also $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ -equivariant. Namely, by [Kal3, Theorem 2.7.7]

(2.13)
$$\chi \otimes \kappa_{(T,\theta,\rho)}^{L,\epsilon} \cong \kappa_{(T,\chi\otimes\theta,\chi\otimes\rho)}^{L,\epsilon} \qquad \chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L).$$

Let σ be a constituent of the Deligne–Lusztig representation $\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$, which decomposes into mutually inequivalent subrepresentations:

$$\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) = \bigoplus_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})} \sigma_{\chi} \qquad \Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} = W(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}.$$

By definition, these representations σ_{χ} form a Deligne–Lusztig packet for $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$. By inflation, we can also regard σ and the σ_{χ} as representations of $P_{L,\mathfrak{f}}$. Via the types $(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma_{\chi})$, they give rise to the category

(2.14)
$$\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})} = \bigoplus_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})} \operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma_{\chi})}.$$

Consider the set $W(G, L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{f}}, \theta_{\mathbf{f}})} := \{ w \in W(G, L) : w \cdot \operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(P_{L, \mathbf{f}}, \sigma)} \subset \operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{f}}, \theta_{\mathbf{f}})} \}.$

Lemma 2.3. $W(G, L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$ is a group, isomorphic to $N_G(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}/N_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$.

Proof. The irreducible representations in $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$ are $\operatorname{ind}_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{L}(\tilde{\sigma}_{\chi})$, where $\tilde{\sigma}_{\chi}$ is an extension of σ_{χ} to $L_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})$. More precisely:

(2.15)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})} = \bigcup_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})} \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma_{\chi})}.$$

The set $W(G,L)_{(\mathcal{T}_i,\theta_i)}$ sends $Irr(L)_{(P_{L,i},\sigma)}$ to $Irr(L)_{(\mathcal{T}_i,\theta_i)}$ and

$$w \cdot (P_{L,f}, \sigma) = (wP_{L,f}w^{-1}, w \cdot \sigma).$$

By the essential uniqueness of depth-zero types for supercuspidal representations [MoPr1, Theorem 5.2], $(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)$ is uniquely determined up to L-conjugacy. Hence we can find a representative for w in $N_G(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}})$. Then $w \cdot \sigma$ must be one of the σ_χ , thus w stabilizes the Deligne–Lusztig series associated to $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$. Here $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is unique up to $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$ -conjugacy, so we can even represent w by an element of $N_G(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. Conversely, every element of $N_G(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ represents a class in $W(G,L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$. Thus the natural group homomorphism $N_G(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(G,L)$ has image $W(G,L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$ and kernel $L \cap N_G(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} = N_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$.

Lemma 2.4. (a) The stabilizer of $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ inside W(G, L) equals $W(G, L)_{(T, \theta)}$. It is a subgroup of $W(G, L)_{(T_{\mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$, where $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}} = \theta|_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}$.

- (b) If $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ contains a representation fixed by $W(G, L)_{(T_{\mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$, then $W(G, L)_{(T, \theta)}$ equals $W(G, L)_{(T_{\mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$.
- *Proof.* (a) The construction of $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ implies that any element of W(G, L) that stabilizes the L-conjugacy class of (T, θ) also stabilizes $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$. For an arbitrary Deligne–Lusztig packet $\Pi(L, \tilde{T}, \tilde{\theta})$, we claim that
 - (i) $\Pi(L,\tilde{T},\tilde{\theta})=\Pi(L,T,\theta)$ if (T,θ) and $(\tilde{T},\tilde{\theta})$ are L-conjugate;
- (ii) $\Pi(L, \tilde{T}, \tilde{\theta})$ is disjoint from $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ if (T, θ) and $(\tilde{T}, \tilde{\theta})$ are not L-conjugate. Indeed, by [Kal3, Proposition 2.6.11], this holds for the group $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ instead of for L. This statement transfers to $L_{\mathfrak{f}}$ by inflation of representations. Consider any $\pi = \operatorname{ind}_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}^L(\sigma') \in \Pi(L, T, \theta)$ as in (2.5). By [MoPr2, §6], π determines the L-conjugacy class of $(L_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma')$. Hence the validity of (i) and (ii) extends from $L_{\mathfrak{f}}$ to L.

Consequently, any element of W(G, L) that sends a member of $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ into $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ must stabilize the L-conjugacy class of (T, θ) . Then it also stabilizes the L-conjugacy class of $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$, and thus it belongs to $W(G, L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$.

(b) For any $w \in W(G, L)_{(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$, by the definition of these Deligne–Lusztig packets, we have $w \cdot \Pi(L, T, \theta) = \Pi(L, wTw^{-1}, w \cdot \theta)$, which contains an element of $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ by assumption. By (i), we know that $(wTw^{-1}, w \cdot \theta)$ is L-conjugate to (T, θ) , which implies that $\Pi(L, wTw^{-1}, w \cdot \theta)$ equals $\Pi(L, T, \theta)$.

The Weyl group $W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})$ has the structure of a finite F-group, such that $N_L(T)/T$ is a subgroup of $W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)$. Recall from [Kal3, Lemma 3.2.1] that $W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta}$ is abelian.

Lemma 2.5. The subgroup $W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta}$ of $W(N_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta}$ is central.

Proof. Recall that $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}} = \mathcal{T} \cap \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$. Let $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{ad}}$ be the image of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ in $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{ad}}^{\circ}$. By the proofs of [Kal3, Lemmas 2.2.1 and 3.2.1], we have an embedding

$$(2.16) W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}(\operatorname{coker}(\mathcal{T}_{f}(k_{F}) \to \mathcal{T}_{f, \operatorname{ad}}(k_{F}))).$$

This embedding is natural, and is in particular $W(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ -equivariant. One can easily see that the action of $W(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ on $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ lifts to the action of $W(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T})$ on \mathcal{T} , which adjusts \mathcal{T} by elements of $\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F_s^{\times}$ for a separable closure F_s of F. Thus the action of $W(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ on $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}, \mathrm{ad}}$ only adjusts $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}, \mathrm{ad}}(k_F)$ by elements of

$$(2.17) \qquad (\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{G},\mathcal{T}) \cap X_*(\mathcal{T}_{f,ad}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \overline{k}_F)^{\operatorname{Frob}},$$

where Frob denotes the Frobenius automorphism of $\overline{k_F}/k_F$. Since $\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T}) \cap X_*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}, \mathrm{ad}})$ is contained in $X_*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$, all elements of (2.17) come from $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$. Hence $W(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ acts trivially on $\mathrm{coker}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}, \mathrm{ad}}(k_F))$. Via the embedding (2.16), the conjugation action of $W(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ on $W(\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is trivial.

Now we study the structure of $W(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T})(F)$ in greater detail.

Lemma 2.6. (a) We have $W(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T})(F) = W(N_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{T})(F)$.

In the following, assume moreover that $\mathcal{G}(F)$ is quasi-split. Recall that \mathfrak{f}_L is the facet in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L},F)$ containing \mathfrak{f} .

- (b) By replacing \mathcal{T} within its stable conjugacy class for \mathcal{L} , we can achieve that there exists a point $y \in \mathfrak{f}_L$ whose image in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{ad}, F)$ is a special vertex.
- (c) Let \mathcal{G}_y° be the connected reductive k_F -group associated to the facet y of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{ad}, F)$, and define \mathcal{L}_y° analogously. We have

$$W(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T})(F) \cong W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F) \cong W(N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F).$$

- *Proof.* (a) As already noted in (2.2), we have $\mathcal{L} = Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_s)$, where \mathcal{T}_s denotes the maximal F-split subtorus of \mathcal{T} . Every element $w \in W(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T})(F)$ normalizes \mathcal{T}_s , thus also normalizes \mathcal{L} . Hence $w \in W(N_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{T})(F)$.
- (b) By [Kal2, Lemma 3.4.12], we can achieve (by changing \mathcal{T} within its stable conjugacy class) that the image of \mathfrak{f}_L in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{ad}},F)$ is a special vertex. Thus for every $y_L \in \mathfrak{f}_L$, the root system $R(\mathcal{L}_{y_L}^{\circ}(k_F),\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F))$ equals $R(\mathcal{L}(F),\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(F))$. Take a basis $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ of $R(\mathcal{L}(F),\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(F))$, and extend it to a basis Δ of $R(\mathcal{G}(F),\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(F))$. By the linear independence of $\Delta \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ in the character lattice of $Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}$, for every $\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$, we can translate y_L by an element $t \in X_*(Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, such that $y := y_L + t$ lies in a wall of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G},F)$ in the direction α . Then y is special.
- (c) Part (b) implies the first isomorphism of Weyl groups. The second isomorphism follows from this and part (a). (One can also rephrase the proof of part (a) so that it applies to the k_F -group \mathcal{G}_u° .)

We warn the reader that the k_F -group \mathcal{G}_y° from Lemma 2.6 is in general bigger than $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$. Via the isomorphism $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) \cong X_*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\operatorname{Frob}_F}$ from [DeLu, (5.2.3)], we can view $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ as a character of $X_*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$. The values of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ belong to group of roots of unity in \mathbb{C}^{\times} , which is isomorphic to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} . Hence $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ can also be viewed as an element of

 $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$, where $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ denotes the character lattice of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. Then the action of $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ on $X_*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ (or the action on $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$) gives rise to a k_F -group $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$, satisfying $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}(k_F) = W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. From [DeLu, p. 131], one can deduce the following about the structure of $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$:

- (i) It has a normal subgroup $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\circ}$, generated by the reflections whose coroot in $X_*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is orthogonal to $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$. It is equal to the $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ -stabilizer of an extension of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ to a group in which $\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}(k_F)$ is "regularly embedded" in the sense of [GeMa, §1.7].
- (ii) It admits a decomposition $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} = W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\circ} \times \Gamma$, where Γ is the stabilizer of a set of positive roots for the Weyl group $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\circ}$.
- (iii) There exists a point $\tilde{\theta}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ in the fundamental alcove for the action of the affine Weyl group of $R(\mathcal{G}_{u}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ on $X^{*}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$, such that

$$(2.18) W(\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{f})_{\theta_{f}} \cong (W(\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{f}) \ltimes X^{*}(\mathcal{T}_{f}))_{\tilde{\theta}_{f}}.$$

(iv) The previous item implies that $\Gamma \cong W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}/W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\circ}$ is isomorphic to a subgroup of $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})/\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$.

By part (iv) the group Γ tends to be very small, provided that \mathcal{G}_y° is semisimple. We will use that later, to analyse $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{f}})_{\theta_{\mathbf{f}}}$.

We also have a version of Lemma 2.5 in this context.

Lemma 2.7. Assume that we are in the setting of Lemma 2.6.b-c. The group $W(\mathcal{L}_{v}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is central in $W(N_{\mathcal{G}_{v}^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{v}^{\circ}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$.

Proof. By the non-singularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$, the intersection of $W(\mathcal{L}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ and $W(\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\circ}$ is trivial. Thus (iv) above provides an embedding

$$(2.19) W(\mathcal{L}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \hookrightarrow X^{*}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})/\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}).$$

The construction of this embedding via (iii) shows that it is $W(N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ equivariant. Since a reflection $s_{\alpha} \in W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ translates every element of $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ by a multiple of α , the action of $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ on $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ only adjusts the latter by elements of $\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$. In particular, the action of $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ on (2.19) is trivial. \square

2.1. Embeddings of tori and extensions.

Given the F-torus \mathcal{T} , there are various ways to embed it in a rigid inner twist of \mathcal{L} . Starting from one embedding one obtains first a stable conjugacy class of embeddings, and next by composition with inner twists a larger collection of embeddings, which are then called admissible. We fix a finite central F-subgroup \mathcal{Z} of \mathcal{L} . The equivalence classes of such admissible embeddings j can be parametrized by a cohomology set $H^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{T})$ [Kal3, §4.4] and [Dil, §3]. Here the symbol \mathcal{E} denotes a certain gerbe whose precise definition is not important to us. This parametrization requires the choice of a standard admissible embedding of F-groups $j_0: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}^{\flat}$, such that \mathcal{L}^{\flat} is a quasi-split rigid inner twist of \mathcal{L} and $j_0\mathcal{T}(F)$ fixes an absolutely special point in the reduced Bruhat–Tits building of \mathcal{L}^{\flat} over F.

We now compare Weyl groups associated to different admissible embeddings. Any two such admissible embeddings, say $j: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}$ and $j': \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}'$, correspond to the same conjugacy class of embeddings of Langlands dual groups. In fact that is another characterization of our class of admissible embeddings [Kal2, §5.1]. Hence

(2.20)
$$W(\mathcal{L}, j\mathcal{T})(F) \cong W(\mathcal{L}', j'\mathcal{T})(F).$$

Let \mathcal{G}' be a rigid inner twist of \mathcal{G} containing \mathcal{L}' as an F-Levi subgroup. By [ABPS, Proposition 3.1], W(G, L) is naturally isomorphic to W(G', L'). Similar to (2.20),

$$W(G,L)_{(jT,\theta)} \cong W(\mathcal{G},\mathcal{L})(F)_{(jT,\theta)} \cong W(\mathcal{G}',\mathcal{L}')(F)_{(j'T,\theta)} \cong W(G',L')_{(j'T,\theta)}.$$

We fix j_0 as above, and we abbreviate $j_0 \mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}^{\flat}$, $j_0 \mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}^{\flat}$. The character $\theta \circ j_0^{-1}$ of \mathcal{T}^{\flat} will still be denoted θ . By [Kal3, §4.5], there is an isomorphism

$$(2.21) W(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat}) \cong W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F).$$

We warn the reader that this need not hold for another embedding j. It turns out that (2.21) can be generalized to a setting with \mathcal{G} . Let \mathcal{G}^{\flat} be a rigid inner twist of \mathcal{G} containing \mathcal{L}^{\flat} as an F-Levi subgroup, thus in particular \mathcal{G}^{\flat} is quasi-split.

Lemma 2.8. There is a natural isomorphism $W(N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}), T^{\flat}) \cong W(N_{G^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)$.

Proof. First we note the following isomorphisms

$$(2.22) W(N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}), T^{\flat})/W(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat}) \cong N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})/N_{L^{\flat}}(T^{\flat}) \cong W(G^{\flat}, L^{\flat})_{T^{\flat}},$$

where the subscript T^{\flat} means that the L^{\flat} -conjugacy class of T^{\flat} is stabilized. Since L^{\flat} is quasi-split, the natural maps

$$(2.23) N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}) \to W(G^{\flat}, L^{\flat}) \to (N_{G^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat})/\mathcal{L}^{\flat})(F) = W(\mathcal{G}^{\flat}, \mathcal{L}^{\flat})^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$$

are surjective. Hence (2.22) is equal to $W(\mathcal{G}^{\flat}, \mathcal{L}^{\flat})(F)_{T^{\flat}}$. Clearly, any element of this group also stabilizes the \mathcal{L}^{\flat} -conjugacy class of \mathcal{T}^{\flat} . On the other hand, if an element of $W(\mathcal{G}^{\flat}, \mathcal{L}^{\flat})$ stabilizes the \mathcal{L}^{\flat} -conjugacy class of \mathcal{T}^{\flat} , then a suitable representative of that element normalizes T^{\flat} . Therefore (2.22) is naturally isomorphic to

$$(2.24) W(\mathcal{G}^{\flat}, \mathcal{L}^{\flat})_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat}}(F) \cong (W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})/W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat}))(F),$$

which has a subgroup $W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)/W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)$. The natural isomorphism from the left hand side of (2.22) to the right hand side of (2.24) factors through (2.24), thus this subgroup is equal to (2.24). Combined with (2.21), it implies that the natural map $W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat}) \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)$ is an isomorphism. \square

We now consider the case of an embedding $j: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}$ admissible in the sense of [Kal3, § 4.4], such that \mathcal{L} is not necessarily quasi-split. Suppose j corresponds to

(2.25)
$$[x] = \operatorname{inv}(j, j_0) \in H^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{T}).$$

Then x defines a form of $N_{\mathcal{C}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{T}^{\flat})$, with the property that

$$(2.26) W(L,jT) \cong W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})_x(F) = W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x]}.$$

Similar to [Kal3, §4.5], we construct the extension

$$(2.27) 1 \to T \to N_L(jT)_{\theta} = N_{\mathcal{L}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{T}^{\flat})_x(F) \to W(L, jT)_{\theta} \to 1.$$

By (2.26) and pushout along θ , we obtain a central extension

$$(2.28) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta} \to 1.$$

The set $\operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id})$ of irreducible representations of $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ on which \mathbb{C}^{\times} acts as $z \mapsto z$ is naturally in bijection with $\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(jT)_{\theta}, \theta)$. Via (2.20) and Proposition 2.2, it matches with $\Pi(L, jT, \theta)$. We can rephrase (2.28) as $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]} = N_L(jT)_{\theta} \times_{jT,\theta} \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. For $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)$, the bijection

$$N_L(jT)_{\chi\otimes\theta} \times_{jT,\chi\otimes\theta} \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to N_L(jT)_{\theta} \times_{jT,\theta} \mathbb{C}^{\times} : (n,c) \mapsto (n,\chi(n)c)$$

induces a canonical isomorphism of extensions

In this way the extensions $\mathcal{E}_{\theta'}^{[x]}$ for varying $\theta' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L) \otimes \theta$ are naturally isomorphic. The conjugation action of $N_G(L,jT)$ on (2.26) descends to an action of $N_G(L,jT)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$ on (2.27). The quotient

$$(2.30) \quad N_G(L,jT)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}/jT = W(N_G(L),jT)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta} \cong$$

$$W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})_x(F)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta} \cong W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$$

acts on the family of extensions (2.28), with $g \in N_G(L, jT)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$ sending $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ to $\mathcal{E}_{g\cdot\theta}^{[x]}$. Only the subgroup $W(N_G(L), jT)_{\theta} \cong W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\theta}$ stabilizes $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ and $\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(jT)_{\theta}, \theta) \cong \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id})$. Consider now the extension

$$(2.31) 1 \to T \to N_{L^{\flat}}(T^{\flat})_{\theta} \to W(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta} = W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta} \to 1,$$

which gives the following central extension via pushout along θ :

$$(2.32) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{0} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta} \to 1.$$

The extensions $\mathcal{E}^0_{\theta'}$, for varying $\theta' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L) \otimes \theta$, are naturally identified by a variation on (2.29). The group $N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$ acts on (2.31). Its subgroup $N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta}$ also acts on (2.32), and that action factors through $W(N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}), T^{\flat})_{\theta}$. This gives an action of $N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta}$ on

$$\operatorname{Irr}(N_{L^{\flat}}(T^{\flat})_{\theta}, \theta) \cong \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{0}, \operatorname{id}),$$

which by Lemma 2.4 (a) factors through $N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta}/N_{L^{\flat}}(T^{\flat})_{\theta} \cong W(G^{\flat}, L^{\flat})_{(T^{\flat}, \theta)}$. Pulling back (2.31) and (2.32) along $W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta}$ gives

$$(2.33) 1 \to T \to N_{L^{\flat}}(T^{\flat})_{[x],\theta} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\theta} \to 1$$

$$(2.34) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{0,[x]} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\theta} \to 1.$$

In general, $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{0,[x]}$ is not isomorphic to $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$, and the difference can be measured by yet another extension, i.e. similar to [Kal5, §8.1], we consider

$$(2.35) 1 \to T \to (\mathcal{T}^{\flat} \rtimes W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat}))_{x}(F)_{\theta} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta} \to 1,$$

where x determines a form of the algebraic group $\mathcal{T}^{\flat} \rtimes W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})$. By pushout along θ , we produce a central extension

$$(2.36) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{\times[x]} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\theta} \to 1.$$

Reasoning as in (2.28) and (2.32), the extensions $\mathcal{E}_{\theta'}^{\kappa[x]}$ with $\theta' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L) \otimes \theta$ are naturally identified, and this family of extensions is endowed with a conjugation action of $W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$.

Lemma 2.9. (a) The extension (2.27) is the Baer sum of the extensions (2.33) and (2.35).

(b) The extension (2.28) is the Baer sum of (2.34) and (2.36), as extensions of $W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\theta}$ -groups.

Proof. (a) In the proof of [Kal5, Proposition 8.2], setwise splittings of (2.33) and (2.35) are chosen. A setwise splitting of (2.27) can then be obtained essentially as the product of these two splittings. It follows that the 2-cocycle classifying (2.27) is the sum of the 2-cocycles classifying (2.33) and (2.35), which means that (2.27) is isomorphic to the Baer sum of the other two extensions.

(b) As the difference between the extensions in part (a) and those in part (b) is given by pushout along θ in all three cases, the isomorphism here is a direct consequence of part (a). The construction of this Baer sum takes place in the category of groups with an action of $W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\theta}$, with the actions given above of this lemma.

Lemma 2.9, combined with the next proposition, shows that $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{\times [x]}$ as $W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x],\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta}$ -groups.

Proposition 2.10. The family of extensions $\mathcal{E}^0_{\theta'}$, with $\theta' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L) \otimes \theta$, admits an $N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}$ -equivariant splitting. In particular, $\theta \in \operatorname{Irr}(T^{\flat})$ extends to a $W(G^{\flat}, L^{\flat})_{(T^{\flat}, \theta)}$ -stable character of $N_{L^{\flat}}(T^{\flat})_{\theta}$.

Proof. First we reduce to the case of finite reductive groups. Let $P_y^{\flat} \subset G^{\flat}$ be the parahoric subgroup associated to the special vertex y from Lemma 2.6 (b). Similar to the extension (2.31), we consider the extension

$$(2.37) 1 \to P_{y}^{\flat} \cap T^{\flat} \to P_{y}^{\flat} \cap N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}), T^{\flat})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1.$$

By Lemma 2.6 (c), pullback of (2.37) along $W(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta} \to W(N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}), T^{\flat})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$, followed by pushout along $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}: P_y \cap T^{\flat} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, recovers the extension (2.32). Since $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ has depth zero, the pushout of (2.37) along $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ can also be obtained from

$$(2.38) 1 \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathsf{f}}(k_F) \to N_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathsf{u}}^{\diamond}}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{u}}^{\diamond}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathsf{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathsf{f}}} \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathsf{u}}^{\diamond}}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathsf{u}}^{\diamond}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathsf{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathsf{f}}} \to 1.$$

The image of $W(N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}), T^{\flat})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ in $W(\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_{F})$ is contained in $W(N_{\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y}^{\circ}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_{F})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. If we can establish a $W(\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_{F})$ -equivariant splitting of (2.38), then we can extend it $W(N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}), T^{\flat})_{\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ -equivariantly to the versions of (2.38) for other $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$.

Thus it suffices to construct an $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ -equivariant setwise splitting of

$$(2.39) 1 \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) \to N_{\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1,$$

which becomes a group homomorphism in the following pushout along $\theta_{\rm f}$:

$$(2.40) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}^{0}_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{\circ}_{y}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_{F})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1.$$

The existence of such a splitting was shown in [Kal3, Lemma 4.5.6 and Corollary 4.5.7]; it remains to prove its $N_{\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_{F})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ -equivariance.

We denote the derived group of \mathcal{G} by \mathcal{G}_{der} , and its simply connected cover by \mathcal{G}_{sc} . For disconnected algebraic groups, we define the derived and simply connected analogues by first passing to the neutral component of the group. Let $\mathcal{T}_{f,c}$ be the preimage of \mathcal{T}_f in $\mathcal{G}_{y,sc}$. Then θ_f can be pulled back to a character $\theta_{f,c}$ of $\mathcal{T}_{f,c}(k_F)$. The preimage $\mathcal{L}_{y,c}$ of \mathcal{L}_y° in $\mathcal{G}_{y,sc}$ is a Levi subgroup of the latter, so the derived subgroup of $\mathcal{L}_{y,c}$ is simply connected and we denote it by $\mathcal{L}_{y,sc}$. We write $\mathcal{T}_{f,sc} = \mathcal{T}_{f,c} \cap$

 $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{sc}}$. By pushout along $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},c}:\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},c}(k_F)\to\mathbb{C}^{\times}$ and pullback along $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}\to W(\mathcal{L}_{y,c},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},c})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},c}}$ of the extension

$$(2.41) 1 \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},c}(k_F) \to N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,c}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},c})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},c}} \to W(\mathcal{L}_{y,c},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},c})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},c}} \to 1,$$

one can obtain (2.40). The group $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_f)(k_F)_{\theta_f}$ still acts by conjugation on (2.41), and we need to keep track of equivariance for that action. This may be replaced by the conjugation action of $N_{\mathcal{G}_{y,\text{sc}}}(\mathcal{L}_{f,c}, \mathcal{T}_{f,c})(k_F)_{\theta_{f,c}}$, because the latter group has a larger image in $\mathcal{G}_{y,\text{der}}(k_F)$. Therefore we may assume without loss of generality that \mathcal{G}_y° is simply connected. Then (2.38) decomposes as a direct product of the analogous extensions for the k_F -simple factors of \mathcal{G}_y° , thus we may assume without loss of generality that \mathcal{G}_y° is in addition k_F -simple. By passing to a finite field extension of k_F , we can make \mathcal{G}_y° absolutely simple.

From now on, we assume that \mathcal{G}_y° is absolutely simple and simply connected. By Lemma 2.5, $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ commutes with $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}/\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ in the group $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)$. Choose a pinning of \mathcal{G}_y° , associated to a maximal torus of \mathcal{L}_y° and stable under the action of Frob used to define \mathcal{G}_y° as k_F -group. Then the Levi subgroup \mathcal{L}_y° is Frob-stable, and Frob stabilizes the pinning of \mathcal{L}_y° obtained by restriction from \mathcal{G}_y° . We can write $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}) = \mathcal{L}_y^{\circ} \rtimes \Gamma$, where Γ is a finite group of pinning-preserving automorphisms of \mathcal{L}_y° . For $\gamma \in \Gamma \subset N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})$, the element Frob γ Frob⁻¹ preserves the pinning and thus again lies in Γ . In other words, Frob acts on the subgroup Γ of $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})$, and that action coincides with the Frob-action on $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})/\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ} \cong \Gamma$. This implies

$$N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})(k_F) = N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\operatorname{Frob}} = (\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ} \rtimes \Gamma)^{\operatorname{Frob}} = \mathcal{L}_y^{\circ,\operatorname{Frob}} \rtimes \Gamma^{\operatorname{Frob}} = \mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}(k_F) \rtimes \Gamma^{\operatorname{Frob}}.$$

Let $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ be an almost direct factor of \mathcal{L}_y° , coming from one $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})(k_F) \times \langle \operatorname{Frob} \rangle$ orbit of simple factors of \mathcal{L}_y° . The group $\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ} = \mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{sc}}$ is simply connected, thus is
equal to the direct product of these $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$'s. The group \mathcal{L}_y° is an almost direct product
of $\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ}$ and $Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ}$. For each i, let Γ_i be the image of Γ in the automorphism group
of $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$. We write $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+ := \mathcal{L}_{y,i} \times \Gamma_i$. Similarly, we can define $\Gamma_Z \subset \operatorname{Aut}(Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})^{\circ})$ and write

$$Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\mathrm{der}}^{\circ})^+ := Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\mathrm{der}}^{\circ})^{\circ} \rtimes \Gamma_Z.$$

Then there is a natural embedding

$$(2.42) W(N_{\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y}^{\circ}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}) \hookrightarrow W(Z_{\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y, \text{der}}^{\circ})^{+}, Z(\mathcal{L}_{y}^{\circ})^{\circ}) \times \prod_{i} W(\mathcal{L}_{y, i}^{+}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}, i}),$$

where $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i} := \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cap \mathcal{L}_{y,i}$. We define $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ as the image of $W(N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ under (2.42) followed by projection onto the *i*-th coordinate. This group satisfies

$$(2.43) W(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \subset W(\mathcal{L}_{u,i}^{+},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \subset W(\mathcal{L}_{u,i}^{+},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}},$$

where $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i} := \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}|_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}(k_F)}$. In general, both of the above inclusions can be proper. The upshot of the construction is that Lemma 2.7 still applies. For every i, we can construct an extension similar to (2.38) as follows:

$$(2.44) 1 \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}(k_F) \to N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+,\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1,$$

where the subscript θ_{f} is defined as above and it guarantees the exactness of the above sequence (2.44). The extension (2.40) can be recovered from the extensions

(2.44) for all *i*. Since the action of $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ still shows up in (2.40), it suffices to construct splittings of

$$(2.45) 1 \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}(k_F) \to N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1,$$

which are invariant for the conjugation action of $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ and become group homomorphisms in the following pushout along $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$:

$$(2.46) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}^{0}_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}} \to W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1.$$

The existence of such a splitting was shown in [Kal3, Lemma 4.5.6 and Corollary 4.5.7]; it remains to show the invariance. The $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ -invariants in the pushout of (2.45) are canonically isomorphic to the invariants in the version of (2.45) for one k_F -simple factor of $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ except with invariants under a subgroup of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. Therefore we may assume without loss of generality that in (2.45), $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is k_F -simple and simply connected.

Furthermore, $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is the scalar restriction of a simple group $\mathcal{L}'_{y,i}$ over a field extension k' of k_F . We may replace without loss of generality k_F by k' and $L_{y,i}$ by $\mathcal{L}'_{y,i}$. Thus we can reduce to the case where $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is absolutely simple and simply connected. Lemma 2.7 still applies, and shows that

(2.47)
$$W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{f,i})(k_F)_{\theta_f}$$
 is central in $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{f,i})(k_F)_{\theta_f}$.

Since $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is a Weyl group containing $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$, and $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}/\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ normalizes $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$, the actions of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ on (2.45) and (2.46) are constructed from:

- conjugation by elements of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F);$
- for each Dynkin diagram automorphism $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$, at most one coset of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)$.

We now check case-by-case.

Case I. $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ acts on $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ as conjugation by elements of $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$. This holds whenever $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ has type A_1,B_n,C_n,E_7,E_8,F_4 or G_2 , because then the only Dynkin diagram automorphism is the identity. Then the action of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ can be viewed as coming from elements of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. Hence any splitting of (2.46), as in [Kal3, §4.5], is $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ -invariant.

Case II. $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$ has type E_6 .

If $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is trivial, there is nothing to prove. Otherwise, we have $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \cong \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$. However, its image in the automorphism group of the affine Dynkin diagram of $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$ does not commute with the nontrivial diagram automorphism τ of E_6 , thus by (2.47), τ does not play a role in the picture. We conclude as in Case I.

Case III. $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$ has type A_{n-1} with n > 2.

If $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is an outer form of a split group, then $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})^{\operatorname{Frob}}$ becomes a Weyl group of type B_{n-1} or C_{n-1} . The associated root system does not admit nontrivial diagram automorphisms, thus we reduce back to case I. Therefore we may assume without loss of generality that $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is split, and thus it is isomorphic to SL_n . By a change

of coordinates for SL_n , we may assume without loss of generality that $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ is the diagonal torus in $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$, with Frob-action given by the q_F -th power map composed with conjugation by an elliptic element $F_A \in W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$. With respect to these coordinates, this is also how Frob acts on SL_n . Since elliptic elements in S_n are n-cycles, we may assume that $F_A = (12...n)$. Note that $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ splits over the degree n extension k' of k_F

By (2.18), one can classify the possibilities for $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ in terms of points of a fundamental alcove. The non-singularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and (2.18) force that $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is either trivial or comes from the barycentre of an alcove, in which case we have

$$W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}} = \langle (1 \, 2 \dots n) \rangle.$$

More precisely, $\operatorname{GL}_1(k')$ admits an order n character represented by $\zeta_n \in k'$, and $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ can be represented by $\operatorname{diag}(1,\zeta_n,\ldots,\zeta_n^{-1}) \in \operatorname{PGL}_n(k')$. However, $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}}$ does not commute with the nontrivial diagram automorphism τ of S_n ; from their actions on the affine Dynkin diagram of type A_{n-1} , we see that τ acts by inversion. By (2.47), $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ can only contain elements of $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}}$ of order ≤ 2 . If $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is trivial, then there is nothing to show; thus we may assume that n is even and that $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} = \langle (12\ldots n)^{n/2} \rangle$. The group $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+ := \mathcal{L}_{y,i} \rtimes \Gamma$ is equal to $\operatorname{SL}_n \rtimes \langle -\top \rangle$, where $-\top$ denotes the inverse transpose automorphism, because the nontrivial element of Γ acts by $-\top$ composed with conjugation by an element of SL_n (because n is even). One can check that $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} = \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle \cong (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^2$, where $w_1 = (12\ldots n)^{n/2}$ and $w_2 = -\top \circ (2n)(3n-1)\cdots (n/2n/2+2)$. However, the element w_2 does not commute with Frob in $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$. Hence we have

$$N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} = N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}.$$

Case IV. $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$ has type D_n with n > 4.

Now $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}}$ embeds in $\mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z}$ (for n odd) or in $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ (for n even). If we are not in Case I, the action of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}}$ on the Dynkin diagram D_n uses the nontrivial automorphism ϵ_n . We realize $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ as a spin group on a vector space of dimension 2n, and $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ as the diagonal torus. Then ϵ_n becomes the reflection in the n-th coordinate of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$. It only fixes one nontrivial element of $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})/\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$, thus $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}}$ has order two.

Again by (2.18), we have a classification of the possible $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ via points in a fundamental alcove. Via conjugation, we can reduce to the following situation: the character $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}(k_F)$ has trivial restriction to the first coordinate and quadratic restriction to the n-th coordinate, while the restrictions to the other coordinates (as well as their inverses) differ and have higher order. Then $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}} = \langle \epsilon_1, \epsilon_n \rangle$ and $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}} = \langle \epsilon_1 \epsilon_n \rangle$. Recall that (2.45) has a splitting, say it sends $\epsilon_1 \epsilon_n$ to $s_1 s_n$ with $s_1, s_n \in \mathcal{L}_{y,i}(k_F)$ representing reflections in these coordinates and $s_1^2 = s_n^{-2} \in Z(\mathcal{L}_{y,i})(k_F)$. Then ϵ_n acts as conjugation by s_n on \mathcal{L}_y° , and fixes $s_1 s_n$.

Case V. $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})$ has type D_4 .

In the automorphism group of the affine Dynkin diagram of D_4 , the order-three automorphisms of D_4 do not commute with (the image of) any nontrivial element of $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}} \subset \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. If the action of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}}$ on the Dynkin diagram D_4 includes such exceptional automorphism, then $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is trivial and there is nothing to show. Otherwise either we are in Case I, or the action of

 $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}}$ uses exactly one nontrivial diagram automorphism ψ , of order two. But ψ is conjugate to the standard Dynkin diagram automorphism ϵ_n by another diagram automorphism τ of D_4 . Conjugating everything by this τ brings us back to Case IV, which works just as well for n=4 with these simplifications. \square

3. Supercuspidal L-parameters of depth zero

3.1. Preliminaries.

Let $G^{\vee} = \mathcal{G}^{\vee}(\mathbb{C})$ be the complex dual group of G, endowed with an action of the Weil group $\mathbf{W}_F \subset \operatorname{Gal}(F_s/F)$ that stabilizes a pinning. The Langlands dual group of G is ${}^LG = {}^L\mathcal{G} := G^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F$. Consider Langlands parameters

$$\varphi: \mathbf{W}_F \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to {}^L G = G^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F,$$

such that $\varphi|_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})}: \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to G^\vee$ is an algebraic homomorphism, $\varphi|_{\mathbf{W}_F}$ is a continuous homomorphism preserving the projections onto \mathbf{W}_F , and $\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F)$ consists of semisimple elements. Let $\mathbf{P}_F \subset \mathbf{I}_F \subset \mathbf{W}_F$ be the wild inertia and inertia subgroups of \mathbf{W}_F . Let Frob_F be a geometric Frobenius element of \mathbf{W}_F . A Langlands parameter has depth zero if $\varphi(w) = w$ for all $w \in \mathbf{P}_F$. For any $w \in \mathbf{W}_F$ and $x \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$, we write $\varphi(w,x) = \varphi(x)\varphi_0(w)w$, where $\varphi_0: \mathbf{W}_F \to G^\vee$ is a 1-cocycle. Since \mathbf{P}_F is normal in \mathbf{W}_F , we have

$$wpw^{-1} = \varphi(wpw^{-1}) = \varphi(w)\varphi(p)\varphi(w)^{-1} = \varphi_0(w)wpw^{-1}\varphi_0(w)^{-1}$$

for any depth-zero L-parameter φ . Since wpw^{-1} runs through all of \mathbf{P}_F , we have $\varphi_0(w) \in Z_{G^\vee}(\mathbf{P}_F)$ for all $w \in \mathbf{W}_F$. Since $\varphi(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}))$ commutes with $\varphi(\mathbf{P}_F) = \mathbf{P}_F$, it lies in $Z_{G^\vee}(\mathbf{P}_F)$ as well. Therefore, any depth-zero Langlands parameter φ gives rise to a 1-cocycle. $\varphi_0 : \mathbf{W}_F/\mathbf{P}_F \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to Z_{G^\vee}(\mathbf{P}_F)$.

We abbreviate $M^{\vee} := Z_{G^{\vee}}(\mathbf{P}_F)$. This group is reductive (because \mathbf{P}_F acts on G^{\vee} via a finite quotient) but not necessarily connected. Although L-parameters are usually considered up to G^{\vee} -conjugacy, our depth-zero condition is not preserved under G^{\vee} -conjugation, therefore we need to make some adjustments. We denote the set of M^{\vee} -conjugacy classes of depth-zero L-parameters for G by $\Phi^0(G)$, which injects into the set $\varphi(G)$ of G^{\vee} -conjugacy classes of L-parameters for G.

Consider G as a rigid inner twist of its quasi-split inner form G^{\flat} , with respect to a chosen finite subgroup $\mathcal{Z} \subset Z(\mathcal{G})$ as in [Kal1, Dil]. More precisely, this means that G is equipped with more information, which can be packaged into a character ζ_G of a certain group $\pi_0(Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^+)$. Here $\bar{\mathcal{G}} := \mathcal{G}/\mathcal{Z}$ has complex dual group \bar{G}^{\vee} , and $Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^+$ is the preimage of $Z(G^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ in $Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})$. The group \bar{G}^{\vee} is a central extension of G^{\vee} , which gives rise to a conjugation action on $G^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F$. Its associated version of the centralizer of φ is

$$S_{\varphi}^+ := Z_{\bar{G}^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}))) = \text{ preimage of } Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi) \text{ in } \bar{G}^{\vee}.$$

An enhancement of φ is an irreducible representation ρ of $\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+)$, and it is called Grelevant if $\rho|_{Z(\bar{G}^\vee)^+}$ is ζ_G -isotypic. The group \bar{G}^\vee acts naturally on the set of enhanced L-parameters for G, and this action factors through G^\vee . The group $M^\vee := Z_{G^\vee}(\mathbf{P}_F)$ does the same if we restrict to depth-zero enhanced L-parameters. Let $\Phi_e^0(G)$ be the set of M^\vee -orbits of G-relevant enhanced depth-zero L-parameters. It is a subset of the set $\Phi_e(G)$ of G^\vee -orbits of G-relevant enhanced L-parameters.

A Langlands parameter φ is called *supercuspidal* if it is discrete and trivial on $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$. It is expected that this condition should be equivalent to the L-packet Π_{φ}

consisting entirely of supercuspidal representations (of various inner twists of G). This expectation is a special case of [AMS1, Conjecture 7.8].

Lemma 3.1. Every supercuspidal depth-zero L-parameter for G gives rise to the following objects, which are canonical up to M^{\vee} -conjugacy:

- an L-group LT with an embedding ${}^Lj: {}^LT \to {}^LG$, such that ${}^Lj(T^{\vee})$ is a maximal torus of G^{\vee} and ${}^Lj(\mathbf{P}_F)$ equals $\mathbf{P}_F \subset {}^LG$;
- an F-torus \mathcal{T} and a non-singular depth-zero character θ of T, such that $\mathcal{T}/Z(\mathcal{G})$ is elliptic and φ is equal to the composition of Lj with the L-parameter of θ .

Proof. Consider a depth-zero supercuspidal L-parameter φ for G. By [Kal3, Lemma 4.1.3.2], $Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F))^{\circ}$ is a torus. (The torally wild assumption in [Kal3] is not needed in the proof.) Note that $Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F)) \subset M^{\vee}$ because $\varphi(\mathbf{P}_F) = \mathbf{P}_F$. By the proof of [Kal2, Lemma 5.2.2.2], we have that $T_M^{\vee} := Z_{M^{\vee,\circ}}(Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F))^{\circ})$ is a maximal torus of M^{\vee} , normalized by $\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F)$ and contained in a Borel subgroup of M^{\vee} normalized by $\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F)$. Upon conjugating φ by a suitable element of M^{\vee} , we may assume without loss of generality that T_M^{\vee} is contained in a \mathbf{W}_F -stable Borel subgroup of M^{\vee} , s.t.

$$(3.1) \varphi(\mathbf{W}_F) \subset N_{M^{\vee}}(T_M^{\vee}) \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F.$$

Now, $\operatorname{Ad}(\varphi)$ gives an action of $\mathbf{W}_F/\mathbf{P}_F$ on T_M^\vee , and the F-torus \mathcal{T}_M dual to T_M^\vee (with this \mathbf{W}_F -action) is tamely ramified. Since φ is discrete, $Z_{T_M^\vee}(\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F))/Z(G^\vee)^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ is finite and $\mathcal{T}_M/Z(\mathcal{G})$ is elliptic. By [Kal3, Remark 4.1.5], there exist canonical tamely ramified χ -data for $R(M^\vee, T_M^\vee)$. As in [LaSh] and [Kal4, §6.1], these χ -data yield an embedding ${}^LT_M/\mathbf{P}_F \hookrightarrow M^\vee \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F/\mathbf{P}_F$, whose M^\vee -conjugacy class is canonical. It inflates to an L-embedding

$$(3.2) ^{L}j_{M}: {}^{L}T_{M} \hookrightarrow M^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_{F} \subset {}^{L}G,$$

such that ${}^{L}j_{M}(\mathbf{W}_{F})$ stabilizes a pinning of M^{\vee} . By [Kal3, Lemma 4.1.11], we may assume that

(3.3)
$${}^{L}j_{M}(1,x) = (1,x) \text{ for all } x \in \mathbf{I}_{F}.$$

For any embedding $j_M: \mathcal{T}_M \to \mathcal{G}$ whose dual L-homomorphism is $(G^{\vee}$ -conjugate to) $^L j_M$, we have

(3.4)
$$j_M(T_M)$$
 is a maximal tamely ramified torus of G .

In particular, $Z_{\mathcal{G}}(j_M(\mathcal{T}_M))$ is a maximal F-torus of \mathcal{G} . Hence $T^{\vee} := Z_{G^{\vee}}(T_M^{\vee})$ is a maximal torus of G^{\vee} , and it is stable under $\mathrm{Ad}(^L j_M(^L T_M))$ -action because T_M^{\vee} is. We denote $^L j_M$ with target $^L G$ by $^L j$. Then

$$^{L}T := T^{\vee} \rtimes ^{L}j(\mathbf{W}_{F})$$

is the L-group of an F-torus \mathcal{T} . Since φ is discrete, $Z_{T^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F))/Z(G^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ is finite and $\mathcal{T}/Z(\mathcal{G})$ is elliptic.

Note that ${}^L j(\mathbf{W}_F)$ normalizes a Borel subgroup of G^{\vee} , i.e. the group generated by $T^{\vee} = Z_{G^{\vee}}(T_M^{\vee})$ and the root subgroups $U_{\alpha^{\vee}}$ for $\alpha^{\vee} \in R(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$ such that $\alpha^{\vee}|_{T_M^{\vee}}$ is positive with respect to the ${}^L j_M(\mathbf{W}_F)$ -stable Borel subgroup of M^{\vee} from (3.1). The same arguments as for ${}^L j_M$ ensure that ${}^L j(\mathbf{W}_F)$ stabilizes a pinning of G^{\vee} .

By construction, φ factors as $^L j_M \circ \varphi_{T_M}$, where $\varphi_{T_M} : \mathbf{W}_F \to {}^L T_M$. Via the LLC for tori [Lan2, Yu], φ_{T_M} yields a character θ_{T_M} of T_M . The LLC for tori preserves depth zero [SoXu, Proposition 1.3], so θ_{T_M} has depth zero. We can also write that

 φ factors as ${}^L j \circ \varphi_T$, where $\varphi_T \in \Phi^0(T)$. Then φ_T determines a depth-zero character θ of T that extends θ_{T_M} . Since $Z_{G^\vee}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F))^\circ$ is a torus, by [Kal3, Lemma 4.1.10], θ_{T_M} is F-nonsingular. By (3.4), this implies that θ is F-nonsingular as well. More precisely, for any embedding $j: T \to G$ associated to ${}^L j$, we see that θ determines a non-singular depth-zero character $j_*\theta$ of j(T).

Note that from the data $(T, {}^{L}j, \theta)$ in Lemma 3.1, we can recover $\varphi = {}^{L}j \circ \varphi_{T}$. The following result was established in arbitrary depth by Kaletha, we formulate it explicitly here because in depth zero fewer assumptions are necessary.

Lemma 3.2. There is a canonical bijection between the supercuspidal part of $\Phi^0(G)$ and M^{\vee} -conjugacy classes of data $(T, {}^L j, \theta)$ as in Lemma 3.1.

Proof. The argument for bijectivity is given in [Kal1, Proposition 5.2.7] and [Kal3, Proposition 4.1.8]. With Lemma 3.1 at hand can apply these proofs in the special case of depth-zero L-parameters, then the tame ramification assumption on T and G in [Kal1, Kal3] is not needed.

3.2. Extensions related to enhancements of L-parameters.

We now fix a Levi subgroup L of G and consider depth-zero supercuspidal L-parameters for L. To view L as a rigid inner twist of its quasi-split inner form, we use the same \mathcal{Z} as for G. In this setup, we obtain the set of supercuspidal parameters in $\Phi_e^0(L)$, which carries a natural action of a group analogous to $W(G, L) = N_G(L)/L$, i.e. by [ABPS, Proposition 3.1], there is a canonical isomorphism

$$(3.5) N_G(L)/L \cong N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F)/L^{\vee}.$$

We write $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee}) := N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})/L^{\vee}$. It is easy to see there is a natural isomorphism

$$(3.6) N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F)/L^{\vee} \cong W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

The subgroup $W(M^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} = N_{M^{\vee}}(L^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F)/(M^{\vee} \cap L^{\vee})$ acts by conjugation on $\Phi^0(L)$. This action extends to $\Phi^0_e(L)$ in the following way. Let (φ, ρ) represent an element of $\Phi^0_e(L)$, and let $m \in M^{\vee}$ represent an element of $W(M^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. Then

(3.7)
$$m \cdot (\varphi, \rho) = \left(m\varphi m^{-1}, \rho \circ \operatorname{Ad}(m)^{-1} \right).$$

If we allow arbitrary (enhanced) Langlands parameters for L, then the entire group $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ acts in this way. Denote the stabilizer of $\varphi \in \Phi^0(L)$ in $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, or equivalently in $W(M^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, by $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\varphi}$. It acts naturally on $\operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+))$ and we have

$$(3.8) W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong (N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F) \cap Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi))/Z_{L^{\vee}}(\varphi).$$

We write

$$W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} = \left(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})/T^{\vee}\right)^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F)/T^{\vee}.$$

Since LT is determined by φ and is contained in LL , (3.8) is equal to

$$(3.9) \quad \left(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T) \cap Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi)\right) / Z_{L^{\vee}}(\varphi) \cong W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} / W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}.$$

Here \mathbf{W}_F acts via Lj , and the group $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ acts naturally on $\Phi^0(T)$. By the functoriality of the LLC for tori [Yu], this action satisfies

$$(3.10) W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\omega_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta}.$$

By [Kal3, Lemma 3.2.1], the group $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ is abelian. Hence the conjugation action of $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ on $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ descends via (3.9) to an action of $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$.

Lemma 3.3. The subgroup $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ of $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ is central.

Proof. Via (3.10) and the similar isomorphism

$$(3.11) W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong W(N_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta},$$

the desired statement is equivalent to Lemma 2.5.

Write $\overline{\mathcal{L}} := \mathcal{L}/\mathcal{Z}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{T}} := \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{Z}$. Let $\overline{T}^{\vee,+} = Z_{\overline{T}^{\vee}}(\varphi_T)$ be the preimage of T^{\vee,\mathbf{W}_F} in \overline{T}^{\vee} . By [Kal3, Corollary 4.3.4] and (3.10), there is a functorial exact sequence

$$(3.12) 1 \to \overline{T}^{\vee,+} \to S_{\varphi}^+ \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1.$$

We note that the group $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee} \times \mathbf{W}_{F}, T^{\vee}) \cap Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi)$ from (3.9) acts naturally on (3.12). Moreover, (3.12) implies that $\overline{T}^{\vee,+}$ is an abelian normal subgroup of S_{φ}^{+} , such that $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ acts naturally on $\operatorname{Irr}(\overline{T}^{\vee,+})$. For $\eta \in \operatorname{Irr}(\pi_{0}(\overline{T}^{\vee,+}))$, let $\operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi}^{+}, \eta)$ be the set of irreducible representations ρ of S_{φ}^{+} whose restriction to $\overline{T}^{\vee,+}$ contains η . In fact, any such ρ contains the entire $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ -orbit $[\eta]$ of η . By (3.9), $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ acts naturally on the set of $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ -orbits in $\operatorname{Irr}(\pi_{0}(\overline{T}^{\vee,+}))$. In particular, the stabilizer $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi, [\eta]}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ of $[\eta]$ is well-defined. Similar to (3.8) and (3.9), set

$$(3.13) W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi,\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} := (N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T)_{\eta} \cap Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi))/Z_{L^{\vee}}(\varphi)_{\eta}, \\ W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T},\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} := (N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T)_{\eta} \cap Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi))/T^{\vee,\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

The group $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi,\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ embeds naturally in $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, which gives an isomorphism $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi,\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\varphi,[\eta]}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$.

Similar to $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$, we consider

$$(3.14) \quad \mathfrak{X}^{0}(L^{\vee}) := \left\{ \psi \in H^{1}(\mathbf{W}_{F}, Z(L^{\vee})) : \psi \text{ has depth zero in } H^{1}(\mathbf{W}_{F}, T^{\vee}) \right\}.$$

The groups $\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$ and $H^1(\mathbf{W}_F, Z(L^{\vee}))$ act naturally on $\Phi(L)$ as

$$(3.15) \ (z \cdot \varphi)(\gamma, A) = z(\gamma)\varphi(\gamma, A) \text{ for } \varphi \in \Phi(L), z \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee}), \gamma \in \mathbf{W}_F, A \in SL_2(\mathbb{C}).$$

This action (3.15) stabilizes $\Phi^0(L)$ and we have $S_{z\varphi}^+ = S_{\varphi}^+$. Moreover, it extends to an action on $\Phi_e(L)$ and on $\Phi_e^0(L)$ that acts trivially on enhancements. The group

(3.16)
$$\tilde{N}_{\varphi} := N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T) \cap \operatorname{Stab}_{G^{\vee}}(\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L^{\vee})\varphi)$$

acts naturally on all terms of (3.12). Restricting (3.12) to the stabilizers of η gives the following extension of $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ -groups

$$(3.17) 1 \to \overline{T}^{\vee,+} \to (S_{\varphi}^+)_{\eta} \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T, \eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1.$$

Pushout of (3.17) along η gives a central extension

$$(3.18) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_{T}} \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}, \eta}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} \to 1,$$

where the $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ -action from (3.17) factors via

$$(3.19) W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^{0}(L^{\vee})\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} := \tilde{N}_{\varphi, \eta} / T^{\vee, \mathbf{W}_{F}}.$$

The significance of (3.18) is that $\operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}^{\varphi_T}_{\eta}, \operatorname{id})$ is naturally in bijection with $\operatorname{Irr}(S^+_{\varphi}, \eta)$, which will parametrize a part of an L-packet (in Proposition 4.5). Next we express (3.17) and (3.18) as Baer sums of simpler extensions. Firstly, consider the following split extension

$$(3.20) 1 \to T^{\vee} \to T^{\vee} \rtimes W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1.$$

Restricting to $\varphi_T(\mathbf{W}_F)$ -invariants and then taking preimages in $\overline{T}^\vee \rtimes W(L^\vee, T^\vee)^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\eta}$ gives a central extension

$$(3.21) 1 \to \overline{T}^{\vee,+} \to (\overline{T}^{\vee} \times W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_n^{\mathbf{W}_F})^{\varphi_T(\mathbf{W}_F)} \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{n,\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1,$$

whose push out along η gives us an extension

$$(3.22) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\rtimes \varphi_T} \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1.$$

For any $z \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$, the groups $\varphi_T(\mathbf{W}_F)$ and $z\varphi_T(\mathbf{W}_F)$ centralize the same elements of L^{\vee} . Hence $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ acts on (3.21) via its quotient $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}),T^{\vee})_{\eta,\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, and that descends to an action on (3.22).

Secondly, consider the extension

$$(3.23) 1 \to T^{\vee} \to N_{L^{\vee}}(T^{\vee}) \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee}) \to 1,$$

endowed with the \mathbf{W}_F -action from $^Lj: \mathbf{W}_F \to {}^LL$. By [Kal3, Lemma 4.5.3], it remains exact upon taking \mathbf{W}_F -invariants. (For use in Appendix B we remark that this still works if we replace $N_{L^\vee}(T^\vee)$ by $N_{G^\vee}(L^\vee, T^\vee)$ in (3.23), by the same argument.) Next taking preimages in \overline{G}^\vee and pullback along $W(L^\vee, T^\vee)_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to W(L^\vee, T^\vee)^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ give

$$(3.24) 1 \to \overline{T}^{\vee,+} \to N_{\overline{L}^{\vee}}(\overline{T}^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^+ \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1.$$

Then we pull back along $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ to obtain the extension

$$(3.25) 1 \to \overline{T}^{\vee,+} \to (N_{\overline{L}^{\vee}}(\overline{T}^{\vee})^{+})_{\varphi_{T},\eta} \to W(L^{\vee},T^{\vee})_{\eta,\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} \to 1.$$

Pushout along η gives a central extension

$$(3.26) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{0,\varphi_T} \to W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\eta,\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1.$$

Again the group $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ from (3.16) acts naturally on (3.23)–(3.26), which induces an action of $W(N_{G^\vee}(L^\vee),T^\vee)_{\eta,\mathfrak{X}^0(L^\vee)\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ on (3.26).

Lemma 3.4. (a) The extension (3.17) is isomorphic to the Baer sum of (3.21) and (3.25), as extensions of $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ -groups.

(b) The extension (3.18) is isomorphic to the Baer sum of (3.22) and (3.26), as extensions of $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -groups.

Proof. (a) The following is shown in the proof of [Kal5, Proposition 8.2]. One has setwise splittings of (3.21) and (3.25), from which one constructs 2-cocycles in $Z^2(W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{n, \phi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F})$ that classify these two extensions. Then the product of these

2-cocycles classifies the extension (3.17). Translating back from 2-cocycles to extensions establishes the desired isomorphism. To these arguments we only have to add that they all take place in the category of $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ -groups.

(b) This is a direct consequence of part (a) and the earlier observations that, upon pushout along η , the $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ -actions on the said extensions factor through (3.19).

We shall also need the following technical result similar to Proposition 2.10. Although all the extensions $\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{0,\varphi_T'}$ with $\varphi_T' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T$ are naturally isomorphic, we need to distinguish them for this purpose.

Proposition 3.5. The family of extensions $\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{0,\varphi_T'}$ with $\varphi_T' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T$ admits a $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}),T^{\vee})_{\eta,\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant splitting.

Proof. It suffices to show that (3.26) admits a $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant splitting, for then the other required splittings are obtained by conjugating with elements of $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. By Lemma 2.6 (c), we have

(3.27)
$$W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong W(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T})(F) \cong W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{f}})(k_F).$$

Since the group \mathcal{G}_y° and its maximal torus $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ split over an unramified extension of F, (3.27) shows that we can realize $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ in $W(G^{\vee, \mathbf{I}_F, \circ}, T^{\vee, \mathbf{I}_F, \circ})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. (Recall from (3.3) that \mathbf{I}_F acts in the same way on T^{\vee} and on G^{\vee} .) Furthermore, as in the proof of Proposition 2.10, we may replace θ by its restriction $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ to $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{o}_F)$, which factors via $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$. This makes the stabilizer of θ bigger but preserves the non-singularity. On the dual side, it means that we may replace φ by $\varphi|_{\mathbf{I}_F}$, which has image in $T^{\vee,\mathbf{I}_F,\circ}\times\mathbf{I}_F$. If $\imath_F\in\mathbf{I}_F$ is a topological generator of $\mathbf{I}_F/\mathbf{P}_F$, then $\varphi(\imath_F)$, i.e. the semisimple parameter of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and $\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F)$ have the same centralizer in $G^{\vee,\mathbf{I}_F,\circ}$. These replacements for G^{\vee} , T^{\vee} and φ tell us that it suffices to prove the proposition assuming \mathbf{I}_F acts trivially on G^{\vee} , and with the centralizer of $\varphi(\imath_F) \in T^{\vee}$ instead of the centralizer of φ .

Let $T_{\rm sc}$ be the preimage of T in $L_{\rm sc}$. The element

$$\eta \in \operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(\overline{T}^{\vee,+})) \cong H^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{T})$$

can be constructed as an invariant of (j, j_0) as in [Kal3, §4.4]. Since the embeddings $j, j_0 : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}$ lift to $\mathcal{T}_{sc} \to \mathcal{L}_{sc}$, the element η lifts to

$$\eta_{\mathrm{sc}} \in H^1(F, T_{\mathrm{sc}}) \cong \mathrm{Irr}(\pi_0(T_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee, \mathbf{W}_F})).$$

This means that

(3.28)
$$\eta: \pi_0(\overline{T}^{\vee,+}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$$
 factors through $\eta_{sc}: \pi_0(T_{sc}^{\vee, \mathbf{W}_F}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$.

As in [Kal3, Corollary 4.5.5], (3.26) can be obtained from

$$(3.29) 1 \to T_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee,\mathbf{W}_F} \to N_{L_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee}}(T_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to W(L_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee}, T_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1$$

via pullback along $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T, \eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to W(L_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee}, T_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ and pushout along η_{sc} . Since $L_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee} = L^{\vee}_{\mathrm{ad}} = L^{\vee}/Z(L^{\vee})$, we may replace all relevant subgroups of $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})$ by their image in $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})/Z(L^{\vee})$. Then it suffices to find an \tilde{N}_{φ} -equivariant setwise splitting of (3.29), which becomes a group homomorphism upon pushout along η_{sc} . The existence of such a splitting was shown in [Kal3, Lemma 4.5.4]; it remains to show $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^LT)_{\varphi}$ -equivariance.

As an intermediate step in this reduction process, we can divide out $Z(G^{\vee})$, such that G^{\vee} is of adjoint type. Then G^{\vee} is a direct product of simple groups, permuted by \mathbf{W}_F , and the extension (3.25) decomposes accordingly. Therefore we may (and will) assume the G^{\vee} is simple and of adjoint type.

Let L_i^{\vee} be a direct factor of L_{sc}^{\vee} , which is the product of all simple factors of L_{sc}^{\vee} in one $\tilde{N}_{\varphi} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F$ -orbit, and write $T_i^{\vee} := T_{\text{sc}}^{\vee} \cap L_i^{\vee}$. Then the decomposition

$$(3.30) W(L_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee}, T_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\vee}) = \prod_{i} W(L_{i}^{\vee}, T_{i}^{\vee})$$

is preserved by $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T)_{\varphi} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_{F}$. Let $W(L_{i}^{\vee}, T_{i}^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}}$ be the image of $W(L_{\text{sc}}^{\vee}, T_{\text{sc}}^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}}$ in $W(L_{i}^{\vee}, T_{i}^{\vee})$ via projection onto the *i*-th coordinate in (3.30). Similar to (2.43), there are inclusions

$$W(T_{\operatorname{sc}}{}^{\vee}L_i^{\vee}, T_{\operatorname{sc}}{}^{\vee})_{\varphi_T} \;\subset\; W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi_T} \;\subset\; W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{Z(L_{\operatorname{sc}}{}^{\vee})\varphi_T}.$$

The extension (3.29) embeds in a direct product of analogous extensions

$$(3.31) 1 \to (T_i^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to N_{L_i^{\vee}}(T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1$$

for the various *i*. Hence it suffices to consider one such extension. The $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T)_{\varphi}$ -invariants in the pushout of (3.31) along η_{sc} are canonically isomorphic to the invariants in the analogue for one F-simple factor of L except for invariants with respect to a subgroup of \tilde{N}_{φ} . Therefore, it suffices to prove the proposition when L is F-simple and simply connected.

Now L^{\vee} is a direct product of simple factors, and \mathbf{W}_F permutes these factors transitively. We may replace L^{\vee} by one of its simple factors and \mathbf{W}_F by the stabilizer of that simple factor, because this replacement preserves the group of \mathbf{W}_F -invariants. Hence we may assume without loss of generality that L^{\vee} is simple and adjoint. Recall that by the simplifications at the start of the proof we are in a setting where $G^{\vee} \rtimes \langle \operatorname{Frob}_F \rangle$ is dual to a connected finite reductive group.

By the proof of [Kal3, Lemma 4.5.4], we know that $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ is cyclic or isomorphic to the Klein four group, and by Lemma 3.3 we know that $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ commutes with $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^LT)_{\varphi}$ in $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$.

Since $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$ is a Weyl group containing the Weyl group $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$ and $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T)_{\varphi}$ normalizes $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$, the action of $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, {}^{L}T)_{\varphi}$ on (3.26) comes from conjugation by elements of $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$ and Dynkin diagram automorphisms of $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$. Thus we can conclude with a case-by-case check. This is entirely analogous to the cases I–V in the proof of Proposition 2.10.

4. An LLC for non-singular depth-zero supercuspidal representations

In this section, we first recall the LLC for depth-zero supercuspidal L-parameters from [DeRe, Kal3]; then we prove further functorial properties of this LLC.

Consider a supercuspidal L-parameter $\varphi \in \Phi^0(L)$, and factor it as $^L j \circ \varphi_T$ as in Lemma 3.1. Fix a Whittaker datum for the quasi-split inner twist L^{\flat} of L, which by [Kal3, Lemma 4.2.1] determines an embedding $j_0 : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}^{\flat}$. We also fix $\eta \in \operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(\bar{T}^{\vee,+}))$. Recall the natural isomorphism

(4.1)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(\bar{T}^{\vee,+})) \cong H^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{T})$$

from [Dil, Corollary 7.11]. As in [Kal3, §4.2], these data determine a rigid inner twist \mathcal{L}' of \mathcal{L} and an embedding $j: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}'$ of F-groups, such that the invariant (j, j_0)

equals η . Then j(T) is a maximal torus of L' and j(T)/Z(L') is elliptic. By Lemma 3.1, φ_T corresponds to a character θ of T, which can also be viewed as a character of j(T).

The torus j(T) determines a unique vertex in the Bruhat-Tits building $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}'_{\mathrm{ad}}, F)$, as follows. By (3.4), $j(\mathcal{T})$ contains a unique maximal tamely ramified torus $j(\mathcal{T}_M)$ of \mathcal{L}' . Let E denote a finite tamely ramified extension of F inside F_s such that \mathcal{T}_M splits. Then $j(\mathcal{T}_M(E))$ is a maximal E-split torus in $\mathcal{L}'(E)$, so it determines an apartment $\mathbb{A}_{j(\mathcal{T}(E))} = \mathbb{A}_{\mathcal{T}_M(E)}$ of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}'_{\mathrm{ad}}, E)$. Since \mathcal{T} is F-elliptic, $\mathbb{A}_{\mathcal{T}_M(E)}^{\mathrm{Gal}(E/F)}$ consists of just one point. By [Kal2, Lemma 3.4.3], it is also a vertex of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}'_{\mathrm{ad}}, F)$. In other words, we can associate the same vertex of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}'_{\mathrm{ad}}, F)$ to j(T) as to $j(T_M)$.

This vertex gives a unique minimal facet \mathfrak{f} in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}',F)$, stabilized by $j(\mathcal{T})$. In particular, $j(T) \subset L'_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and moreover j(T) gives rise to a subgroup scheme of $\mathcal{L}'_{\mathfrak{f}}$. In fact, $j(\mathcal{T})$ and $j(\mathcal{T}_M)$ determine the same subgroup scheme of $\mathcal{L}'_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$, because \mathcal{T}_M contains the maximal unramified subtorus of \mathcal{T} . Therefore the discussions from [Kal3, §3] about maximal tamely ramified tori and their images in $\mathcal{L}'_{\mathfrak{f}}$ apply to \mathcal{T}_M and carry over to \mathcal{T} . We define, in the notation from (2.5),

(4.2)
$$\Pi_{\varphi,\eta} := \Pi(L', j(T), \theta) \subset \operatorname{Irr}(L').$$

We emphasize that, given φ , η and a Whittaker datum for L^{\flat} , the construction of the Deligne–Lusztig packet $\Pi_{\varphi,\eta}$ is natural, and in particular independent of the choice of φ in its equivalence class. Let η run through $H^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{T})/W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta}$. Then j runs through all $W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)_{\theta}$ -equivalence classes of embeddings $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}$. We define the compound L-packet of φ as $\Pi_{\varphi} := \bigsqcup_{\eta} \Pi_{\varphi,\eta}$. Compared to $\Pi_{\phi,\eta}$ the dependence on η and j_0 has disappeared, so Π_{φ} depends naturally on $\varphi \in \Phi^0(L)$. It is a set of irreducible representations of various rigid inner twists L' of L, i.e.

$$\Pi_{\varphi} = \bigsqcup_{L'} \Pi_{\varphi}(L'), \text{ where } \Pi_{\varphi}(L') = \Pi_{\varphi} \cap \operatorname{Irr}(L').$$

Recall that the local Langlands correspondence for tori from [Yu] matches unitary characters with bounded L-parameters. Together with Lemma 2.1, this implies that

(4.3) if φ is bounded, then Π_{φ} consists entirely of tempered representations.

Conversely, if φ is not bounded, then θ is not unitary, and thus by Lemma 2.1, Π_{φ} does not contain any tempered representation.

To make the naturality of Π_{φ} more concrete, consider an F-automorphism γ of \mathcal{L} . Let ${}^{L}\gamma := \gamma^{\vee} \rtimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ be an associated L-automorphism of ${}^{L}L$ (which means that the actions of γ and γ^{\vee} on the absolute root datum of \mathcal{L} are dual).

Lemma 4.1. The assignments $\varphi \mapsto \Pi_{\varphi}$ and $(\varphi, \eta) \mapsto \Pi_{\varphi, \eta}$ intertwine the action of L_{γ} with the action of γ , i.e. we have $\gamma \cdot \Pi_{\varphi} = \Pi_{L_{\gamma \circ \varphi}}$ and $\gamma \cdot \Pi_{\varphi, \eta} = \Pi_{L_{\gamma \circ \varphi}, L_{\gamma \circ \eta}}$.

Proof. The set of rigid inner twists of L is parametrized by

$$\operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^+)) \cong H^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{L}).$$

This natural isomorphism intertwines the actions of $^{L}\gamma$ and γ , thus the parametrization of rigid inner twists is also equivariant under these actions. It is clear from definition (2.5) that

(4.4)
$$\gamma \cdot \Pi_{\varphi,\eta} = \gamma \cdot \Pi(L', j(T), \theta) = \Pi(\gamma(L'), \gamma j(T), \gamma \cdot \theta).$$

The LLC for tori is functorial [Yu], so intertwines the actions of γ and ${}^{L}\gamma$. Hence the L-parameter of $(\gamma j(T), \gamma \cdot \theta)$ is ${}^{L}\gamma \circ j^{L} \circ \varphi_{T} = {}^{L}\gamma \circ \varphi$, and the right-hand side of (4.4) equals $\Pi_{L_{\gamma \circ \varphi, L_{\gamma \cdot \eta}}}$. Now we combine (4.4) for all possible $j: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}$, or equivalently for all $\eta \in H^{1}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{T})$, and obtain the desired $\gamma \cdot \Pi_{\varphi} = \Pi_{L_{\gamma \circ \varphi}}$.

Recall that Langlands [Lan2] defined a natural homomorphism

$$(4.5) H^1(\mathbf{W}_F, Z(G^{\vee})) \to \operatorname{Hom}(G/G_{\operatorname{sc}}, \mathbb{C}^{\times}) : \psi \mapsto \chi_{\psi}.$$

In [SoXu, Theorem 3.1], we showed that (4.5) is an isomorphism of topological groups. In (4.5), the left hand side acts naturally on $\Phi_e(G)$ by (3.15), while the right hand side acts naturally on Rep(G) by tensoring. In general, it is expected that a local Langlands correspondence is equivariant with respect to these actions of the groups in (4.5). By [SoXu, Lemma 3.2], (4.5) restricts to an isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{X}^0(G).$$

As we noted before, it is clear from the definitions that the actions of $\mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ and $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ stabilize the depth-zero parts of $\Phi_e(G)$ and $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$. Similar to Lemma 4.1, it follows immediately from (2.13) that

$$(4.7) \Pi_{\psi \cdot \varphi, \eta} = \chi_{\psi} \otimes \Pi_{\varphi, \eta} := \{ \chi_{\psi} \otimes \pi : \pi \in \Pi_{\varphi, \eta} \} \psi \in \mathfrak{X}^{0}(G^{\vee}).$$

We now analyze the parametrization of Π_{φ} in more detail. For reasons that will become clear in later paragraphs, we assume that \mathcal{L} is an F-Levi subgroup of a larger reductive F-group \mathcal{G} . For the sake of compatibility, we require that the component groups for $\Phi(G)$ and $\Phi(L)$ are constructed with respect to the same finite central subgroup $\mathcal{Z} \subset Z(\mathcal{G})$. This implies that our rigid inner twists of G and of L are parametrized by $\operatorname{Irr}(Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^+)$ and $\operatorname{Irr}(Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^+)$, respectively. By [Art1, Lemma 1.1],

$$Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} = Z(G^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F,\circ}.$$

Via the coverings of complex reductive groups dual to $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}/\mathcal{Z}$ and $\mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}/\mathcal{Z}$, this becomes $Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^{+} = Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^{+}Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^{+,\circ}$. This gives a short exact sequence

$$(4.8) 1 \to (Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^{+} \cap Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^{+,\circ})/Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^{+} \to \pi_{0}(Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^{+}) \to \pi_{0}(Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^{+}) \to 1.$$

A similar argument as [KMSW, Lemma 0.4.9] and [AMS1, Lemma 6.6] shows:

Lemma 4.2. (a) The character ζ_G of $\operatorname{Irr}(Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^+)$ is equal to the pullback of $\zeta_L \in \operatorname{Irr}(Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^+)$ along (4.8).

(b) An F-Levi subgroup \mathcal{L} of \mathcal{G} is relevant for a rigid inner twist G' of G if and only if $\ker(\zeta_{G'})$ contains $(Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^+ \cap Z(\bar{L}^{\vee})^{+,\circ})/Z(\bar{G}^{\vee})^+$.

Recall that the group $W(G, L) = N_G(L)/L$ acts naturally on Irr(L), stabilizing the subset of non-singular depth-zero supercuspidal representations of L. In (3.7), we specified how

$$W(G, L) \cong N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee} \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F)/L^{\vee} = W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$$

acts naturally on $\Phi_e^0(L)$. By Lemma 4.2, $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ fixes the characters ζ_G and ζ_L . Recall from (2.7) and Proposition 2.2 that there is a $W(G, L)_{(jT,\theta)}$ -equivariant bijection

(4.9)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(jT)_{\theta}, \theta) \to \Pi(L, T, \theta).$$

Furthermore, by (2.27)–(2.28), we obtain a canonical bijection

(4.10)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(N_{G'}(jT)_{\theta}, \theta) \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id}).$$

On the other hand, the enhanced L-parameters for $\Pi_{\varphi,\eta}$ are given by φ enhanced with elements of $\operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi}^+,\eta)$. By Clifford theory, the canonical map

(4.11)
$$\operatorname{ind}_{(S_{\varphi}^{+})_{\eta}}^{S_{\varphi}^{+}} : \operatorname{Irr}((S_{\varphi}^{+})_{\eta}, \eta) \to \operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi}^{+}, \eta)$$

is bijective. By (3.17)–(3.18), we obtained a natural bijection

$$(4.12) \qquad \operatorname{Irr}((S_{\varphi}^{+})_{\eta}, \eta) \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_{T}}, \operatorname{id}).$$

Thus a desired internal parametrization of Π_{φ} by $\operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi}^{+})$ should include a comparison between $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_{T}}$. Now, consider the extensions from (2.28), (2.34), (2.36), (3.18), (3.22) and (3.26): (4.13)

Recall from Lemmas 3.4 and 2.9 that the extensions in the middle rows of (4.13) are the Baer sums of those above and below them. By (3.5) and (3.6), there is a natural isomorphism $W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F) \cong W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, which restricts to an isomorphism

$$(4.14) W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta} \cong W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

From the left-hand side of (4.13) we obtain three families of extensions, by letting θ vary over $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta'$ for some θ' . We showed in §2 that the group

$$W(N_{\mathcal{C}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta} \cong W(N_{G}(L), jT)_{\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta}$$

acts naturally on these three families of extensions on the left-hand side of (4.13). On the other hand, from the right-hand side of (4.13) we obtain three families of extensions, by letting φ_T run over $\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T'$ for some φ_T' . We showed in §3 that $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ acts canonically on these three families extensions on the right-hand side of (4.13). From (3.8), (4.14) and the natural isomorphism $\mathfrak{X}^0(L) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$ from (4.6), we obtain a natural isomorphism

$$(4.15) W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \mathfrak{X}^{0}(L)\theta} \cong W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^{0}(L^{\vee})\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}.$$

Thus it makes sense to say that (4.15) acts canonically on all extensions in (4.13). Recall that we constructed $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{0,[x]}$ in (2.34), and $\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{0,\varphi_T}$ in (3.26).

Lemma 4.3. There exists a $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^{0}(L^{\vee})\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ -equivariant family of group isomorphisms

(4.16)
$$\zeta^0: \mathcal{E}_{\gamma \otimes \theta}^{0,[x]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{0,\chi\varphi_T} \qquad \chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$$

Proof. By canonicity of (4.15), this follows from Propositions 2.10 and 3.5.

By [Kal5, Proposition 8.1], there exists a canonical isomorphism of extensions

$$(4.17) \qquad \begin{array}{cccc} 1 & \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\times} & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{\rtimes[x]} & \longrightarrow & W(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}, \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta} & \longrightarrow & 1 \\ & & & & \downarrow_{\zeta^{\rtimes}} & & \downarrow_{\cong} \\ 1 & \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{\times} & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\rtimes\varphi_{T}} & \longrightarrow & W(L^{\vee}, \mathcal{T}^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} & \longrightarrow & 1 \end{array}$$

Canonicity ensures that it is equivariant for the natural actions of (4.15). Combined with the Baer sum expressions for the extensions in (4.13), we have the following.

Lemma 4.4. Every choice of a ζ^0 in (4.16) gives rise to a family of isomorphisms

$$B(\zeta^0, \zeta^{\times}) : \mathcal{E}_{\chi \otimes \theta}^{[x]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\chi \varphi_T} \qquad \chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee}),$$

which is the Baer sum of ζ^0 and ζ^{\times} (hence our notation $B(\zeta^0, \zeta^{\times})$). This family of isomorphisms is $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant.

By (4.9)–(4.12) and Lemma 4.4, we get $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant bijections

$$(4.18) \qquad \operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi}^{+}, \eta) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_{T}}, \operatorname{id}) \xrightarrow{B(\zeta^{0}, \zeta^{\rtimes})} \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id}) \longrightarrow \Pi(L, T, \theta).$$

They combine to the following $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \mathfrak{X}^{0}(L^{\vee})\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$ -equivariant bijection

(4.19)
$$\bigcup_{\varphi' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T} \operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi'}^+, \eta) \longleftrightarrow \bigcup_{\theta' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta} \Pi(L, T, \theta').$$

Proposition 4.5. For all η , [x] as above, fix $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant choices of ζ^0 in Lemma 4.4 and of coherent splittings ϵ as in (2.7). Then (4.18) and (4.19) for these η , [x] combine to a $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant bijection $\Pi_{\varphi} \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi}^+)$, and a $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant bijection

(4.20)
$$\bigcup_{\varphi' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T} \Pi_{\varphi'} \longleftrightarrow \bigcup_{\varphi' \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T} \operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi'}^+).$$

 $Under\ this\ bijection,\ tempered\ representations\ correspond\ to\ bounded\ enhanced\ L-parameters.$

Proof. By the construction of $\mathcal{E}^{\varphi_T}_{\eta}$ in (3.17) and (3.18), $\operatorname{Irr}(S^+_{\varphi})$ is the union of the sets $\operatorname{Irr}(S^+_{\varphi}, \eta)$, where η runs through $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\varphi_T}$ -equivalence classes. By definition, Π_{φ} is the union of the corresponding packets $\Pi_{\varphi,\eta} = \Pi(L,T,\theta)$. Thus (4.18) and (4.19) combine to give the desired bijections. Recall from earlier that every single bijection (4.18) is $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\eta,\varphi_T}$ -equivariant. The $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}$ -equivariance of the choices in the construction ensures that the collection of bijections $\Pi_{\varphi} \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{Irr}(S^+_{\varphi})$ is also $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}$ -equivariant, and does not depend on the choices of η , [x] within their $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}$ -equivalence classes. The correspondence between temperedness and boundedness follows from (4.3). \square

Since $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L) \cong (Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F}^{\circ}$ is contained in $\mathfrak{X}^0(L) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$, the union of the L-packets in (4.20) forms a collection of Bernstein components in $Irr^0(L')$, for rigid inner twists L' of L. Similarly, the collection of enhanced L-parameters for (4.20) forms a union of Bernstein components in $\Phi_e^0(L')$ for the same L'. Proposition 4.5, combined with the main result of [Kal3], gives a bijection (4.21)

$$\Phi_{\text{cusp}}^0(L)_{ns} := \left\{ (\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e^0(L) : \atop \varphi \text{ supercuspidal} \right\} \longleftrightarrow \left\{ \pi \in \text{Irr}^0(L) : \pi \text{ is non-} \atop \text{singular supercuspidal} \right\} =: \text{Irr}_{\text{cusp}}^0(L)_{ns}.$$

We will write instances of (4.21) as

$$(\varphi, \rho) \mapsto \pi(\varphi, \rho)$$
 or $\pi \mapsto (\varphi_{\pi}, \rho_{\pi}).$

Recall from [Lan1, p.20–23] and [Bor, §10.1] that every $\varphi \in \Phi(L)$ determines a character χ_{φ} of Z(L) constructed as follows. One first embeds \mathcal{L} into a connected reductive F-group $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$ satisfying $\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{der}} = \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{der}}$, such that $Z(\tilde{\mathcal{L}})$ is connected. Then one lifts φ to an L-parameter $\tilde{\varphi}$ for $\tilde{L} = \tilde{\mathcal{L}}(F)$. The natural projection ${}^L\tilde{\mathcal{L}} \to {}^LZ(\tilde{\mathcal{L}})$ produces an L-parameter $\tilde{\varphi}_z$ for $Z(\tilde{L}) = Z(\tilde{\mathcal{L}})(F)$, and via the local Langlands correspondence for tori, $\tilde{\varphi}_z$ uniquely determines a character $\chi_{\tilde{\varphi}}$ of $Z(\tilde{L})$. Then χ_{φ} is given by restricting $\chi_{\tilde{\varphi}}$ to Z(L). By [Lan1, p. 23], χ_{φ} does not depend on the choices made above.

Lemma 4.6. In (4.21), the Z(L)-character of $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is precisely χ_{φ} .

Proof. Since all the admissible embeddings $j: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}$ are \mathcal{L} -conjugate, the preimage of $Z(\mathcal{L})$ under j does not depend on the choice of j. We may denote it by $Z_{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{L})$. Then any j restricts to the same bijective embedding $j: Z_{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{L}) \to Z(\mathcal{L})$. By (2.6), every $\pi \in \Pi(L, jT, \theta) \subset \Pi_{\varphi}(L)$ admits the central character $\theta|_{Z(L)} = \theta|_{Z_{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{L})(F)}$, and by construction φ_T is the L-parameter of θ .

Now we follow the procedure in [Lan1] recalled above. There is a unique maximal torus \widetilde{jT} of $\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}$ containing $j\mathcal{T}$. By functoriality of the LLC for tori [Yu], $\widetilde{\varphi}$ determines a character of $\widetilde{jT}(F)$ that extends θ . Hence $\widetilde{\varphi}_z$ corresponds to a character of $Z(\widetilde{L})$ that extends $\theta_{Z(L)}$, and $\chi_{\varphi} = \theta_{Z(L)}$.

However, the bijections in (4.18), Proposition 4.5 and (4.21) are not entirely canonical, because they depend on choices of isomorphisms between two extensions in [Kal3, §4.5]. In (4.18), one can adjust the bijection by tensoring one side with a character of $W(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T})(F)_{[x],\theta} \cong W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T,\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. This corresponds to changing the coherent splitting ϵ ; see [Kal3, Definition 2.7.6]. Proposition 4.5 shows that there are many ways to make the choices for (4.21) so that the LLC becomes $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant. If one is willing to work with more L-packets (in one $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -orbit) at once, then one can even make (4.21) $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant. In principle, the choices for φ 's in different $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -orbits are independent. But, of course, we want to align them in a nice way.

Theorem 4.7. Suppose that on every $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ -orbit of the datum (jT,θ) , we choose the same ζ^0 from Lemma 4.4 and the same ϵ from (2.7) and (2.8). The LLC from Proposition 4.5 is equivariant with respect to $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ and $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})_{\mathcal{O}_T}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$.

Proof. In [Kal3, start of §2.7 and Fact 2.7.2], we can take $N_G(L,jT)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta}/L_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$ in the role of Γ and $W(N_{G^\vee}(L^\vee),T^\vee)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^\vee)\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ in the role of $\overline{\Gamma}$, and the proof goes through. Thus this collection of ϵ 's (or rather the ensuing actions of $N_L(jT)_{\theta}$ on $\kappa_{T,\theta}^{L,\epsilon}$) are equivariant for $W(N_{G^\vee}(L^\vee),T^\vee)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^\vee)\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. By Lemma 4.4, the chosen ζ^0 's form a $W(N_{G^\vee}(L^\vee),T^\vee)_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^\vee)\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariant family. Hence Proposition 4.5 applies.

Suppose that $(\varphi, \rho') \in \Phi_e(L)$ corresponds to $\kappa_{(jT,\theta,\rho)}^{L,\epsilon}$ via Proposition 4.5. Take $z \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$ with image $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ (4.6). Then

$$S_{z\varphi}^+ = S_{\varphi}^+, \quad (S_{z\varphi}^+)_{\eta} = (S_{\varphi}^+)_{\eta} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{z\varphi_T} = \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_T}.$$

This gives a family $\{(z\phi,\rho'):z\in\mathfrak{X}^0(L^\vee)\}$ in $\Phi_e(L)$. We need to figure out the corresponding family of L-representations. Via Lemma 4.4, ρ' is translated into $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id})$. Since χ is a character of the entire group L, we have

$$(4.22) N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(j\mathcal{T})_{\theta} = N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(j\mathcal{T})_{\chi\otimes\theta}, \text{ and} \\ \operatorname{Irr}(N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(j\mathcal{T})_{\theta}, \chi\otimes\theta) = \{\chi\otimes\rho: \rho\in\operatorname{Irr}(N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(j\mathcal{T})_{\theta}, \theta)\}.$$

The condition on ζ^0 in the theorem means that $(z\phi, \rho')$ corresponds to $\chi \otimes \theta \in \operatorname{Irr}(jT)$ and to the representation $\chi \otimes \rho \in \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\chi \otimes \theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id})$ obtained from ρ via the natural isomorphsm $\mathcal{E}_{\chi\otimes\theta}^{[x]}\cong\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ from (2.29). We can also view $\chi\otimes\rho$ as an element of $\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(jT)_{\chi\otimes\theta},\chi\otimes\theta)$, then it is obtained from $\rho\in\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(jT)_{\theta})$ by tensoring with χ . By [Kal3, Theorem 2.7.7.3] (which uses the condition on ϵ), we have

(4.23)
$$\chi \otimes \kappa_{(jT,\theta,\rho)}^{L,\epsilon} \cong \kappa_{(jT,\chi\otimes\theta,\chi\otimes\rho)}^{L,\epsilon}.$$

Thus
$$(z\phi, \rho')$$
 corresponds to $\chi \otimes \kappa_{(jT,\theta,\rho)}^{L,\epsilon}$ in Proposition 4.5.

The equivariance in Theorem 4.7 can be upgraded when we consider all nonsingular depth-zero supercuspidal representations and all enhanced supercuspidal L-parameters in Proposition 4.5, as follows.

Theorem 4.8. The choices in the LLC (4.21) can be made such that, for all nonsingular supercuspidal depth-zero representations of L, (4.21) is equivariant with respect to

$$W(G, L) \ltimes \mathfrak{X}^0(L) \cong W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \ltimes \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee}).$$

Proof. For a given supercuspidal parameter $\varphi \in \Phi^0(L)$, consider the set

$$\{(\varphi',\rho)\in\Phi_e^0(L):\varphi'\in\mathfrak{X}^0(L^\vee)\varphi,\rho\in\mathrm{Irr}(S_{\omega'}^+)\}$$

from Proposition 4.5. The $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -stabilizer $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi}$ of (4.24) consists precisely of the elements that come from $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{X}^{0}(L^{\vee})\varphi_{T}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$. By construction, other elements of $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ do not map any element of (4.24) to an element of (4.24). We apply the $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})\varphi}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \ltimes \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$ -equivariant LLC from Theorem 4.7 to (4.24), and we extend it $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \ltimes \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$ -equivariantly $\bigcup_{\varphi'\in\mathfrak{X}^0(L^\vee)\varphi}W(G,L)\cdot\Pi_{\varphi'}(L). \text{ Next, we}$ let φ run through a set of representatives for

$$\{\varphi' \in \Phi^0(L) : \varphi' \text{ supercuspidal}\}/W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \ltimes \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee}),$$

and we carry out the above steps for all those φ .

Remark 4.9. The group of unramified characters of L is contained in $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$, so Theorem 4.8 also holds with $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ instead of $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)$.

Ideally, the LLC from Theorem 4.8 should be equivariant with respect to all Fautomorphisms of \mathcal{L} , as conjectured in [Sol3, Conjecture 2] and [Kal6, Conjecture 2.12. Unfortunately, this seems to be out of reach at the time of writing.

5. Some subquotients of the Iwahori-Weyl group

The following sections §6–§8 treat Hecke algebras for non-supercuspidal representations of G, and do not rely on the previous sections. We now slightly adjust the earlier setup. Let S be a maximal F-split torus in G. Let R(G,S) be the root system of (G,S). Let $A_S := X_*(S) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ be the apartment of $\mathcal{B}(G,F)$ associated to S. The walls of A_S determine an affine root system Σ , and the map that sends an affine root to its linear part is a canonical surjection $D: \Sigma \to R(G,S)$.

Let C_0 be a chamber in \mathbb{A}_S whose closure contains 0. Let Δ_{aff} be the set of simple affine roots in Σ determined by C_0 . The associated set of simple affine reflections S_{aff} generates an affine Weyl group W_{aff} . The standard Iwahori subgroup of G is P_{C_0} , and the Iwahori–Weyl group of (G,S) is

$$(5.1) W := N_G(S)/(N_G(S) \cap P_{C_0}) \cong Z_G(S)/(Z_G(S) \cap P_{C_0}) \rtimes W(G, S).$$

Note that it acts on $\mathbb{A}_S = X_*(S) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} = X_*(Z_G(S)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \cong Z_G(S)/Z_G(S)_{\mathrm{cpt}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, with $Z_G(S)/(Z_G(S) \cap P_{C_0})$ acting by translations, and W(G,S) as the stabilizer of a chosen special vertex of C_0 . The kernel of this action is the finite subgroup $Z_G(S)_{\mathrm{cpt}}/Z_{P_{C_0}}(S)$, where the subscript cpt denotes the (unique) maximal compact subgroup. Furthermore, W contains W_{aff} as the subgroup supported on the kernel of the Kottwitz homomorphism for G. The group $\Omega := \{w \in W : w(C_0) = C_0\}$ forms a complement to W_{aff} , and we have

$$(5.2) W = W_{\text{aff}} \rtimes \Omega.$$

Let \mathfrak{f} be a facet in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F)$. Since G acts transitively on the set of chambers of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F)$, we may assume without loss of generality that \mathfrak{f} is contained in the closure of C_0 . Let $\Sigma_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be the set of affine roots that vanish on \mathfrak{f} , and let $J := \Delta_{\mathrm{aff}} \cap \Sigma_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be its subset of simple affine roots. Its associated set of affine reflections $\{s_j : j \in J\}$ generates a finite Weyl group W_J , which can be identified with the Weyl group of the k_F -group $\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ with respect to the torus $\mathcal{S}(k_F)$.

Let $R_{\mathfrak{f}}^{c4}$ be the set of roots for (G,S) that are constant on \mathfrak{f} , a parabolic root subsystem of R(G,S). Let \mathcal{L} be the Levi F-subgroup of \mathcal{G} determined by \mathcal{S} and $R_{\mathfrak{f}}^c$. By [Mor2, Theorem 2.1], $P_{L,\mathfrak{f}}:=P_{\mathfrak{f}}\cap L$ is a maximal parahoric subgroup of L (associated to a facet $\mathfrak{f}_L\supset\mathfrak{f}$) and we have

(5.3)
$$\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}/P_{L,\mathfrak{f}} = (\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cap L)/(P_{\mathfrak{f}} \cap L) \cong \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}},
P_{L,\mathfrak{f}}/L_{\mathfrak{f},0+} = (P_{\mathfrak{f}} \cap L)/(G_{\mathfrak{f},0+} \cap L) \cong P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}.$$

Let $R_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be the image of $\Sigma_{\mathfrak{f}}$ in R(G,S). Its closure $(\mathbb{Q}R_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cap R(G,S)$ is precisely $R_{\mathfrak{f}}^c$. Although $R_{\mathfrak{f}}^c$ and $R_{\mathfrak{f}}$ have the same rank, it is quite possible that they have different Weyl groups. We write

(5.4)
$$\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}} = \{ \omega \in \Omega : \omega(\mathfrak{f}) = \mathfrak{f} \} = \{ \omega \in \Omega : P_{\mathfrak{f}} \omega P_{\mathfrak{f}} \subset G_{\mathfrak{f}} \} \cong G_{\mathfrak{f}} / P_{\mathfrak{f}}.$$

Since $P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ depend only on \mathfrak{f} , they have the same normalizer in G, i.e. the settheoretic stabilizer $G_{\mathfrak{f}}$ of \mathfrak{f} . Let $\Omega^0_{\mathfrak{f}} \cong \hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}/P_{L,\mathfrak{f}} = \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be the point-wise stabilizer of \mathfrak{f} in $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}$. By (5.4), we have

(5.5)
$$G_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}} \cong \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}} \quad \text{and} \quad G_{\mathfrak{f}}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cong \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}/\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}.$$

Lemma 5.1. (a) The group $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}} = G_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is abelian and finitely generated.

⁴The superscript c will become self-explanatory in the next paragraph.

- (b) Suppose moreover that \mathfrak{f} is a minimal facet in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G},F)$, or equivalently that $P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is maximal parahoric subgroup of G. The group $G_{\mathfrak{f}}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is abelian and isomorphic to a lattice in $X_*(Z^{\circ}(G)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. In particular, it is free of the same rank as $X_*(Z^{\circ}(G))$.
- *Proof.* (a) Recall the Kottwitz homomorphism κ for G, which takes values in a subquotient of the algebraic character group of $Z(G^{\vee})$. Since $\ker \kappa \cap G_{\mathfrak{f}} = P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ (see for example [KaPr, Propositions 7.6.4 and 11.5.4]), we have $G_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}} \cong \kappa(G_{\mathfrak{f}})$. This is a subquotient of $X^*(Z(G^{\vee}))$, hence is abelian and finitely generated.
- (b) The group under consideration is a quotient of $G_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}}$, thus by part (a) it is abelian and finitely generated. Note that L=G by the minimality of \mathfrak{f} , thus $\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}=\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. For any $x\in\mathfrak{f}$, the $X_*(Z^\circ(G))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{R}$ -orbit of x equals \mathfrak{f} , and $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ equals the stabilizer of x in G. We define a map $t:G_{\mathfrak{f}}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}\to X_*(Z(G))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{R}$ by $g\cdot x=x+t(g)$, where the addition takes place in A_S . Since translations by $X_*(Z^\circ(G))\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{R}$ commute with the action of G on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G},F)$, we can compute

$$x + t(gg') = gg' \cdot x = g \cdot (x + t(g')) = x + t(g) + t(g').$$

This shows that t is a group homomorphism, and by definition its kernel is trivial. Hence t provides an isomorphism between $G_{\mathfrak{f}}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and a subgroup of $X_*(Z(G)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. The latter is a real vector space, so all its subgroups are torsion-free. On $Z(G) \subset G_{\mathfrak{f}}$, the map t boils down to the quotient map

$$Z^{\circ}(G) \to Z^{\circ}(G)/Z^{\circ}(G)_{\mathrm{cpt}} \cong X_*(Z^{\circ}(G)).$$

On the other hand, the group of translations t(G) of $X_*(Z^{\circ}(G)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, which arises from the action of G, contains $X_*(Z^{\circ}(G))$ with finite index, thus it is a lattice in $X_*(Z^{\circ}(G)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. Now we have inclusions $X_*(Z^{\circ}(G)) \subset t(G_{\mathfrak{f}}) \subset t(G)$, where the outer sides are lattices in $X_*(Z^{\circ}(G)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, thus the group in the middle is as well. \square

The group $N_W(W_J)/W_J$ is isomorphic to

$$(5.6) N_W(J) := \{ w \in N_W(W_J) : w(J) = J \}.$$

Note that $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}} \subset N_W(J)$. The group $N_W(J)$ naturally contains an affine Weyl group $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J)$, obtained in the following way. For $\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathrm{aff}} \setminus J$, the reflections in the roots $J \cup \{\alpha\}$ generate a finite Weyl group $W_{J \cup \alpha} \subset W$. Its longest element $w_{J \cup \alpha}$ satisfies

$$w_{J\cup\alpha}(J) \subset w_{J\cup\alpha}(J\cup\{\alpha\}) = -J\cup\{-\alpha\}.$$

Suppose that $w_{J\cup\alpha}(J)=-J$ and let w_J be the longest element of W_J . Then

$$(5.7) v(\alpha, J) := w_{J \cup \alpha} w_J = w_J w_{J \cup \alpha}$$

has order two. Such involutions are called an R-elements in [Mor1, §2.6]. Let $\Delta_{f,aff}$ be the set of $\alpha \in \Delta_{aff} \setminus J$ for which there exists an α' from the same simple factor of G, such that both $v(\alpha, J)$ and $v(\alpha', J)$ are R-elements. The group

(5.8)
$$\Omega(J) = \{ w \in N_W(J) : w(\Delta_{f,aff}) = \Delta_{f,aff} \}$$

contains $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}$. By [Mor1, Corollary 2.8 and §7], the set $S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}} := \{v(\alpha,J) : \alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}}\}$ generates an affine Weyl group $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J)$ in $N_W(J)$ and we have

(5.9)
$$N_W(J) = W_{\text{aff}}(J) \rtimes \Omega(J).$$

The inverse image of $N_W(J)$ in $N_G(S)$ stabilizes the facet of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}, F)$ containing \mathfrak{f} , and it normalizes L and $P_{L,\mathfrak{f}}$. By (5.3), this induces an action of $N_W(J)$ on

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathsf{f}}^{\circ}(k_F) \cong P_{L,\mathsf{f}}/L_{\mathsf{f},0+} \cong P_{\mathsf{f}}/G_{\mathsf{f},0+}.$$

Let σ be an irreducible cuspidal representation of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$, also viewed as a representation of $P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ by inflation. As in [Mor1, §4.16], we define

$$(5.10) W(J,\sigma) = \{ w \in N_W(J) : w \cdot \sigma \cong \sigma \}.$$

For any of the groups $G_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}, \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}^{0}$, we add a subscript σ to indicate the subgroup that stabilizes σ . Then, by (5.5), we have

(5.11)
$$G_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}/P_{\mathfrak{f}} \cong \Omega_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma} \quad \text{and} \quad G_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma} \cong \Omega_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}/\Omega^0_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma} \cong G_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}.$$

If moreover \mathfrak{f} is a minimal facet, then Lemma 5.1 (b) applies equally well to $G_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$. Recall that $\Omega^0_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is the point-wise stabilizer of \mathfrak{f} in $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}$.

Lemma 5.2. $\Omega^0_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is a central subgroup of $N_W(J)$, which intersects the commutator subgroup of $N_W(J)$ only in $\{1\}$. The same holds with $W(J,\sigma)$ instead of $N_W(J)$.

Proof. The first claim is shown in [Sol6, (38)–(39)]. By (5.2) and the commutativity of $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}$ as in Lemma 5.1 (a), the commutator subgroup of $N_W(J)$ is contained in W_{aff} . By (5.2), $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}} \subset \Omega$ intersects W_{aff} trivially. Hence the intersection of $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}$ with the commutator subgroup of $N_W(J)$ or of $W(J,\sigma)$ is just the identity.

For α such that $v(\alpha, J) \in S_{f,aff} \cap W(J, \sigma)$, by [Mor1, Proposition 6.9], one obtains a number $p_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>1}$, which we will denote instead by $q_{\sigma,\alpha}$. We set

$$S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma} := \{ v(\alpha,J) \in S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}} \cap W(J,\sigma) : q_{\sigma,\alpha} > 1 \},$$

$$\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma} := \{ \alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}} : s_{\alpha} \in S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma} \},$$

$$\Omega(J,\sigma) := \{ w \in W(J,\sigma) : w(\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}) = \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma} \}.$$

Here $S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}$ is the set of simple reflections in an affine Coxeter group $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma)$. It is known from [Mor1, §7] that

(5.13)
$$W(J,\sigma) = W_{\text{aff}}(J,\sigma) \times \Omega(J,\sigma).$$

We warn the reader that $\Omega(J, \sigma)$ need not be contained in $\Omega(J)$. For any of the above groups, a subscript L means that they are constructed from L instead of G. In particular we have the Iwahori-Weyl group W_L of L and likewise $W_L(J, \sigma)$.

By [MoPr2, Theorem 6.11] or [Mor2, Theorem 4.5], $(P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ is a type in the sense of Bushnell–Kutzko, for a sum of finitely many Bernstein blocks in $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$, say $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(P_{\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)}$ Moreover every Bernstein block consisting of depth-zero representations arises in this way.

Lemma 5.3. (a) The category $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(P_L,\mathfrak{f},\sigma)}$ determines $(P_L,\mathfrak{f},\sigma)$ up to L-conjugacy. (b) Let $W(G,L)_{\sigma}$ be the stabilizer of $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(P_L,\mathfrak{f},\sigma)}$ in $N_G(L)/L$. The natural map $W(J,\sigma)/W_L(J,\sigma) \to W(G,L)_{\sigma}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. (a) Let $Irr(L)_{(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)}$ be the set of irreducible objects in $Rep(L)_{(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)}$. Since \mathfrak{f} becomes a vertex in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}_{ad},F)$, all these irreducible L-representations ω are supercuspidal and have depth zero [MoPr2, §6]. Each such ω has $(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)$ as unrefined minimal K-type in the sense of [MoPr1, MoPr2]. By [MoPr2, Theorem 5.2], ω determines $(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)$ up to L-conjugacy.

(b) Since J and S determine L and $Z_G(S) \subset L$, every element of

$$N_W(J) \subset N_G(S)/(Z_G(S) \cap P_{C_0})$$

normalizes L. The natural map $W(J, \sigma) \to N_G(L)/L$ has kernel

$$W_L(J,\sigma) = (W(J,\sigma) \cap N_L(S))/(Z_G(S) \cap P_{C_0}).$$

By definition, $W(J, \sigma)$ stabilizes $(P_{L, \mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$, so it stabilizes $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(P_{L, \mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)}$. Thus we obtain an injection

$$(5.14) W(J,\sigma)/W_L(J,\sigma) \hookrightarrow W(G,L)_{\sigma}.$$

Conversely, let $w \in W(G, L)_{\sigma}$. By part (a), w stabilizes the L-conjugacy class of $(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)$. Hence we can represent w by an element $n \in N_G(L,P_{L,\mathfrak{f}})$ that stabilizes σ . Then $n(Z_G(S) \cap P_{C_0}) \in W(J,\sigma)$, thus w lies in the image of (5.14).

6. q-parameters for Hecke algebras

Consider the Hecke algebra

$$\mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma) = \{ f : G \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{C}}(V_{\sigma}) \mid f(kgk') = \sigma(k)f(g)\sigma(k') \ \forall g \in G, k, k' \in P_{\mathfrak{f}} \}.$$

We note that this algebra is sometimes called $\mathcal{H}(G, \sigma^{\vee})$, for instance in [BuKu]. By [Mor2, Theorem 4.5] and [BuKu, Theorem 4.3], its category of right modules is equivalent to $\text{Rep}(G)_{(P_i,\sigma)}$.

Theorem 6.1 ([Mor1], Theorem 7.12). The algebra $\mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ has a basis $\{T_w : w \in W(J, \sigma)\}$ with T_w supported on $P_{\mathfrak{f}}wP_{\mathfrak{f}}$. There exist a parameter function $q_{\sigma} : S_{\mathfrak{f}, \mathrm{aff}, \sigma} \to \mathbb{Z}_{>1}$, and a 2-cocycle μ_{σ} of $W(J, \sigma)$ which factors through $\Omega(J, \sigma) \cong W(J, \sigma)/W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma)$, such that

(6.1)
$$\mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma) \cong \mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_{\sigma}) \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\Omega(J, \sigma), \mu_{\sigma}].$$

Here $\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma),q_{\sigma})$ denotes an Iwahori–Hecke algebra, $\mathbb{C}[\Omega(J,\sigma),\mu_{\sigma}]$ is a twisted group algebra and $T_{\omega}T_{s_{\alpha}}T_{\omega}^{-1} = T_{\omega s_{\alpha}\omega^{-1}}$, where $s_{\alpha} \in S_{\mathrm{f,aff},\sigma}$ and $\omega \in \Omega(J,\sigma)$.

For background on Iwahori–Hecke algebras and affine Hecke algebras we refer to [Sol4]. It is known that μ_{σ} is sometimes nontrivial, see [HeVi, Proposition 4.4]. All the parameters $q_{\sigma}(s)$ are powers of the cardinality q_F of k_F .

From now on, let σ be a non-singular cuspidal representation of $P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}=\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$. Thus, by definition, σ is an irreducible constituent of a Deligne–Lusztig representation $R^{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$, where $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is an elliptic maximal k_F -torus in $\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is a non-singular character of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$. (This is slightly more general than in Section 2, because $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is k_F -non-singular but we do not require F-non-singularity.) Since we are dealing with smooth complex G-representations, the values of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ must lie in \mathbb{C} . On the other hand, the techniques used in Deligne–Lusztig theory apply to representations of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -vector spaces, where ℓ is a prime number different from p. We fix an isomorphism $\mathbb{C} \cong \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$, so that we can regard $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ as taking values in both fields. Let $\mathcal{G}^{\vee}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be the dual group of $\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and let $s \in \mathcal{G}^{\vee}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ be an element in the semisimple conjugacy class corresponding to $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$. The non-singularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ means that $Z_{\mathcal{G}^{\vee}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(s)^{\circ}$ is a torus. Recall that $\Omega_s := \pi_0 \left(Z_{\mathcal{G}^{\vee}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(s) \right)$ is a finite abelian group.

In general, a Deligne–Lusztig representation is a virtual representation, but in our setting, by [DeLu, Theorem 8.3], $\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is an actual representation for a

suitable sign \pm . Moreover, Lusztig [Lus2, Proposition 5.1] showed that $\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is a direct sum of mutually inequivalent irreducible cuspidal representations, which can be parametrized as σ_{χ} , where $\sigma_1 = \sigma$ and χ runs through the characters of

(6.2)
$$\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} := W(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}.$$

Proposition 6.2. The full subcategory of $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F))$ generated by $\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is equivalent to $\operatorname{Rep}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})$.

Proof. Let $\operatorname{Rep}_s(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F))$ be the category of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$ -representations generated by the objects in the geometric Deligne–Lusztig series determined by $s \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\vee}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$. Let \mathcal{H} be the split reductive $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ -group dual to $\mathcal{H}^{\vee} := Z_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\vee}}(s)^{\circ}$. By the nonsingularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and s, both \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{H}^{\vee} are tori. By [LuYu, Corollary 12.7] ⁵, there exists a canonical equivalence of categories

(6.3)
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{s}(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})) \cong \bigoplus_{\beta} \operatorname{Rep}_{1}\left(\mathcal{H}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p})^{\operatorname{Frob}_{\beta}}\right)^{\Omega_{s,\beta}}.$$

Here β runs through a finite set that parametrizes certain k_F -forms of \mathcal{H} , which appear in the notation via a Frobenius action $\operatorname{Frob}_{\beta}$. They correspond to various rational Deligne–Lusztig series associated to s. The superscript $\Omega_{s,\beta}$ means equivariant objects, with respect to a (canonical up to canonical isomorphisms) action of the subgroup $\Omega_{s,\beta} \subset \Omega_s$ that stabilizes β . Since \mathcal{H} is a torus, the category $\operatorname{Rep}_1(\mathcal{H}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)^{\operatorname{Frob}_{\beta}})$ consists precisely of all multiples τ of the trivial representation of $\mathcal{H}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)^{\operatorname{Frob}_{\beta}}$. An $\Omega_{s,\beta}$ -equivariant structure on such a representation τ consists of a collection of morphisms $\tau \to \omega \cdot \tau$ for ω running through the appropriate extension of $\Omega_{s,\beta}$ by $\mathcal{H}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)^{\operatorname{Frob}_{\beta}}$, compatible with the group structure of that extension. However, since $\tau(\mathcal{H}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)^{\operatorname{Frob}_{\beta}}) = \mathrm{id}$, the extension can be ignored and we only need morphisms $\tau \to \omega \cdot \tau$ for $\omega \in \Omega_{s,\beta}$. In other words, An $\Omega_{s,\beta}$ -equivariant structure on τ just means that it is upgraded to an $\Omega_{s,\beta}$ -representation. Thus (6.3) simplifies to an equivalence of categories

(6.4)
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{s}(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})) \cong \bigoplus_{\beta} \operatorname{Rep}(\Omega_{s,\beta}).$$

The representation $\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ generates a unique rational Deligne–Lusztig series in (6.4), and the associated β satisfies $\Omega_{s,\beta} \cong \Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$.

We now analyze the q-parameters in Theorem 6.1, and express them more explicitly. Consider $\alpha \in \Delta_{\text{aff}} \setminus J$. By the observations in [Mor1, §3], there exists a unique facet \mathfrak{f}_{α} of \mathfrak{f} , such that the associated parahoric subgroup $P_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}$ has set of simple affine roots $J \cup \{\alpha\}$. The group $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_F) = P_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}/U_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}$ contains $P_{\mathfrak{f}}/U_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}$ as a parabolic subgroup $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)$ with Levi factor $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F) = P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$. The quotient $G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}/G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F)$, where \mathcal{U}_{α} denotes the root subgroup of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}$ associated to α . By [Mor1, §6.7–6.9], the number $q_{\sigma,\alpha}$ from (5.12) can be computed (whenever defined) from $\inf_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}(\sigma)$, thus entirely in terms of connected algebraic groups over finite fields.

⁵Strictly speaking, [LuYu, Corollary 12.7] gives (6.3) with, in addition, fixed cells on both sides, but one can sum over all cells for $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$ to obtain the desired (6.3) as stated.

Recall from §5 that S defines a maximal k_F -split torus in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$, and that $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is a maximal k_F -torus in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$. By [BrTi, Proposition 5.1.10.b] and [DeB, Lemma 2.3.1], $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ can be lifted to an \mathfrak{o}_F -torus in $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$. We fix one such lift, so that we can view $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ as an \mathfrak{o}_F -torus which splits over an unramified extension of F. Since $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{o}_F) \subset P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ normalizes $P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and $P_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}$, hence it normalizes their pro-unipotent radicals $G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$ and $G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+}$. Thus $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{o}_F)$ normalizes $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F) = P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+}$ and its unipotent radical $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F) = G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}/G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+}$. In particular,

(6.5)
$$\alpha \in \Delta_{\text{aff}} \setminus J$$
 can be viewed as a root of \mathcal{T}_{f} ,

and it is defined over \mathfrak{o}_F because \mathcal{U}_{α} is defined over \mathfrak{o}_F . This also shows that s_{α} can be represented in $N_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$.

$$\mathbf{Lemma~6.3.}~(a)~\pm R^{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}(k_F)}_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) = \bigoplus_{\chi \in \mathrm{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})} \mathrm{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}(k_F)}(\sigma_{\chi}).$$

(b) The representations $\inf_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\sigma_{\chi})$ and $\inf_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\sigma_{\chi'})$ with $\chi \neq \chi' \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})$ do not have any irreducible subquotients in common.

Proof. (a) This follows from the description of $\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ above (6.2), combined with the transitivity of Deligne–Lusztig induction as in [DiMi, §11.5].

(b) By Frobenius reciprocity and the Mackey formula, $\inf_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\sigma_{\chi})$ and $\inf_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\sigma_{\chi'})$ can only have common irreducible constituents if $\sigma_{\chi'}$ is isomorphic to σ_{χ} or to $s_{\alpha} \cdot \sigma_{\chi}$. We already noted in the paragraph above (6.2) that, by [Lus2, Proposition 5.1], $\sigma_{\chi} \not\cong \sigma_{\chi'}$. Thus the only remaining possibility is if $\sigma_{\chi'}$ is isomorphic to $s_{\alpha} \cdot \sigma_{\chi}$.

By Proposition 6.2, $\pm R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ generates a full subcategory \mathcal{C} of $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F))$ that is equivalent to $\operatorname{Rep}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})$. Suppose s_{α} maps some element of \mathcal{C} into \mathcal{C} . Then $s_{\alpha} \in N_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ must fix $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and s_{α} stabilizes \mathcal{C} . For $\omega \in \Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$, $\omega s_{\alpha} \omega^{-1} \in W(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ is a reflection associated to a root defined over k_F . By ellipticity of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$, $\omega s_{\alpha} \omega^{-1}$ must equal s_{α} . Hence s_{α} commutes with $\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$, and thus the action of s_{α} on $\mathcal{C} \cong \operatorname{Rep}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})$ is trivial. In particular, $s_{\alpha} \cdot \sigma_{\chi} \cong \sigma_{\chi}$, which is not isomorphic to $\sigma_{\chi'}$.

Let \mathcal{B} be a Borel subgroup (not necessarily defined over k_F) of $\mathcal{G}_{f\alpha}^{\circ}$, such that $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}$. Let \mathcal{L}_{α} be the k_F -subgroup of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}$ generated by $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cup \mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \cup \mathcal{U}_{-\alpha}$. It is a twisted Levi subgroup of $\mathcal{G}_{f\alpha}^{\circ}$. Let

(6.6)
$$R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}}:\operatorname{Rep}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F}))\to\operatorname{Rep}(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_{F}))$$

denote the Deligne–Lusztig induction functor. By transitivity of Deligne–Lusztig induction [DiMi, §11.5], there are natural isomorphisms

(6.7)
$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})} R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) = R_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}\subset\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}} R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset\mathcal{B}\cap\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \\ \cong R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cong R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\subset\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}} R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\cap\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \\ = R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\subset\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}} \operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\cap\mathcal{B})(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}).$$

Notice that $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}} \ltimes \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}$ is defined over k_F .

Lemma 6.4. There are canonical algebra isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}\subset\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}\right)\cong\bigoplus_{\chi\in\operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})}\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\sigma_{\chi}\right)$$
$$\cong\bigoplus_{\chi\in\operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})}\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\cap\mathcal{B})(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}\right).$$

Proof. The first isomorphism follows from Lemma 6.3. By (6.7), we obtain

$$\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}\right)\cong\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\subset\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}\operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\cap\mathcal{B})(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})\right).$$

By functoriality of $R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\subset\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\alpha}^{\circ}}$, the algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\cap\mathcal{B})(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}\right)$ embeds in $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}\right)$. Let pr_{χ} denote the projection

$$\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}\right)\rightarrow\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\sigma_{\chi}\right)$$

obtained from the first isomorphism in the statement. We have

$$\operatorname{pr}_{\chi} R^{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}}_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f}, \alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}(A) \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}(k_{F})} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{f}, \alpha}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}(k_{F})} \sigma_{\chi} \right) \text{ for } A \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{B})(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})} \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \right).$$
By construction, we have

$$R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f}, \alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}(A) = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{t}})} \operatorname{pr}_{\chi} R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f}, \alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}(A),$$

and $\operatorname{pr}_{\chi} R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f}, \alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}(A)$ is invertible if A is so. Since $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$ is a maximal Levi subgroup of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}$ and s_{α} stabilizes σ_{χ} , we have $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_F)} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_F)} \sigma_{\chi} \right) = 2$. Comparing dimensions, we see that $\bigoplus_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})} \operatorname{pr}_{\chi} R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}}$ is an algebra isomorphism

$$(6.8) \quad \bigoplus_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})} \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{B})(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_{F})} \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \right) \to \bigoplus_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\Omega_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}})} \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})} \left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})} \sigma_{\chi} \right). \quad \Box$$

Using Lemma 6.4, we can simplify the computation of the parameter function q_{σ} from Theorem 6.1. Recall the notations $w_{J\cup\alpha}$ and $v(\alpha, J)$ from (5.7).

Lemma 6.5. Let $\alpha \in \Delta_{\text{aff}} \setminus J$ be such that $w_{J \cup \alpha}(J) = -J$. Then:

- (a) $s_{\alpha} \cdot \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ if and only if $v(\alpha, J) \cdot \sigma \cong \sigma$.
- (b) Suppose that $v(\alpha, J) \in W(J, \sigma)$. The parameter $q_{\sigma,\alpha} := q_{\sigma}(v(\alpha, J))$ equals the parameter $q_{\theta,\alpha} := q_{\theta}(s_{\alpha})$ computed from $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$, $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F)$.

Proof. (a) By [HoLe, Corollary 2.3 and Proposition 3.9], $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_F)}\sigma\right)$ has dimension two if $v(\alpha, J) \cdot \sigma \cong \sigma$ and has dimension one otherwise. By Lemma 6.4, $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}\alpha}^{\circ}(k_F)}\sigma\right)$ is naturally isomorphic to $\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}\cap\mathcal{B})(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F)}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}\right)$. Again by [HoLe], the latter algebra has dimension two if $s_{\alpha} \cdot \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and has dimension one otherwise.

(b) By the construction of $\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma),q_{\sigma}), T_{v(\alpha,J)}$ satisfies a quadratic relation

(6.9)
$$(T_{v(\alpha,J)} + 1)(T_{v(\alpha,J)} - q_{\sigma,\alpha}) \text{ with } q_{\sigma,\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}.$$

We can view $T_{v(\alpha,J)}$ as an element of

$$\mathcal{H}(P_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}/G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+},P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+},\sigma) = \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F}),\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_{F}),\sigma) \cong \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}\sigma\right)$$
 supported on

$$(P_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}\setminus P_{\mathfrak{f}})/G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+}=P_{\mathfrak{f}}s_{\alpha}P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha},0+}=\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)s_{\alpha}\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F)=\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_F)\setminus\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha}(k_F).$$

Via Lemma 6.4, $T_{v(\alpha,J)}$ corresponds to an element $\operatorname{pr}_1 R_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{f},\alpha} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}^{\alpha}}^{\circ}}(N_{s_{\alpha}})$, where $N_{s_{\alpha}} \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{B})(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F)}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$. The support condition on $T_{v(\alpha,J)}$ translates via (6.8) to

$$\operatorname{supp} N_{s_{\alpha}} \subset \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F) \setminus (\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{B})(k_F) = \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F) \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) s_{\alpha} \mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F).$$

The standard basis element $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ of $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F), (\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{B})(k_F), \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ also has support $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F)\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)s_{\alpha}\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F)$, and satisfies a quadratic relation

(6.10)
$$(T_{s_{\alpha}} + 1)(T_{s_{\alpha}} - q_{\theta,\alpha}) = 0 \text{ with } q_{\theta,\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 1}.$$

The elements of $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F), (\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{B})(k_F), \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ with support $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F)\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)s_{\alpha}\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}(k_F)$ form a one-dimensional space, so $N_{s_{\alpha}} = \lambda T_{s_{\alpha}}$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. Comparing (6.9) and (6.10), we deduce that $\lambda = 1$ and $q_{\sigma,\alpha} = q_{\theta,\alpha} \geq 1$ or $\lambda = -1$ and $q_{\sigma,\alpha} = q_{\theta,\alpha} = 1$. \square

In some cases, the parameters $q_{\sigma,\alpha} = q_{\theta,\alpha}$ automatically reduce to 1. The next result must have been well-known to experts for a long time, but we could not find a reference, so we record it here for later use.

Proposition 6.6. In the setting of Lemma 6.5, let k_{α}/k_{F} be a finite field extension over which α splits, and let $N_{k_{\alpha}/k_{F}}: \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{\alpha}) \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})$ be the norm map. Suppose that $s_{\alpha}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ but $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \circ N_{k_{\alpha}/k_{F}} \circ \alpha^{\vee} \neq 1$. Then $q_{\theta,\alpha} = 1$.

Proof. This is a statement about the reductive k_F -group \mathcal{L}_{α} . To compute $q_{\theta,\alpha}$, for instance as in [HoLe], we only need the derived group $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha,\text{der}}(k_F)$. By the classification of quasi-split rank one semisimple groups, $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha,\text{der}}$ is obtained by restriction of scalars from one of the groups: SL_2 , PGL_2 , SU_3 , PU_3 . Hence it suffices to consider these four groups, over an arbitrary finite field that we still call k_F .

First we look at $SU_3(k_{\alpha}/k_F)$, for a quadratic extension k_{α}/k_F with non-trivial field automorphism denoted by $x \mapsto \bar{x}$. In this case,

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) = \{ x \in (k_{\alpha}^{\times})^3 : x_3 = \bar{x_1}^{-1}, x_2 = \bar{x_1}x_1^{-1} \},$$

and s_{α} exchanges x_1 with x_3 . Projection to the first coordinate gives an isomorphism $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) \xrightarrow{\sim} k_{\alpha}^{\times}$. Let $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(k_{\alpha}^{\times})$ be the character corresponding to $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ via this isomorphism. The condition $s_{\alpha}\theta_{\mathfrak{f}} = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ translates to $1 = \chi(x_1)\chi(\bar{x_1})^1 = \chi(x_1\bar{x_1})$. On the other hand,

$$N_{k_{\alpha}/k_{F}} \circ \alpha^{\vee}(x_{1}) = N_{k_{\alpha}/k_{F}}((x_{1}, 1, x_{1}^{-1})) = (x_{1}\bar{x}_{1}, 1, (x_{1}\bar{x}_{1})^{-1}).$$

Thus $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \circ N_{k_{\alpha}/k_F} \circ \alpha^{\vee} = 1$, and the assumptions of the lemma are not fulfilled.

For $\mathrm{PU}_3(k_{\alpha}/k_F)$, the maximal torus $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ is isomorphic to k_{α}^{\times} via $(x_1, x_2, x_3) \mapsto x_1 x_2^{-1}$. The same arguments as for $\mathrm{SU}_3(k_{\alpha}/k_F)$ apply.

Next we consider the split group $\operatorname{PGL}_2(k_F)$. We may identify $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ with $\{\begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} : x \in k_F^{\times} \}$. The calculation

$$1 = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(\begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix})\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(s_{\alpha}\begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix})^{-1}) = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(\begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x^{-1} \end{pmatrix}) = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(\alpha^{\vee}(x))$$

shows that again the assumption of the lemma cannot be fulfilled.

Finally we study $SL_2(k_F)$, with its maximal torus

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{f}}(k_F) = \{ \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x^{-1} \end{pmatrix} : x \in k_F^{\times} \} \cong k_F^{\times}.$$

Writing $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(\begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x^{-1} \end{pmatrix}) = \chi(x)$, we have

$$1 = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(\left(\begin{smallmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x^{-1} \end{smallmatrix}\right))\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(s_{\alpha}\left(\begin{smallmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x^{-1} \end{smallmatrix}\right))^{-1} = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}(\left(\begin{smallmatrix} x^2 & 0 \\ 0 & x^{-2} \end{smallmatrix}\right)) = \chi(x^2).$$

Since $1 \neq \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \circ \alpha^{\vee} = \chi$, χ must be the Legendre symbol of k_F^{\times} , its unique order two character. Now we really have to compute in $\mathbb{C}[\operatorname{SL}_2(k_F)]$. To do so, we introduce the following idempotents:

$$\begin{array}{rclcrcl} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle & = & |k_F|^{-1} \sum_{x \in k_F} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & 1 \end{smallmatrix} \right), & p_{\chi} & = & |k_F^{\times}|^{-1} \sum_{x \in k_F^{\times}} \chi(x) \left(\begin{smallmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x^{-1} \end{smallmatrix} \right) \\ \langle U_{-\alpha} \rangle & = & |k_F|^{-1} \sum_{x \in k_F} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ x & 1 \end{smallmatrix} \right), & T_e & = & p_{\chi} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle. \end{array}$$

Note that p_{χ} commutes with $\langle U_{\alpha} \rangle$, $\langle U_{-\alpha} \rangle$ and s_{α} , because $\chi^2 = 1$. The operator $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ is a scalar multiple of $T'_{s_{\alpha}} = \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle s_{\alpha} p_{\chi} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle$. We compute:

$$T_{s_{\alpha}}^{'2} = \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle s_{\alpha} p_{\chi} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle p_{\chi} s_{\alpha} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle = \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle s_{\alpha} p_{\chi} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle s_{\alpha} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle = \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle p_{\chi} \langle U_{-\alpha} \rangle \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle$$

$$= \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle p_{\chi} |k_{F}|^{-1} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle + \sum_{x \in k_{F}^{\times}} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle p_{\chi} |k_{F}|^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ x & 1 \end{pmatrix} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle$$

$$= |k_{F}|^{-1} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle p_{\chi} + |k_{F}|^{-1} \sum_{x \in k_{F}^{\times}} p_{\chi} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -x^{-1} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ x & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -x^{-1} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle$$

$$= |k_{F}|^{-1} T_{e} + |k_{F}|^{-1} \sum_{x \in k_{F}^{\times}} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle p_{\chi} \begin{pmatrix} x^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & x \end{pmatrix} s_{\alpha} \langle U_{\alpha} \rangle = |k_{F}|^{-1} T_{e}.$$

Hence $T_{s\alpha}^2 \in \mathbb{C}T_e$, and the quadratic equation (6.10) simplifies to

$$0 = (T_{s_{\alpha}} + 1)(T_{s_{\alpha}} - 1).$$

That means precisely that $q_{\theta,\alpha} = 1$.

We denote the linear part of an affine root α by $D\alpha$, and write

(6.11)
$$\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma} := \{ D\alpha : \alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}}, \ v(\alpha,J) \in W(J,\sigma) \}.$$

Note that $D(\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}) \subset \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma} \subset D(\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}})$. By (6.5), $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$ can also be viewed as a set of \mathfrak{o}_F -rational roots of $(\mathcal{G},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$. We define the \mathfrak{o}_F -torus

(6.12)
$$\mathcal{T}_{\sigma} = \left(\bigcap_{\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathbf{f},\sigma}} \ker \alpha|_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{f}}}\right)^{\circ} \subset \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{f}}.$$

In many cases (but not always), \mathcal{T}_{σ} is F-anisotropic. Now

$$\mathcal{G}_{\sigma} := Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\sigma})$$

is a reductive F-subgroup of \mathcal{G} . More precisely, it is a twisted Levi subgroup that becomes an actual Levi subgroup over every field extension of F that splits \mathcal{T}_{σ} .

Lemma 6.7. The group \mathcal{G}_{σ} is F-quasisplit and contains the torus $\mathcal{T} := Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ as a minimal F-Levi subgroup.

Proof. By the maximality of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$, $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is a maximal unramified torus in \mathcal{G} . Since \mathcal{G} becomes quasi-split over a maximal unramified extension of F, \mathcal{T} is a maximal F-torus in \mathcal{G} . The maximal F-split subtorus \mathcal{T}_s of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is generated by $Z(\mathcal{G}) \cap \mathcal{T}_s$ and the images of the coroots α^{\vee} with $\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$ (which are defined over F), so is contained in \mathcal{S} . Since $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is the maximal unramified torus in \mathcal{T} , \mathcal{T}_s is also the maximal F-split subtorus of \mathcal{T} . Furthermore, $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is generated by $\mathcal{T}_s \cup \mathcal{T}_{\sigma}$, so $\mathcal{T} = Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\sigma}\mathcal{T}_s) = Z_{\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}}(\mathcal{T}_s)$. Hence the centralizer in \mathcal{G}_{σ} of a maximal F-split torus containing \mathcal{T}_s is contained

in the torus \mathcal{T} , and is itself a torus. At the same time, that centralizer is a Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G}_{σ} , so it is a minimal Levi subgroup and a maximal torus. We conclude that the torus \mathcal{T} is a minimal F-Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G}_{σ} .

Since $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is elliptic in $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$, and \mathcal{L} is an F-Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G} minimal for the property $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ} = \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$, the torus $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is elliptic in \mathcal{L} . Since $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is the maximal unramified subtorus of \mathcal{T} , Lemma 6.7 implies that \mathcal{T} is an elliptic maximal torus in \mathcal{L} (so we are back in the setting from §2). In other words, $\mathcal{T}/Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}$ is F-anistropic. Then \mathcal{T}_{s} equals the maximal F-split subtorus of $Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}$.

By Lemma 6.7, there is a unique apartment of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}, F)$ associated to \mathcal{T} and its maximal F-split subtorus $\mathcal{T}_s \subset \mathcal{S}$. We call that apartment \mathbb{A}_T . From the inclusion

$$(6.14) A_T = X_*(\mathcal{T}_s) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \subset X_*(\mathcal{S}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} =: A_S$$

and the W-invariant metric on \mathbb{A}_S , we obtain a projection

$$(6.15) A_S \to A_T \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}, F).$$

Lemma 6.8. The intersection $\mathcal{G}_{\sigma} \cap \mathcal{L}$ equals $\mathcal{T} = Z_{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{T}_{f})$.

Proof. Since σ lies in the series in $Irr(\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F))$ parametrized by $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F), \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$, and $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$ equals $P_{L,\mathfrak{f}}/L_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$, the \mathfrak{o}_F -group $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ can be realized in \mathcal{L} . Then $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is a maximal unramified torus of \mathcal{L} , and $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}$ is an F-torus in \mathcal{L} . Hence

$$(6.16) Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ} \subset Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}) = \mathcal{T} \subset Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\sigma}) \cap Z_{\mathcal{G}}(Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}) = \mathcal{G}_{\sigma} \cap \mathcal{L}.$$

Consequently, $\mathcal{G}_{\sigma} \cap \mathcal{L} = Z_{\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}}(Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ})$ is an F-Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G}_{σ} . By definition, R(L, S) consists of the roots in R(G, S) that are constant on \mathfrak{f} . Hence $R(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ consists of roots that are constant on the image of \mathfrak{f} in \mathbb{A}_T via (6.15).

For any $\alpha = D\alpha' \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$, the reflection $s_{\alpha'}$ of \mathbb{A}_S stabilizes $\mathbb{Q}J$ and the span of \mathfrak{f} . Hence it also stabilizes the orthogonal complement \mathfrak{f}^{\perp} of the span of \mathfrak{f} in \mathbb{A}_S . As α' is not constant on \mathfrak{f} , this is only possible if $\alpha|_{\mathfrak{f}^{\perp}} = 0$. Thus $R(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ and $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$ are orthogonal: the first is constant on the span of \mathfrak{f} while the second has \mathfrak{f}^{\perp} in its joint kernel. Consequently,

$$\mathcal{T}_{\sigma}Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ} = \left(\bigcap_{\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{t},\sigma}} \ker \alpha|_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}}\right)^{\circ} \left(\bigcap_{\alpha \in R(\mathcal{L},\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{t}})} \ker \alpha|_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}}\right)^{\circ}$$

equals $\mathcal{T}_f Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}$. From this and (6.16) we deduce that

$$\mathcal{G}_{\sigma} \cap \mathcal{L} = Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\sigma}) \cap Z_{\mathcal{G}}(Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}) = Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\sigma}Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ})$$

equals
$$Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}Z(\mathcal{L})^{\circ}) = Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cap \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{T}.$$

By the definition of \mathcal{T}_{σ} , we have $R(\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}) = \mathbb{Q}\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma} \cap X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$. Since \mathcal{G}_{σ} is quasisplit and $Z_{\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}) = \mathcal{T}$, this gives $R(\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}, \mathcal{T}) = \{\alpha \in \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T}) : \alpha | \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}} \in \mathbb{Q}\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}\}$. Let $P_{G_{\sigma},\mathfrak{f}} = G_{\sigma} \cap P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be the parahoric subgroup of G_{σ} associated to the image of \mathfrak{f} in \mathbb{A}_T . Then, similar to (5.3), we have $P_{G_{\sigma},\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\sigma,\mathfrak{f},0+} \cong P_{T,\mathfrak{f}}/T_{\mathfrak{f},0+} \cong \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$. In particular, $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ can be inflated to an irreducible representation of $P_{G_{\sigma},\mathfrak{f}}$, and we can consider the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G_{\sigma},P_{G_{\sigma},\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$. The cuspidal support of the Bernstein component $\mathrm{Irr}(G_{\sigma})_{(P_{G_{\sigma},\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$ is $\mathrm{Irr}(T)_{(P_{T,\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$, so $\mathrm{Rep}(G_{\sigma})_{(P_{G_{\sigma},\mathfrak{f}},\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})}$ is a Bernstein block in the principal series of the quasi-split group G_{σ} .

Proposition 6.9. (a) There exists a canonical bijection between $W(J, \sigma) \cap S_{f, \text{aff}}$ and $W(\emptyset, \theta_f) \cap (S_{f, \text{aff}} \text{ for } G_{\sigma})$, which preserves the q-parameters in $\mathbb{Z}_{>1}$.

(b) Part (a) induces an isomorphism between the affine root systems of $\mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ and $\mathcal{H}(G_{\sigma}, P_{G_{\sigma}, \mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$, such that the parameter functions on both sides agree.

(c) Part (b) induces an algebra isomorphism $\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma),q_{\sigma}) \cong \mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(\emptyset,\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}),q_{\theta}).$

Proof. (a) It is clear from the definitions of \mathcal{T}_{σ} and \mathcal{G}_{σ} that $\Delta_{f,aff}$ for G_{σ} is contained in $\Delta_{f,aff}$ for G. By construction, $R(L,S) = R(G,S) \cap \mathbb{Q}D(J)$, and by Lemma 6.8,

$$R(L,S) \cap R(G_{\sigma},S) = R(T,S) = \emptyset.$$

Hence $\mathbb{Q}D(J) \cap R(G_{\sigma}, S) = \emptyset$, and the elements of J are constant functions on $\mathbb{A}_T \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{\sigma, \text{der}}, F)$. In particular, Δ_{aff} for G_{σ} is contained in $\Delta_{\text{aff}} \setminus J$ for G.

For $\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}}$ such that $w_{J\cup\alpha}(J) \neq -J$, s_{α} does not stabilize $\mathbb{Q}J$, and hence does not stabilize the span of \mathfrak{f} in \mathbb{A}_S . It follows that s_{α} cannot stabilize the image of \mathfrak{f} in \mathbb{A}_T , and hence cannot define an element of $S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}}$ for G_{σ} .

For $\alpha \in \Delta_{f,aff}$ such that $W_{J \cup \alpha}(J) = -J$, the proof of Lemma 6.3 shows that

$$s_{\alpha} \cdot \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} = \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \Longleftrightarrow s_{\alpha} \cdot R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cong R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$$

$$\iff v(J,\alpha) \cdot R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cong R_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_{F})}^{\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_{F})}(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \iff v(J,\alpha) \cdot \sigma \cong \sigma.$$

This provides the required bijection.

(b) The group $W_{\rm aff}(J) = \langle S_{\mathfrak{f}, {\rm aff}} \rangle$ is realized in [Mor1, Theorem 2.7] as an affine Weyl group via its action on $D(J)^{\perp} \subset \mathbb{A}_S$. On $D(J)^{\perp}$, $v(\alpha, J)$ coincides with s_{α} , so the bijection from part (a) extends to a group isomorphism

$$(6.17) \langle W(J,\sigma) \cap S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}} \rangle \cong \langle W(\emptyset,\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cap (S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}} \text{ for } G_{\sigma}) \rangle.$$

The data $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$, $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F)$ used in Lemma 6.5 (b) are the same for \mathcal{G} and for \mathcal{G}_{σ} . Hence that lemma implies that $q_{\sigma}(v(\alpha, J))$ equals $q_{\theta}(s_{\alpha})$, where the latter is computed from $(G_{\sigma}, P_{G_{\sigma}, \mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$.

(c) This is a direct consequence of part (b).
$$\Box$$

Proposition 6.9 says that $\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma),q_{\sigma})$ is naturally isomorphic to the Iwahori–Hecke algebra from a Bernstein block of principal series representations of a quasi-split reductive p-adic group. Hecke algebras and the local Langlands correspondence for such representations were analyzed in detail in [Sol10].

For $\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$ we write $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha} := (\ker \alpha|_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}})^{\circ} \subset \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha} := Z_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{T}_{\alpha})$. Then \mathcal{G}_{α} is a Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G}_{σ} containing \mathcal{T} , so in particular $G_{\alpha} = \mathcal{G}_{\alpha}(F)$ is quasi-split. Furthermore, since α is defined over F, we have

$$(6.18) \quad R(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{T}) = \{ \beta \in R(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T}) : \beta|_{\mathcal{T}_{f}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\times} \alpha \} = \{ \beta \in R(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{T}) : \beta|_{\mathcal{T}_{s}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\times} \alpha \}.$$

The data $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$, $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(k_F)$ figuring in Lemma 6.5 can be constructed from G_{α} equally well as from G_{σ} or G. Analogous to Proposition 6.9, this gives the following.

Corollary 6.10. The parameter $q_{\sigma}(v(\alpha, J)) = q_{\theta}(s_{\alpha})$ equals the q-parameter for s_{α} in $\mathcal{H}(G_{\alpha}, P_{G_{\alpha}, f}, \theta_{f})$.

7. The Hecke algebra of a non-singular depth-zero Bernstein block

We continue the conventions from Section 6, in particular, σ is a non-singular cuspidal representation of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F) = P_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$. Let $\hat{\sigma}$ be an irreducible representation of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F) = \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/G_{\mathfrak{f},0+}$ whose restriction to $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}(k_F)$ contains σ .

Theorem 7.1 ([MoPr2, Mor2]). The pair $(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ is a type for a single Bernstein block $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})} \subset \operatorname{Rep}(G)$. Moreover $(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ is a cover of the type $(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$.

For general results about types and their G-covers, we refer the reader to [BuKu]. For our use, here we record in particular an equivalence of categories

(7.1)
$$\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})} \cong \operatorname{Mod} - \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma}),$$

where Mod - \mathcal{R} denotes the category of right \mathcal{R} -modules.

Since $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is abelian by Lemma 5.1 (a), every alternative $\hat{\sigma}'$ is isomorphic to $\chi \otimes \hat{\sigma}$ for some (not necessarily unique) character χ of $\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}^{\circ}$. In particular, the multiplicity $m(\hat{\sigma}, \sigma)$ of $\hat{\sigma}$ in $\operatorname{ind}_{P_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\sigma)$, which equals the multiplicity of σ in $\hat{\sigma}$, is independent of the choice of $\hat{\sigma}$. Therefore, we have

(7.2)
$$\operatorname{ind}_{P_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\sigma) \cong \mathbb{C}^{m(\hat{\sigma},\sigma)} \otimes \bigoplus_{\hat{\sigma} \text{ contains } \sigma} \hat{\sigma} \quad \text{and}$$

(7.3)
$$\mathcal{H}(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma) = \operatorname{End}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{P_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\sigma)\right) \cong M_{m(\hat{\sigma}, \sigma)}(\mathbb{C}) \otimes \bigoplus_{\hat{\sigma} \text{ contains } \sigma} \mathbb{C} \operatorname{id}_{V_{\hat{\sigma}}}.$$

Recall moreover from [BuKu] that there are natural algebra isomorphisms

(7.4)
$$\mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma) \cong \operatorname{End}_{G}(\operatorname{ind}_{P_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G}(\sigma)) = \operatorname{End}_{G}(\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G}\operatorname{ind}_{P_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\sigma)) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) \cong \operatorname{End}_{G}(\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G}(\hat{\sigma})).$$

We choose a decomposition of \hat{P}_{f} -representations

(7.5)
$$\operatorname{ind}_{P_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\sigma) = \hat{\sigma} \oplus \hat{\pi}.$$

By (7.2) and (7.4), we see that (7.5) induces an algebra embedding

(7.6)
$$\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{f}, \hat{\sigma}) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G, P_{f}, \sigma),$$

as already noted in [Mor2, p. 150]. The unit element T_e of $\mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ can be identified with $\sigma: P_{\mathfrak{f}} \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{C}}(V_{\sigma})$. Let $\hat{T}_e \in \mathcal{H}(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ be the minimal idempotent whose kernel is $\hat{\pi}$ and whose image equals $\hat{\sigma}$ as in (7.5). Then $\hat{T}_e \in \mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ is the image of the unit element of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ via (7.6).

Let $G_{\mathfrak{f},\hat{\sigma}}$ be the stabilizer of $\hat{\sigma} \in \operatorname{Irr}(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ in $G_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and let $\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$ denote its image in

(7.7)
$$\Omega(J,\sigma)\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cong \Omega(J,\sigma)\Omega^{0}_{\mathfrak{f}}/\Omega^{0}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cong \Omega(J,\sigma)/\Omega^{0}_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}.$$

Note that by Lemma 5.1 (b), $\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$ is isomorphic to a lattice in $X_*(Z(G)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 7.2. There are algebra isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) \cong \hat{T}_e \mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma) \hat{T}_e \cong \mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_{\sigma}) \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\Omega(J, \hat{\sigma}), \mu_{\hat{\sigma}}].$$

The support of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ is $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma) \rtimes \Omega(J, \hat{\sigma}))\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and this algebra has a basis indexed by $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma) \rtimes \Omega(J, \hat{\sigma})$.

Proof. The first isomorphism follows from (7.5) and the construction of \hat{T}_e . The support of $\hat{T}_e \in \mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ is $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}, \sigma}/P_{\mathfrak{f}} = \Omega^0_{\mathfrak{f}, \sigma}$, which by Lemma 5.2 is central in $W(J, \sigma)$. By the multiplication relations in Theorem 6.1, \hat{T}_e commutes with each $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ and hence with $\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_{\sigma})$. By Theorem 6.1, we deduce

(7.8)
$$\hat{T}_e \mathcal{H}(G, P_f, \sigma) \hat{T}_e \cong \mathcal{H}(W_{\text{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_\sigma) \rtimes \hat{T}_e \mathbb{C}[\Omega(J, \sigma), \mu_\sigma] \hat{T}_e.$$

Here $\hat{T}_e\mathbb{C}[\Omega(J,\sigma),\mu_\sigma]\hat{T}_e$ is isomorphic to the subalgebra of $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ supported on $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}=\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$, so it equals $\mathcal{H}(\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ and has a basis indexed by $\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}/\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}=\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$. This shows the claims about the support and a basis of $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$. For any $g\in\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}\subset G_{\mathfrak{f}}$, an element $\hat{T}_g\in\mathcal{H}(\Omega(J,\sigma)\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ with support $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}g\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is determined by a nonzero element

(7.9)
$$\hat{T}_g(g) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{P}_{L,i}}(\hat{\sigma}, g \cdot \hat{\sigma})$$

unique up to scalars, and $\hat{T}_g(g)^{-1} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{P}_{L,f}}(\hat{\sigma}, g^{-1} \cdot \hat{\sigma})$ determines an element $\hat{T}_{g^{-1}}$ which is the inverse of \hat{T}_g . Furthermore, $\hat{T}_g\hat{T}_h \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}\hat{T}_{gh}$ by uniqueness up to scalars. We do this for g running through a set of representatives \dot{g} for $\Omega(J, \hat{\sigma})$. The formula

(7.10)
$$\hat{T}_{\dot{g}}\hat{T}_{\dot{h}} = \mu_{\hat{\sigma}}(\dot{g}, \dot{h})\hat{T}_{\dot{q}\dot{h}}$$

defines a 2-cocycle $\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}$ on $\Omega(J, \hat{\sigma})$. The cocycle relation follows from the associativity of $\mathcal{H}(\Omega(J, \sigma)\hat{P}_{\mathbf{f}}, \hat{P}_{\mathbf{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$.

Theorem 7.2 also tells us that the stabilizer of $\hat{\sigma} \in \operatorname{Irr}(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}})$ in $W(J,\sigma)\Omega^0_{\mathfrak{f}}/\Omega^0_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is

(7.11)
$$W(J, \hat{\sigma}) := W_{\text{aff}}(J, \sigma) \rtimes \Omega(J, \hat{\sigma}).$$

7.1. The supercuspidal case.

To better understand the isomorphisms in Theorem 7.2, we first assume that the associated Bernstein block of G consists only of supercuspidal representations. This happens if and only if \mathfrak{f} is a minimal facet of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G},F)$. In this case $\mathcal{L}=\mathcal{G}$ and $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma)$ is trivial. We will treat the general case in §7.2.

Corollary 7.3. Suppose that f is a minimal facet of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F)$. Then

$$\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\hat{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) \cong \mathbb{C}[W(J, \hat{\sigma}), \mu_{\hat{\sigma}}].$$

Proof. The minimality of \mathfrak{f} implies that $\Delta_{\mathrm{aff}} \setminus J$ contains at most one element from each F-simple factor of G. Hence $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff}}$ is empty and $|W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma)|=1$. By (7.11), $\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$ equals $W(J,\hat{\sigma})$. Now the isomorphism is clear by Theorem 7.2.

Note that in the special case where σ is moreover regular, a more precise version of Corollary 7.3 was already known in [Oha1, Corollary 5.5].

We now make the supercuspidal G-representations arising from $(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ more explicit. Let σ' be an irreducible representation of $G_{\mathfrak{f}}$ whose restriction to $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ contains $\hat{\sigma}$. By [MoPr2, Propositions 6.6 and 6.8], we know that

(7.12)
$$\tau := \operatorname{ind}_{G_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G}(\sigma')$$

is an irreducible supercuspidal G-representation, and that every object of $\operatorname{Irr}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\sharp},\hat{\sigma})}$ is of this form for some extension σ' as above.

Let G^1 be the group generated by all compact subgroups of G, or equivalently the intersection of the kernels of all the unramified characters of G.

Lemma 7.4. Suppose that \mathfrak{f} is a minimal facet of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}, F)$. Let τ_1 be an irreducible subrepresentation of $\operatorname{Res}_{G^1}^G(\tau)$. Then $\operatorname{ind}_{G^1}^G(\tau_1) \cong \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_i}^G(\hat{\sigma})$.

Proof. By assumption, the image of \mathfrak{f} in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{ad}, F)$ is just one point, and by construction G^1 acts trivially on $X_*(Z(G)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. Thus $G_{\mathfrak{f}} \cap G^1 = \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. We claim that

(7.13)
$$\tau_1 := \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G^1}(\hat{\sigma})$$

is irreducible. The intertwining set of $\hat{\sigma} \in \operatorname{Irr}(\hat{P}_{\mathsf{f}})$ is defined as

$$\{g \in G : \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cap g\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}g^{-1}}(\hat{\sigma}, g \cdot \hat{\sigma}) \neq 0\}.$$

It equals the support of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$, which by Theorem 6.1 is $G_{\mathfrak{f}, \hat{\sigma}}$. Since $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ equals $G_{\mathfrak{f}, \hat{\sigma}} \cap G^1$, the intertwining of $\hat{\sigma} \in \operatorname{Irr}(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ in G^1 equals $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. This implies the claimed irreducibility of τ_1 . By the transitivity of induction, we have

(7.14)
$$\operatorname{ind}_{G^{1}}^{G}(\tau_{1}) = \operatorname{ind}_{G^{1}}^{G}\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{f}}^{G^{1}}(\hat{\sigma}) = \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{f}}^{G}(\hat{\sigma}).$$

By Frobenius reciprocity, $\operatorname{Hom}_{G^1}(\tau_1,\tau) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\hat{\sigma},\operatorname{ind}_{G_{\mathfrak{f}}}^G(\sigma')) \subset \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\hat{\sigma},\sigma') \neq 0$. Hence this τ_1 is indeed a subrepresentation of $\operatorname{Res}_{G^1}^G(\tau)$. By the irreducibility of τ , every alternative τ_2 for τ_1 is isomorphic to $g \cdot \tau_1$ for some $g \in G$. In particular the choice of τ_1 does not affect $\operatorname{ind}_{G^1}^G(\tau_1)$.

Since the supercuspidal Bernstein component $\operatorname{Irr}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\sharp},\hat{\sigma})} \cong \operatorname{Irr} - \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\sharp},\hat{\sigma})$ has the structure of a complex torus, it is isomorphic to the space of irreducible representations of a lattice. This suggests that it is possible to get rid of the 2-cocycle $\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}$ in Corollary 7.3. It turns out that is indeed the case, at the cost of passing to a smaller lattice. We write

$$(7.15) ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}) := \{ w \in W(J,\hat{\sigma}) : T_v T_w = T_w T_v \text{ for all } v \in W(J,\hat{\sigma}) \}.$$

As a subgroup of a lattice, $ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})$ is again a lattice. We pick a basis \mathfrak{B} , and for $z = \sum_{b \in \mathfrak{B}} n_b b \in ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})$, we rescale T_z to $\prod_{b \in \mathfrak{B}} T_b^{n_b}$. By (7.15), this is well-defined. Next we choose a set of representatives \dot{w} for $W(J,\hat{\sigma})/ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})$, and we rescale $T_{\dot{w}z} = T_{\dot{w}}T_z = T_zT_{\dot{w}}$. This allows us to make $\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}$ factor through $(W(J,\hat{\sigma})/ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}))^2$. Together with the commutativity of $W(J,\hat{\sigma}) = \Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$, we obtain

(7.16)
$$Z(\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]) = \mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})].$$

By [Mor1, §7.13], it is easy to see that $ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})$ contains the image in $W(J,\hat{\sigma})$ of the maximal central F-split torus of G. This image has finite index in the lattice $W(J,\hat{\sigma})$, because it has the same rank by Lemma 5.1(b). Thus $[W(J,\hat{\sigma}):ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ is finite.

Let $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(G,\tau)$ be the stabilizer of $\tau\in\mathrm{Irr}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathrm{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$ in $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(G)$. There is a bijection

(7.17)
$$\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(G)/\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(G,\tau) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Irr}(G)_{[G,\tau]} : \chi \mapsto \chi \otimes \tau$$

Recall from (7.13) that $\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G^{1}}(\hat{\sigma}), \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G^{1}}(V_{\hat{\sigma}})\right)$ is an irreducible G^{1} -subrepresentation of τ . As in [Sol5, §2], we define

$$G_{\tau}^{2} := \bigcap_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(G,\tau)} \ker \chi,$$

$$G_{\tau}^{3} := \{ g \in G : g \cdot \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G^{1}}(V_{\hat{\sigma}}) = \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G^{1}}(V_{\hat{\sigma}}) \},$$

$$G_{\tau}^{4} := \{ g \in G : g \cdot \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G^{1}}(\hat{\sigma}) \cong \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G^{1}}(\hat{\sigma}) \}.$$

With these notations, [Sol5, Lemma 10.1.b] says that

(7.18)
$$W(J, \hat{\sigma}) = G_{\tau}^4/G^1, \qquad ZW(J, \hat{\sigma}) = G_{\tau}^2/G^1$$

and $\mathbb{C}[G_{\tau}^3/G^1]$ is a maximal commutative subalgebra of $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$. Let $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(G))$ be the ring of regular functions on the complex algebraic variety $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(G)$. By (7.17), we obtain algebra isomorphisms

$$(7.19) \qquad \mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}) \cong \mathbb{C}[G_{\tau}^2/G^1] \cong \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(G)/\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(G,\tau)) \cong \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Irr}(G)_{[G,\tau]}),$$

determined entirely by the choice of τ . We write $CW(J, \hat{\sigma}) := G_{\tau}^3/G^1$, such that there are finite index inclusions of lattices

$$(7.20) ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}) \subset CW(J,\hat{\sigma}) \subset W(J,\hat{\sigma}).$$

By [Roc, Lemma 1.6.3.1], we know that

$$[W(J,\hat{\sigma}):CW(J,\hat{\sigma})] = [CW(J,\hat{\sigma}):ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$$

equals the multiplicity of τ_1 in $\operatorname{Res}_{G^1}^G(\tau)$. For an open subset $U \subset \operatorname{Irr}(ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}))$, let $C^{an}(U)$ be the algebra of analytic functions on U. The analytic localization of $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$ at U is defined as

(7.21)
$$\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_{U}^{an} := \mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}] \otimes_{\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]} C^{an}(U).$$

The finite-length modules of this algebra are precisely those finite-length modules of $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$, all whose $\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ -weights belong to U, cf. [Opd, Proposition 4.3]. Similarly, we can define the analytic localization of $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$ with respect to an open subset \tilde{U} of $\mathrm{Irr}(CW(J,\hat{\sigma}))$. We denote this module by $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_{\tilde{U}}^{an}$. If \tilde{U} is the full preimage of a subset $U \subset \mathrm{Irr}(ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}))$, then it acquires an algebra structure via the natural isomorphism

(7.22)
$$\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_{\tilde{U}}^{an} \cong \mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_{U}^{an}$$

Proposition 7.5. Assume that L = G.

- (a) Suppose that the inverse image of U in $Irr(CW(J,\hat{\sigma}))$ is homeomorphic to a disjoint union of $d = [CW(J,\hat{\sigma}) : ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ copies of U. Then the algebras $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}), \mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_U^{an}$ and $C^{an}(U)$ are Morita equivalent.
- (b) The algebras $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$ and $\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ have equivalent categories of finite-length modules. The equivalence sends any irreducible $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$ -module to its central character.

Proof. (a) Write the inverse image of U in $Irr(CW(J, \hat{\sigma}))$ as $U_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup U_d$, where each U_i projects homeomorphically onto U. Then we have

$$\mathbb{C}[CW(J,\hat{\sigma})] \underset{\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]}{\otimes} C^{an}(U) \cong C^{an}(U_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus C^{an}(U_d),$$

and this is a subalgebra of $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_{U}^{an}$. Then we have

(7.23)
$$\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_U^{an} = \bigoplus_{i,j=1}^d 1_{U_i} \mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_U^{an} 1_{U_j},$$

where 1_{U_i} denotes the indicator function of U_i . The commutator map

$$(w,v)\mapsto T_wT_vT_w^{-1}T_v^{-1}\in\mathbb{C}^{\times}$$

induces a non-degenerate skew-symmetric bicharacter on $W(J,\hat{\sigma})/ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})$. It is trivial on $(CW(J,\hat{\sigma})/ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}))^2$, so it induces an isomorphism

$$(7.24) W(J,\hat{\sigma})/CW(J,\hat{\sigma}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Irr}(CW(J,\hat{\sigma})/ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})).$$

For each i, j, there is a unique character $\chi_{ij} \in \operatorname{Irr}(CW(J, \hat{\sigma})/ZW(J, \hat{\sigma}))$ such that $U_i = \chi_{ij} \otimes U_j$. Hence there exists a $w_{ij} \in W(J, \hat{\sigma})$, unique up to $CW(J, \hat{\sigma})$, such that $T_{w_{ij}} 1_{U_j} T_{w_{ij}}^{-1} \in \mathbb{C}1_{U_i}$. Now (7.23) simplifies to

$$\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]_U^{an} = \bigoplus_{i,j=1}^d 1_{U_i} T_{w_{ij}} C^{an}(U_j) 1_{U_j}.$$

This algebra is isomorphic to $M_d(\mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} C^{an}(U_1)$, hence Morita equivalent to $C^{an}(U_1)$, which is isomorphic to $C^{an}(U)$.

(b) By part (a) and [Opd, Proposition 4.3], the category of those finite-length $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$ -modules all whose $\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ -weights belong to U, is equivalent to the analogous category for $\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$.

We cover $\operatorname{Irr}(ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}))$ by a collection of open sets U that satisfy the condition of part (a). This is possible because every sufficiently small open ball in $\operatorname{Irr}(ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}))$ has the required property. Combining the previous observations for all such U, we find the desired statement for all finite-length modules.

The explicit description of the map on irreducible modules follows from the construction in part (a), i.e. that preserves $C^{an}(U)$ -weights and hence preserves $\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ -weights.

We indicate a full subcategory of finite-length objects by a subscript fl. By (7.1), Corollary 7.3 and Proposition 7.5, the categories

(7.25)
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}, \quad \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma}) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}))$$

are equivalent. However, if $ZW(J,\hat{\sigma}) \neq W(J,\hat{\sigma})$, then it seems that (7.25) does not extend to representations of arbitrary length, because $\mathbb{C}[ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ and $\mathbb{C}[W(J,\hat{\sigma}),\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}]$ are not Morita equivalent.

7.2. The non-supercuspidal case.

We return to the case where the facet \mathfrak{f} is not necessarily minimal. Recall that the group $W(G,L)=N_G(L)/L$ acts on $\mathrm{Irr}(L)$ and on the isomorphism classes in $\mathrm{Rep}(L)$. Let $W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$ be the stabilizer of $\mathrm{Rep}(L)_{(P_{L},\mathfrak{f},\hat{\sigma})}$ (as in Theorem 7.1) in W(G,L). In other words, $W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$ is the finite group attached to the Bernstein component $\mathrm{Irr}(L)_{(P_{L},\mathfrak{f},\hat{\sigma})}$ as in (1.4).

Lemma 7.6. (a) The category $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$ determines $(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ up to L-conjugacy. (b) The natural map $W(J,\hat{\sigma})/W_L(J,\hat{\sigma}) \to W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. (a) By Lemma 5.3 (a), $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$ determines the L-conjugacy class of $(P_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)$. The irreducible representations π of $\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}$ such that $(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\pi)$ is a type for $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$ are precisely those for which $\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}}^L$ π contains $\hat{\sigma}$. This happens if and only if $g \cdot \pi \cong \hat{\sigma}$ for some $g \in L_{\mathfrak{f}}$, and in which case $g \cdot (\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\pi) \cong (\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$. Hence $L \cdot (\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ is uniquely determined by $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$.

(b) Using part (a), this can be shown in the same way as Lemma 5.3 (b).

For L as in (5.3), Lemma 5.1 and Corollary 7.3 hold with L instead of G. Let W_L be the Iwahori-Weyl group of (L,S) and abbreviate $CW_L(J,\hat{\sigma}) := L^3_{\tau}/L^1$. By Lemma 5.1 (b), $CW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})$ is canonically isomorphic to a lattice in $X_*(Z(L)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$.

Lemma 7.7. (a) The affine Weyl group $W_{\text{aff}}(J, \sigma)$ is the semidirect product of a finite Weyl group $W(R_{\sigma})$ with the normal subgroup of translations $T(J, \sigma)$.

- (b) The group $W_L(J, \sigma) \cap W_{\text{aff}}$ equals $T(J, \sigma)$, and can be represented by elements of $Z^{\circ}(L)$.
- *Proof.* (a) This is an aspect of the general structure of affine Weyl groups, see for example [Bou, Chapitre VI.2]. The reference also shows that the group of translations $T(J,\sigma)$ is generated by the finite root system from this setup.
- (b) By Lemma 5.1 (b) and (5.2), $W_L(J,\sigma) \cap W_{\text{aff}}$ is a group of translations. By part (a) for W_{aff} , the lattice of translations $T(J,\sigma)$ in W_{aff} is generated by the elements $\alpha^{\vee}(\varpi_F^{-1})$ with α in a finite root system R_{σ} . As α^{\vee} takes values in S, all translations in W_{aff} can be represented by elements of S. We can also represent them in $X_*(S)$, if we identify it with $\{t(\varpi_F^{-1}): t \in X_*(S)\}$. Here it is convenient to use the inverse of a uniformizing element ϖ_F of \mathfrak{o}_F : this is compatible with [Sol5, Appendix A] because $|\varpi_F^{-1}|_F > 1$. If such an element $t(\varpi_F^{-1})$ belongs to $W_L(J,\sigma)$, then it translates \mathbb{A}_S in a direction in $X_*(Z(L)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. Hence it is orthogonal to R(L,S), which means that $t(\varpi_F^{-1}) \in Z^{\circ}(L)$.

Conversely, the constructions of $S_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}$ and $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}$ show that R_{σ} consists of roots of $(G,Z(L)^{\circ})$. There $\alpha^{\vee}(\varpi_F^{-1}) \in Z(L)^{\circ}$ for all $\alpha \in R_{\sigma}$, and $T(J,\sigma) \subset W_L(J,\sigma)$. \square

By Theorem 7.1 and [BuKu, §8], $\mathcal{H}(L, \hat{P}_{L,f}, \hat{\sigma})$ embeds in $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{f}, \hat{\sigma})$. We prefer to use the renormalized version

(7.26)
$$\mathcal{H}(L, \hat{P}_{L,f}, \hat{\sigma}) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{f}, \hat{\sigma})$$

that respects parabolic induction, as in [Sol2, Condition 4.1 and Lemma 5.1]. The image of (7.26), however, does not depend on such a normalization.

Lemma 7.8. (a) Via (7.26), we have

$$\mathcal{H}(L, \hat{P}_{L,f}, \hat{\sigma}) \cap \mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_{\sigma}) = \mathbb{C}[T(J, \sigma)] = \mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J, \hat{\sigma})] \cap \mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_{\sigma}).$$

- (b) The conjugation action of $\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$ on $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$, from Theorems 6.1 and 7.2, stabilizes $\mathcal{H}(L,\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ and $\mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})]$.
- *Proof.* (a) By Lemma 7.7, the first intersection is precisely the maximal commutative subalgebra $\mathbb{C}[T(J,\sigma)]$ of the Bernstein presentation of $\mathcal{H}(W_{\text{aff}}(J,\sigma),q_{\sigma})$. By Theorem 7.2, the 2-cocycle $\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}$ is trivial on $\mathbb{C}[T(J,\sigma)]$, thus $\mathbb{C}[T(J,\sigma)]$ commutes with $\mathcal{H}(L,\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ by Corollary 7.3 and Lemma 5.3. Then by Proposition 7.5, it is already contained in the image of $\mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\sigma)]$.
- (b) By the remark after (5.9), the inverse image of $N_W(W_J)$ in $N_G(S)$ normalizes L. Therefore, conjugation by elements of $\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$ (which is well-defined by Theorem 7.2) stabilizes the image of (7.26). Hence conjugation by such elements also stabilizes the center of $\mathcal{H}(L,\hat{P}_{L,f},\hat{\sigma})$, which by (7.16) is precisely $\mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})]$.

By Lemma 7.8 (a), $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_f, \hat{\sigma})$ contains the affine Hecke algebra

(7.27)
$$\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\hat{\mathfrak{f}}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ} := \mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_{\sigma}) \mathbb{C}[ZW_{L}(J, \hat{\sigma})]$$
$$= \mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma), q_{\sigma}) \underset{\mathbb{C}[T(J, \sigma)]}{\otimes} \mathbb{C}[ZW_{L}(J, \hat{\sigma})]$$
$$= \mathcal{H}(W(R_{\sigma}), q_{\sigma}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}[ZW_{L}(J, \hat{\sigma})].$$

By Lemma 7.8 (b), the action of $\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$ on $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{f},\hat{\sigma})$ stabilizes $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{f},\hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$.

We now introduce a new facet $\mathfrak{f}_{\sigma} \subset \mathfrak{f} \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{ad}, F)$ as follows. We use the notation $\mathfrak{f} = \prod_i \mathfrak{f}^i$, where i runs through an indexing set for the simple factors of G. For each

simple factor G^i of G such that $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}$ contains elements from G^i , we denote by \mathfrak{f}^i_{σ} the facet of $\mathcal{B}(G^i)$ that is contained in C_0 and lies in the zero set of $\Delta_{\mathrm{aff}} \setminus \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}$. For each simple factor G^i of G such that $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}$ contains no elements from G^i , we set $\mathfrak{f}^i_{\sigma} := \mathfrak{f}^i$. Finally, we define $\mathfrak{f}_{\sigma} := \prod_i \mathfrak{f}^i_{\sigma}$.

The finite Weyl group from Lemma 7.7(a) arises as the $W_{\rm aff}(J,\sigma)$ -stabilizer of a special vertex of \mathfrak{f}_{σ} . For the simple factors G^i that do not contribute to $W_{\rm aff}(J,\sigma)$, this does not pose any condition on the vertex, so we make it more explicit. If G^i contributes to $W_{\rm aff}(J,\sigma)$, let y^i_{σ} be a special vertex of \mathfrak{f}^i_{σ} ; otherwise, let y^i_{σ} be the barycentre of \mathfrak{f}^i . Then $y_{\sigma} = \prod_i y^i_{\sigma}$ is a point of the building $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}_{\rm ad}, F)$. The set

$$\Delta_{\mathrm{aff},\sigma,y_{\sigma}} = \{ \alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma} : \alpha(y_{\sigma}) = 0 \}$$

is a basis of a finite root system whose Weyl group $W_{\rm aff}(J,\sigma)_{y_\sigma}$ is isomorphic to $W_{\rm aff}(J,\sigma)/T(J,\sigma)$. It follows that $\Delta_{\sigma,y_\sigma}:=D(\Delta_{\rm aff},\sigma,y_\sigma)$ is a basis for a root subsystem $R_\sigma\subset R(G,S)$ with Weyl group $W(R_\sigma)\cong W_{\rm aff}(J,\sigma)_{y_\sigma}$. This R_σ can be identified with the root system from the proof of Lemma 7.7. Let $R(G,S)^+$ be a positive system in R(G,S) containing Δ_{σ,y_σ} . Using $R(G,S)^+$, we can define standard parabolic subgroups of $\mathcal G$ containing $Z_{\mathcal G}(S)$. Indeed, let $\mathcal Q\subset \mathcal G$ be the parabolic F-subgroup with Levi factor $\mathcal L$ and $R(G,S)^+\subset R(Q,S)$. By Lemma 7.4 and [Oha2, Lemma 3.2 and Proposition 3.3], there are canonical isomorphisms

which induce canonical algebra isomorphisms

$$(7.29) \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\hat{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) \cong \operatorname{End}_{G}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\hat{f}}}^{G}(\hat{\sigma})\right) \cong \operatorname{End}_{G}\left(\operatorname{I}_{Q}^{G}(\operatorname{ind}_{L^{1}}^{L}(\tau_{1}))\right).$$

The algebra $\operatorname{End}_G(\operatorname{I}_Q^G(\operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L\tau_1))$ in (7.29) was studied in [Sol5], and later compared with $\mathcal{H}(G,P_{\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)$ and with $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ in [Oha2]. Recall from Theorem 7.2 that $\mathcal{H}(G,P_{\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)$ and $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ have the same underlying affine Weyl group and the same q-parameters. The group $W(J,\sigma)/\Omega_{\mathfrak{f}}^0$ acts naturally on the finite root system R_{σ} underlying the affine root system with basis $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\mathrm{aff},\sigma}$, with the subgroup of translations X_{σ} acting trivially. The group

$$(7.30) W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}} \cong W(J, \hat{\sigma})/W_L(J, \hat{\sigma})$$

from Lemma 7.6 (b) acts naturally on R_{σ} , and this action comes from the action of $W(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{S})$ on R(G, S). The Weyl group $W(R_{\sigma}) \cong W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J, \sigma)_{y_{\sigma}}$ acts simply transitively on the collection of positive systems in R_{σ} . Let $H_{\Delta,\hat{\sigma}}$ be the stabilizer of $\Delta_{\sigma,y_{\sigma}}$ in $W(J,\hat{\sigma})$ and let $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}} := H_{\Delta,\hat{\sigma}}/W_L(J,\hat{\sigma})$ be the stabilizer of $\Delta_{\sigma,y_{\sigma}}$ in (7.30). Then $H_{\Delta,\hat{\sigma}}$ is complementary to $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma)_{y_{\sigma}}$ in $W(J,\hat{\sigma})$, and by [Sol5, (3.2)] we have

$$(7.31) W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}} \cong W(R_{\sigma}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}.$$

Here $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$ is the stabilizer of the positive system $R_{\sigma}^+ = R(G, S)^+ \cap R_{\sigma}$ or equivalently of the basis $\Delta_{\sigma} = D(\Delta_{\sigma, y_{\sigma}})$ of R_{σ} .

Let $\mathfrak s$ denote the inertial equivalence class of $[L,\tau]$ for $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$. Like $\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak f}}^G(\hat{\sigma})$, the G-representation $\Pi_{\mathfrak s}:=\operatorname{I}_Q^G(\operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L(\tau))$ is a projective generator of $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{[L,\tau]}$ (see for example [Ren]). In fact it is isomorphic to a finite direct sum of copies of $\operatorname{I}_Q^G(\operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L(\tau_1))\cong\operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak c}}^G(\hat{\sigma})$. Such an isomorphism can be constructed as follows. Write

$$\tau = \bigoplus_{l \in L/L_{\tau}^3} l \cdot \tau_1,$$

where L^3_{τ} is the stabilizer of $V_{\tau_1} \subset V_{\tau}$ in L, and l runs through a set of representatives for L/L^{τ} . Translation by l gives an isomorphism $\operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L(l \cdot \tau_1) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L(\tau_1)$, which induces to an isomorphism

(7.32)
$$\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}} \cong \bigoplus_{l \in L/L_{\mathfrak{x}}^3} \Pi_Q^G(\operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L(\tau_1)).$$

Via (7.32) and (7.29), we embed $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ diagonally in $\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$. In [Sol5, Proposition 2.2], it is shown how $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L,\tau), \mathfrak{h}]$ embeds in $\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ for a certain 2-cocycle \mathfrak{h} . Combined with [Sol5, Lemma 2.1], one deduces that $\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})$ is a subgroup of $\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L,\tau)$, maximal for the property that its group algebra embeds naturally in $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L,\tau), \mathfrak{h}]$. By (7.32), we have

(7.33)
$$\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})} \cong \operatorname{I}_{Q}^{G}(\operatorname{ind}_{L^{1}}^{L}(\tau_{1})).$$

On the other hand, the multiplication action of $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)) \cong \mathbb{C}[L/L^1]$ on $\operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L(\tau)$ gives embeddings

$$\mathbb{C}[L/L^1] \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_L(\operatorname{ind}_{L^1}^L(\tau)) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}).$$

The Weyl group of the root system

(7.34)
$$R_{\sigma,\tau} = \{ \alpha \in R_{\sigma} : s_{\alpha}(\tau) \cong \tau \}$$

stabilizes τ . The stabilizer of τ in $W(R_{\sigma}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$ acts on $R_{\sigma,\tau}$, and can be written as

(7.35)
$$(W(R_{\sigma}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}})_{\tau} = W(R_{\sigma,\tau}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau},$$

where $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau}$ is the stabilizer of the set of positive roots in $R_{\sigma,\tau}$. Along the covering

(7.36)
$$\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L) \to \mathrm{Irr}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})} : \chi \mapsto \chi \otimes \tau,$$

every element of $W(R_{\sigma}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$ can be lifted to a diffeomorphism of $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$, and the elements that stabilize τ can be lifted to Lie group automorphisms of $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$. This gives rise to a finite group $W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$ of diffeomorphisms of $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$; see [Sol5, §3]. It fits into a short exact sequence

$$(7.37) 1 \to \mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L,\tau) \to W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L)) \to W(R_{\sigma}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}} \to 1$$

and contains a subgroup canonically isomorphic to $(W(R_{\sigma}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}})_{\tau}$.

Proposition 7.9. (a) We have the following identifications as vector spaces

$$\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) = \bigoplus_{l \in L/L_{\tau}^{3}} \mathbb{C}\{l\} \otimes \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) \otimes \mathbb{C}[\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})]$$

$$= \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)) \otimes \mathcal{H}(W(R_{\sigma}), q_{\sigma}) \otimes \bigoplus_{\gamma \in H_{\Delta, \hat{\sigma}}/W_{L}(J, \hat{\sigma})} \mathbb{C}T_{\gamma} \otimes \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L, \tau), \natural].$$

(b) The linear subspace $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)) \otimes \mathcal{H}(W(R_{\sigma}), q_{\sigma})$ is an affine Hecke algebra, and the conjugation action of $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L, \tau) \subset \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L, \tau), \natural]^{\times}/\mathbb{C}^{\times}$ on it is given by translations on $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$.

Proof. (a) By (7.32), we have $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \cong M_{[L:L^3_{\tau}]}(\mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$. The elements $l \in L/L^3_{\tau}$ permute the different copies in (7.32), and by [Sol5, §2] so do the elements of $\operatorname{Irr}(L/L^3_{\tau})$. Furthermore, by [Sol5, §5.1],

$$\bigoplus_{l \in L/L^3_{\tau}} \mathbb{C}\{l\} \otimes \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L,\tau),\natural] \subset \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)) \otimes \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L,\tau),\natural]$$

embeds in $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$. This establishes the first equality of vector spaces. By (7.30), (7.31) and Theorem 7.2, we deduce that (as vector spaces)

$$\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) = \mathbb{C}[W_L(J, \hat{\sigma})] \otimes \mathcal{H}(W(R_{\sigma}), q_{\sigma}) \otimes \bigoplus_{\gamma \in H_{\Delta, \hat{\sigma}}/W_L(J, \hat{\sigma})} \mathbb{C}T_{\gamma}.$$

We also note that

$$\bigoplus_{l \in L/L^3_\tau} \mathbb{C}\{l\} \otimes \mathbb{C}[CW_L(J, \hat{\sigma})] \cong \bigoplus_{l \in L/L^3_\tau} \mathbb{C}\{l\} \otimes \mathbb{C}[L^3_\tau/L^1] \cong \mathbb{C}[L/L^1] = \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)).$$

It follows from (7.24) that, also as vector spaces,

$$\mathbb{C}[W_L(J,\hat{\sigma})/CW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})] \otimes \mathbb{C}[\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)] \cong \mathbb{C}[\operatorname{Irr}(L_{\tau}^3/L_{\tau}^2)] \otimes \mathbb{C}[\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)]$$
$$\cong \mathbb{C}[\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^2)] \cong \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L,\tau)].$$

These observations imply the second equality of vector spaces.

(b) The cross relations between $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L)/\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L,\tau))$ and $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ can be found for instance in [Sol4, Definition 1.11]. These are also multiplication relations in

$$\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(J,\sigma),q_{\sigma})\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)/\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L,\tau)),$$

and they show that $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ (for $\alpha \in R_{\sigma}$) commutes with $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)/\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L,\tau))^{s_{\alpha}}$. Comparing these with the multiplication relations in $\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ from [Sol5, Corollary 5.8], we deduce that the image of $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ in $\mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))} \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ lies in $\mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)) \oplus \mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))\mathcal{T}_{s_{\alpha}}$, where $\mathcal{T}_{s_{\alpha}}$ is as in [Sol5, §5], and it acts on $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$ just like s_{α} . The cross relations for $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ can be deduced from the expression of $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ in terms of $\mathcal{T}_{s_{\alpha}}$ (see [Sol5, (6.25)]).

Since the action of $W(R_{\sigma})$ on $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)/\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L,\tau)$ lifts canonically to $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$, the cross relations for $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ lift to $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$. Hence $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$ and the $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ generate an affine Hecke algebra in the sense of [Sol4, Definition 1.11]. The conjugation action of $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L,\tau)$ is given by [Sol5, (5.16) and Corollary 5.18].

The group $\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)$ is embedded in $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$, hence has two commuting actions on that algebra: by left and right multiplications. It follows from (7.33) that

$$(7.38) \qquad \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) = \operatorname{End}_{G}\left(\operatorname{I}_{Q}^{G}(\operatorname{ind}_{L^{1}}^{L}(\tau_{1}))\right) = \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})^{\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3}) \times \operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})}.$$

Since $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)/\mathrm{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)) \cong \mathbb{C}[L_{\tau}^3/L^1]$, this is consistent with Proposition 7.9. For an open subset $U \subset \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)$, we define

(7.39)
$$\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_{U}^{an} := \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))} C^{an}(U).$$

If U is $W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$ -stable, then this is an algebra, because it can be realized as

$$(7.40) \qquad \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_{U}^{an} = \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))^{W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))}} C^{an}(U)^{W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))},$$

and $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L))^{W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L))}$ is central in $\mathrm{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$.

Recall that $\mathbb{C}[L_{\tau}^3/L^1] = \mathbb{C}[CW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ is a maximal commutative subalgebra of $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$. For $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$, analytic localization can be defined similarly as in (7.21), and there is a variant with $\operatorname{Irr}(CW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})) = \operatorname{Irr}(L_{\tau}^3/L^1)$ instead of $\operatorname{Irr}(ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})) = \operatorname{Irr}(L_{\tau}^2/L^1)$. In the situation where we have a $W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))$ -stable U, these two versions of analytic localization agree by (7.22), i.e. we have

$$\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})_{U|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}}^{an} \cong \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})_{U|_{L^{\frac{2}{2}}}}^{an}.$$

Let U_{τ} be a neighborhood of 1 in $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$, which covers $Irr(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$ via the operation $\otimes \tau$ from (7.36). (In [Sol5], this U_{τ} is called U_u .) We assume that U_{τ} satisfies [Sol5,

Condition 6.3], which means that U_{τ} is sufficiently small and $wU_{\tau} \cap U_{\tau} = \emptyset$ whenever $w \in W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$ and $w1 \neq 1$. We write $U = W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))U_{\tau}$, such that

$$C^{an}(U) = \bigoplus_{w \in W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L))/(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L))_1} 1_{wU_{\tau}} C^{an}(U),$$

where 1_X denotes the indicator function of a set X.

Lemma 7.10. For $w_1, w_2 \in W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$, there is a canonical isomorphism of vector spaces $1_{w_1U_{\tau}} \operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{[L,\tau]})_U^{an} 1_{w_2U_{\tau}} \cong 1_{w_1U_{\tau}|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}} \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})_{U|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}}^{an} 1_{w_2U_{\tau}|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}}$.

Proof. Since $wU_{\tau} \cap U_{\tau} = \emptyset$ for $w \in W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)) \setminus W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))_1$, we have

$$1_{\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)w_1U_{\tau}}\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_U^{an}1_{\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)w_2U_{\tau}} = \bigoplus_{\chi_1,\chi_2 \in \operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)} 1_{\chi_1w_1U_{\tau}}\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_U^{an}1_{\chi_2w_2U_{\tau}}.$$

Here $\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)^2$ acts freely, so this space contains

$$1_{w_1U_{\tau}}\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_U^{an}1_{w_2U_{\tau}} \cong \left(1_{\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)w_1U_{\tau}}\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_U^{an}1_{\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)w_2U_{\tau}}\right)^{\operatorname{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^3)^2}.$$

By (7.40) and (7.38), we can rewrite the right hand side as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})w_{1}U_{\tau}} &\big(\mathrm{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})^{\mathrm{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})^{2}} \otimes C^{an}(U)^{W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L))} \big) \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})w_{2}U_{\tau}} \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})w_{1}U_{\tau}} \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{an}_{U|_{L_{\tau}^{3}}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{Irr}(L/L_{\tau}^{3})w_{2}U_{\tau}} \\ &= \mathbf{1}_{w_{1}U_{\tau}|_{L_{\underline{3}}^{3}}} \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{an}_{U|_{L_{\tau}^{3}}} \mathbf{1}_{w_{2}U_{\tau}|_{L_{\underline{3}}^{3}}}. \end{aligned}$$

8. Hecke algebras for non-singular depth-zero Langlands parameters

8.1. Preliminaries.

Consider an enhanced supercuspidal L-parameter (φ, ρ) for a Levi subgroup L of G. Via (3.15) and the natural isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L) \cong ((Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F})^{\circ}$$

from [Hai, §3.3.1], $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ acts on $\Phi_e(L)$.

The Bernstein component of $\Phi_e(L)$ containing (φ, ρ) will be denoted

(8.1)
$$\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee} := \mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L) \cdot (\varphi, \rho) = \{ (z\varphi, \rho) : z \in ((Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F})^{\circ} \}.$$

By \mathfrak{s}^{\vee} , we are referring to \mathfrak{s}_{L}^{\vee} considered as an inertial equivalence class for $\Phi_{e}(G)$. Recall the cuspidal support map Sc for enhanced Langlands parameters from [AMS1, §7], extended to the setting with rigid inner twists in [DiSc]. It associates, to every enhanced L-parameter (ψ, ϵ) for G, a triple $\operatorname{Sc}(\psi, \epsilon) = (L', \psi', \epsilon')$, where $L' \subset G$ is a Levi subgroup and (ψ', ϵ') is a cuspidal enhanced L-parameter for L'. The map Sc preserves $\psi|_{\mathbf{I}_F}$, so in particular sends the depth-zero parameters to depth-zero parameters (but maybe of other groups). We write

(8.2)
$$\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} := \mathrm{Sc}^{-1}(\{L\} \times \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}).$$

By definition, this is a Bernstein component of $\Phi_e(G)$. If \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee} consists of depth-zero enhanced L-parameters, then $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \subset \Phi_e^0(G)$. To $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$, [AMS3, §3] associates a twisted affine Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$, which is a specialization of an algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\mathbf{z})$ with an invertible formal variable \mathbf{z} . However, [AMS3] works for (normal, non-rigid) inner twists of G and for enhancements of L-parameters based on the

component groups introduced in [Art2]. We need to check that [AMS3] also applies in the current setting.

Lemma 8.1. The construction of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \mathbf{z})$ in [AMS3, §3] (for an arbitrary Bernstein component $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$) can be adapted so that it also works in our setting with rigid inner twists of reductive F-groups and component groups $\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+)$ for Langlands parameters φ . All the results in [AMS3, §3] remain valid for the adapted version of the twisted affine Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \mathbf{z})$.

Proof. Essentially, all the arguments in [AMS3, §3] rely on [AMS1, §1–5], [AMS2, §2–4] and [AMS3, §1–2], which apply to arbitrary (possibly disconnected) complex reductive groups. The specific setup involving enhanced L-parameters from [Art2] and the associate groups only appear in the later sections of [AMS1, AMS3]. A setting with slightly different enhanced L-parameters works equally well in [AMS1, AMS2, AMS3], because the arguments with complex reductive groups hardly change. Therefore it suffices to describe how the complex reductive groups in [AMS3, §3] must be adapted.

Firstly, consider Arthur's group $S_{\varphi} = Z_{\mathcal{G}_{\operatorname{sc}}^{\vee}}^{1}(\varphi)$, which is obtained by first taking the image of $Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi)$ in $G^{\vee}_{\operatorname{ad}}$ and then the preimage of that in $G^{\vee}_{\operatorname{sc}}$. In [Art1, AMS1, AMS3], an enhancement of φ is an irreducible representation of $\pi_{0}(S_{\varphi})$. Secondly, the group $G_{\varphi} := Z_{\mathcal{G}_{\operatorname{sc}}^{\vee}}^{1}(\varphi|_{\mathbf{W}_{F}})$ has the property $S_{\varphi} = Z_{G_{\varphi}}(\varphi(\operatorname{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{C})))$ and is contained in the group $J := Z_{\mathcal{G}_{\operatorname{sc}}^{\vee}}^{1}(\varphi|_{\mathbf{I}_{F}})$. We make the following substitutions:

With these substitutions, [AMS3, Proposition 3.4 and Theorem 3.6] (which come directly from [AMS1]) hold, as also noted in [DiSc]. The groups M and T in [AMS3, §3] can be defined in essentially the same way, i.e. $M := Z_{L^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F))$ and $T := Z(M)^{\circ}$. Then $Z(G^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \subset T$ and hence [AMS3, Lemma 3.7] amounts to:

there is a finite covering
$$T \to \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(^L \mathcal{G}) = \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(G^{\vee})$$
.

Therefore, we need to replace the group $G_{\varphi_b} \times \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(G^{\vee}) = Z^1_{\mathcal{G}_{sc}^{\vee}}(\varphi_b|_{\mathbf{W}_F}) \times \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(^L\mathcal{G})$ from [AMS3, (3.9)] by $Z_{\bar{G}^{\vee}}(\varphi_b(\mathbf{W}_F))$. Now all the remaining results in [AMS3, §3] hold in this new setting with the same proofs.

We summarize the structure of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ below:

- Since \$\sigm_L^\circ \text{ carries a transitive action of torus } (Z(L^\circ)^{\mathbf{I}_F})^\circ \mathbf{W}_F\$ with finite stabilizers, the choice of a base point makes \$\sigm_L^\circ \text{ into a complex algebraic torus.}
 The ring \$\mathcal{O}(\sigm_L^\circ)\$, of regular functions on the complex algebraic variety \$\sigm_L^\circ\$, is
- The ring $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee})$, of regular functions on the complex algebraic variety \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee} , is by definition a commutative subalgebra of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$.
- The group $W(G, L) \cong W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ acts on $\Phi_e(L)$ and on the set of Bernstein components of $\Phi_e(L)$. Let $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ denote the stabilizer of $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$.

• There exists a root system $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \subset X^*(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee})$ on which $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ acts. The choice of a positive system $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}^+$ leads to a decomposition $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$, where

(8.4)
$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = \{ w \in W(G, L)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} : w(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}^{+}) = R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}^{+} \}.$$

• As vector spaces, we have

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}) = \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}) \otimes \mathbb{C}[W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}})] \otimes \mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}],$$

where \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee} is made into a complex algebraic torus by the choice of a basepoint.

- The subspace $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}) \otimes \mathbb{C}[W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}})]$ is an affine Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$ as in [Sol4, Definition 1.11], with complex torus \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee} , root system $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ and certain q-parameters $q_{\alpha^{\vee}}$, $q_{\alpha^{\vee}}^*$ for $\alpha^{\vee} \in R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$. We take $q_F^{1/2}$ as the q-base (so that all the \mathbf{z}_j 's from [AMS3, §3.3] are specialized to $q_F^{1/2}$).
- The group $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ acts naturally on $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$, and $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ is a twisted crossed product of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$ and $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$. In particular $\mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}]$ is embedded in $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ as a twisted group algebra $\mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}},\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}]$, for a certain 2-cocycle

$$\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}: \Gamma^{2}_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}.$$

Note that $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ is not exactly an instance of the twisted affine Hecke algebras in [AMS3]: those have formal variables as q-parameters, whereas our q-parameters are real numbers. The quintessential property of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ is that its irreducible (left) modules are parametrized canonically by $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$; see [AMS3, Theorem 3.18.a].

Recall from (4.21) and Theorem 4.8 that we have an LLC for non-singular supercuspidal representations of L, and that it is a bijection onto the appropriate set of enhanced L-parameters. By Theorem 4.7, this LLC is $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ -equivariant. Hence it induces a bijection

We write this bijection as $\mathfrak{s}_L \mapsto \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}$.

Let \mathfrak{s} be \mathfrak{s}_L viewed as an inertial equivalence class for G, and let $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ be its corresponding Bernstein block of $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$. The associated Bernstein component of $\operatorname{Irr}(G)$ will be denoted $\operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$, and the associated Bernstein component of $\Phi_e(G)$ will be denoted $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^\vee}$. Recall the group $W_{\mathfrak{s}} := W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$ from Lemma 7.6. By a similar argument as in Lemma 2.4 (a), replacing the stabilizer of θ by the stabilizer of $\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta$ and ρ , it can be expressed as

(8.8)
$$W_{\mathfrak{s}} = W(G, L)_{jT, \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)\theta, \rho} \cong W(N_G(L), jT)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)\theta, \rho} / W(L, jT)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)\theta, \rho}.$$

Lemma 8.2. The stabilizer
$$W_{\mathfrak{s}}$$
 of $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$ equals $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$.

Proof. As observed before Lemma 7.6, $W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}=W_{\mathfrak{s}}$ equals the stabilizer of $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$ in W(G,L). The equality $W_{\mathfrak{s}}=W_{\mathfrak{s}^\vee}$ follows directly from the W(G,L)-equivariance of the LLC in Theorem 4.8.

Restricting the LLC from Theorem 4.8 to \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee} and \mathfrak{s}_L , we obtain a bijection

(8.9)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L} = \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})} \longrightarrow \Phi_e(L)^{\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}}.$$

Lemma 8.3. The bijection (8.9) induces an isomorphism of vector spaces

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathsf{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ} \otimes \mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}].$$

Proof. Firstly, pullback along (8.9) defines an algebra isomorphism

(8.10)
$$\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L},\mathfrak{f},\hat{\sigma})}) = \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}).$$

By Corollary 7.3 and Proposition 7.5, the right hand side is

(8.11)
$$\mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Irr}(ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma}))) \cong \mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})].$$

Thus (8.10) and (8.11) give an isomorphism between the maximal commutative subalgebras of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ and $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$. By Theorem 4.8 and Lemma 8.2, this isomorphism intertwines the actions of $W_{\mathfrak{s}}\cong W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$, so it extends to an algebra isomorphism

(8.12)
$$\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}) \rtimes W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})] \rtimes W_{\mathfrak{s}}.$$

By (7.27), the basis elements T_w , for $w \in W_{\mathfrak{s}} = W(R_{\sigma}) \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$, provide the following linear bijection (it is usually not an algebra homomorphism)

$$(8.13) \ \mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})] \rtimes W_{\mathfrak{s}} = \mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})] \otimes \mathbb{C}[W(R_{\sigma})] \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}} \to \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})^{\circ} \rtimes \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}.$$

Similarly, by the construction (8.5), there is a linear bijection (8.14)

$$\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}) \rtimes W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = (\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}) \rtimes W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}})) \rtimes \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \to \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}) = \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ} \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}].$$

To conclude, we compose the inverse of (8.14) first with (8.12), then with (8.13). \square

8.2. Comparison of q-parameters.

Despite the similarities between (8.13) and (8.14), Lemmas 8.2 and 8.3 do not yet establish isomorphisms

(8.15)
$$W(R_{\sigma}) \cong W(R_{\varsigma}^{\vee}) \text{ and } \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}} \cong \Gamma_{\varsigma}^{\vee}.$$

To achieve (8.15), we need to compare the q-parameters of reflections in $W_{\mathfrak{s}}$ and $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$. More precisely, for (8.15) we need to know which q-parameters are 1 and which are bigger than 1. By definition, a reflection in $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$ or $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ has q-parameter 1. We write

$$\Omega'(\emptyset, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) := \Omega(\emptyset, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cap \langle W(\emptyset, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cap S_{\mathfrak{f}, \text{aff}} \text{ for } G_{\sigma} \rangle, \text{ and } \langle W(\emptyset, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cap S_{\mathfrak{f}, \text{aff}} \text{ for } G_{\sigma} \rangle = W_{\text{aff}}(\emptyset, \theta_{\text{aff}}) \rtimes \Omega'(\emptyset, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}).$$

With these notations, Proposition 6.9 says that all information about the q-parameters for $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathbf{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ is contained in the extended affine Hecke algebra

(8.16)
$$\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(\emptyset, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}), q_{\theta}) \rtimes \Omega'(\emptyset, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \subset \mathcal{H}(G_{\sigma}, P_{G_{\sigma}, \mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}).$$

Even better, Corollary 6.10 says that we only need $\mathcal{H}(G_{\alpha}, P_{G_{\alpha}, \mathfrak{f}}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ to determine $q_{\theta,\alpha}$ for $\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$. The complex dual group of G_{α} has maximal torus T^{\vee} .

The maximal F-split subtorus \mathcal{T}_s of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and of \mathcal{T} corresponds to $T_{\mathbf{W}_F}^{\vee}$, which admits a finite covering from $T^{\vee,\mathbf{W}_F,\circ}$. By (6.18), the root system of $(G_{\alpha}^{\vee},T^{\vee})$ can be expressed as $R(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha},\mathcal{T})^{\vee} = \{\beta^{\vee} \in R(G^{\vee},\mathcal{T}^{\vee}) : \beta^{\vee}|_{T^{\vee},\mathbf{W}_F,\circ} \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}\alpha^{\vee}\}$. By construction [AMS3, Lemma 3.12], $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ consists of certain integral multiples $m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}$ of elements $\alpha^{\vee} \in R(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha},\mathcal{T})^{\vee} = R(G_{\alpha}^{\vee},T^{\vee})$. Furthermore, ${}^{L}G_{\alpha} = {}^{L}TG_{\alpha}^{\vee} = G_{\alpha}^{\vee} \rtimes {}^{L}j(\mathbf{W}_F)$. The algebra $\mathcal{H}(W_{\mathrm{aff}}(\emptyset,\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}),q_{\theta}) \rtimes \Omega'(\emptyset,\theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$, which is given in terms of the Iwahori–Matsumoto presentation, can also be written in terms of the Bernstein

presentation, as in [Lus3, §3] or [Sol4, §1]. This gives q-parameters $q_{\theta,\alpha}^*$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta_{f,\sigma}$.

Proposition 8.4. Let $\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$. The parameter $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}}$ for $s_{\alpha^{\vee}}$ in $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ is equal to $q_{\theta,\alpha}$. Furthermore, $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}}^*$ is equal to $q_{\theta,\alpha}^*$.

Proof. For the construction of $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}}$ [AMS3, Proposition 3.14], one first passes to the complex reductive group $J_{\varphi} := Z_{G^{\vee}_{sc}}^1(\varphi|_{\mathbf{I}_F})$. Next, for each $z \in \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$, as in [AMS3, §3.1], one constructs a graded Hecke algebra from $z\varphi$, ρ and $G_{z\varphi} := Z_{G^{\vee}_{sc}}^1(z\varphi|_{\mathbf{W}_F})$. This gives a family of parameters $\mathbf{k}_{\alpha^{\vee},z\varphi}$, from which $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}}$ and $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}}^*$ are obtained (see [AMS3, §3.2]). One does not need the full J_{φ} , it suffices to consider a Levi subgroup of J_{φ}° containing $\varphi(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}))$ and all the root subgroups from $\mathbb{R}^{\times}\alpha^{\vee}$.

Let k_{α} be as in Proposition 6.6. Suppose that

(8.17)
$$\theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \circ N_{k_{\alpha}/k_{F}} \circ \alpha^{\vee} \neq 1.$$

By Proposition 6.6, $q_{\theta,\alpha} = 1$, which means that $q_{\theta,\alpha}^* = 1$ as well because $q_{\theta,\alpha}^* \in [1, q_{\theta,\alpha}]$. Let F_{α}/F be the unramified extension of F with residue field k_{α} . Via the local Langlands correspondence for tori, $(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$ corresponds to $\varphi|_{\mathbf{I}_F}$, because $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(F)$ is the maximal compact subtorus of $\mathcal{T}(F)$. The condition (8.17) is equivalent to $\alpha^{\vee}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_{F_{\alpha}})) \neq 1$. By construction, $\mathbf{I}_{F_{\alpha}}$ stabilizes every root subgroup of G^{\vee} associated to a root in $\mathbb{R}^{\times}\alpha^{\vee}$. By the description of centralizers of semisimple elements (here of $\varphi(\mathbf{I}_{F_{\alpha}})$, a finite set) from [Ste], $\alpha^{\vee}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_{F_{\alpha}})) \neq 1$ implies that J_{φ}° does not contain any representatives for $s_{\alpha^{\vee}}$. But then α^{\vee} does not correspond to a root for the graded Hecke algebras from [AMS3, §3.1]. Thus $s_{\alpha^{\vee}}$ only occurs in the R-groups/ Γ -groups for those graded Hecke algebras. This implies that $\mathbf{k}_{\alpha,z\varphi} = 0$ for all $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L)$, and thus by [AMS3, Proposition 3.14], we have $q_{\alpha^{\vee}} = q_{\alpha^{\vee}}^{*} = 1$.

Suppose now that, in contrast to (8.17), $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \circ N_{k_{\alpha}/k_{F}} \circ \alpha^{\vee} = 1$. For any lift $\beta^{\vee} \in R(G_{\alpha}^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$, we have $\beta^{\vee}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_{F,\beta^{\vee}})) = 1$. Set $U_{\mathbf{I}_{F}\beta^{\vee}} := \prod_{\gamma \in \mathbf{I}_{F}/\mathbf{I}_{F,\beta^{\vee}}} U_{\gamma\beta^{\vee}}$. The $\varphi(\mathbf{I}_{F})$ -invariants in this group can be identified with

$$Z_{U_{\mathbf{I}_F\beta^\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F))\cong Z_{U_{\beta^\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_{F,\beta^\vee}))=U_{\beta^\vee}.$$

Together with $Z_{U_{-\mathbf{I}_F\beta^\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{I}_F)) \cong U_{-\beta^\vee}$, this allows us to construct a representative for s_{α^\vee} in J_{φ}° . Starting with G_{α}^{\vee} instead of G^{\vee} gives a Levi subgroup $J_{\varphi,\alpha}^{\circ}$ of J_{φ}° containing $U_{\mathbf{I}_F,\beta^\vee} \cap J_{\varphi}^{\circ}$. As explained at the start of the proof, this means that the parameters $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^\vee}$ and $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^\vee}^*$ can be computed just as well from ${}^LG_{\alpha}$.

In summary, on the p-adic side, Proposition 6.9 and Corollary 6.10 reduce the computations of $q_{\theta,\alpha}$ and $q_{\theta,\alpha}^*$ to the Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G_{\alpha}, P_{G_{\alpha}, f}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}})$ for a Bernstein block in the principal series of a quasi-split reductive group G_{α} . On the Galois side, we reduced $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}}$ and $q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}}^*$ to parameters for a Hecke algebra of the form $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$, computed from ${}^LG_{\alpha}$ instead of LG . Thus we may apply the known results about principal series representations of quasi-split groups, where the desired equality of q-parameters follows from [Sol10, Lemma 5.2].

Recall from [Mor1, Proposition 6.9] that $R_{\sigma} = \{\alpha \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma} : q_{\sigma}(v(\alpha,J)) = q_{\theta,\alpha} > 1\}$. Similarly, by [AMS3, Proposition 3.14], $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = \{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee} : \alpha^{\vee} \in \Delta_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}^{\vee}, q_{m_{\alpha}\alpha^{\vee}} > 1\}$. Thus Proposition 8.4 produces a canonical bijection

$$(8.18) R_{\sigma} \longleftrightarrow R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}},$$

which gives a group isomorphism

$$(8.19) W(R_{\sigma}) \cong W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}).$$

Let $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}^+$ denote the image of R_{σ}^+ under (8.18), then it induces a group isomorphism

$$(8.20) W_{\mathfrak{s}}/W(R_{\sigma}) \cong \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}} \cong \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \cong W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}/W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}).$$

Recall the affine Hecke algebra $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{f}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$ from (7.27).

Proposition 8.5. Lemma 8.3 and Proposition 8.4 induce an algebra isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}.$$

It is canonical up to:

- inner automorphisms that fix $\mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})]$ pointwise;
- for each short simple root $\alpha \in R_{\sigma}$ satisfying $q_{\theta,\alpha}^* = 1$, $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ can be replaced with $h_{\alpha}^{\vee} T_{s_{\alpha}}$ where $h_{\alpha}^{\vee} \in R_{\sigma}^{\vee} \subset ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})$.

Proof. On the maximal commutative subalgebras, this isomorphism is given by (8.10) and (8.11), which are canonical. By construction, the bijection from Lemma 8.3 sends $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ to $T_{s_{\alpha^{\vee}}}$ whenever simple roots α and α^{\vee} match via Lemma 8.2 and (8.18). By Proposition 8.4 and the multiplication rules in Iwahori–Hecke algebras, the linear map $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ} \to \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$ from Lemma 8.3 is in fact an algebra isomorphism. The non-canonicity of this isomorphism is limited to automorphisms of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$ (or equivalently of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$) that respect the properties used in the above construction, i.e. automorphisms of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$ which are the identity on $\mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Irr}(ZW_L(J, \hat{\sigma}))) = \mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J, \hat{\sigma})]$. Such automorphisms were classified in [AMS4, Theorem 3.3 and its proof]. Indeed, conjugation by any element of

$$\mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})]^{\times} = \mathbb{C}^{\times} \times ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})$$

is possible, these are the relevant inner automorphisms of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$. Apart from this, there is at most one nontrivial possibility for each irreducible component $R_{\sigma,i}$ of the root system R_{σ} . This occurs only when $R_{\sigma,i}$ has type B_n and $q_{\theta,\alpha}^* = 1$ for the unique short simple root $\alpha \in R_{\sigma,i}$. Then there is an automorphism such that: (1) $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ is mapped to $h_{\alpha}^{\vee}T_{s_{\alpha}}$; and (2) $T_{s_{\beta}}$ is fixed for all other simple roots $\beta \in R_{\sigma}$. We remark that this automorphism could be inner, e.g. when $h_{\alpha}^{\vee}/2 \in ZW_L(J,\hat{\sigma})$.

8.3. Comparison of 2-cocycles.

We now study how the 2-cocycle $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ of $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ corresponds, via the isomorphism (8.20), to a 2-cocycle of $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$ coming from $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$.

Recall from [Hai, §3.3.1] that there is a natural isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L) \cong H^{1}(\mathbf{W}_{F}/\mathbf{I}_{F}, Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_{F}})^{\circ} \cong (Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_{F}})_{\mathbf{W}_{F}}^{\circ}$$

We write

$$\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L)^+ := \mathrm{Hom}(L, \mathbb{R}_{>0}) \subset \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L) \subset \mathfrak{X}^0(L)$$

and we let $\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L^{\vee})^+$ be its image in $(Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F}^{\circ} \subset \mathfrak{X}^0(L^{\vee})$ under (8.21). To analyze representations of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ with a central character in $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L^{\vee})^+\varphi_b$, one

can localize the algebra with respect to $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L^{\vee})^{+}\varphi_{b}$. The proof of [AMS3, Theorem 3.18] shows that this localization can be described by a twisted graded Hecke algebra $\mathbb{H}(\varphi_{b}, v = 1, \rho_{b}, \vec{\mathbf{r}})$, as in [AMS2, §4] and [AMS3, (3.9)]. This algebra contains a twisted group algebra $\mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{b}}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}]$, which enables us to study $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}|_{(W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{b}}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}})^{2}}$ via the description in [AMS1, Lemma 5.4] and [AMS2, (89)], where $\mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{b}}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}]$ is obtained as the endomorphism algebra of a certain equivariant local system determined by (φ_{b}, ρ_{b}) .

We need to modify the setup in [AMS1, AMS2, AMS3] from inner twists of p-adic groups to rigid inner twists. The definition of the cuspidal support map for enhanced L-parameters in this setting can be found in [Sol7, §7] and [DiSc]; for the other parts of [AMS1, AMS2, AMS3], there is hardly any difference. Let us work out the aforementioned local systems in our case. The enhancement ρ_b can be viewed as a $S_{\varphi_b}^+$ -equivariant local system on $\{0\}$ and (by pullback) on

$$\operatorname{Lie}(Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) = \operatorname{Lie}(Z_{L^{\vee}}(\varphi_b)) = \operatorname{Lie}(S_{\varphi_b}^+).$$

Let $G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}$ be $S_{\varphi_b}^+$ for φ_b viewed as element of $\Phi(G)$. Then $S_{\varphi_b}^+$ is a quasi-Levi subgroup (i.e. the centralizer of the connected centre of a Levi subgroup) of $G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}$. We pick a parabolic subgroup $P^{\vee,\circ}$ of $(G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+})^\circ$ with Levi factor $(S_{\varphi_b}^+)^\circ$, and we write $P^\vee:=P^{\vee,\circ}S_{\varphi_b}^+$. Consider the maps

$$(8.22) \quad \{0\} \xleftarrow{f_1} \left\{ (x,g) \in \operatorname{Lie}(G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}) \times G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+} : \operatorname{Ad}(g^{-1})x \in \operatorname{Lie}(P^{\vee}) \right\} \xrightarrow{f_2} \\ \left\{ (x,gP^{\vee}) \in \operatorname{Lie}(G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}) \times G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}/P^{\vee} : \operatorname{Ad}(g^{-1})x \in \operatorname{Lie}(P^{\vee}) \right\} \xrightarrow{f_3} \operatorname{Lie}(G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+})$$

where $f_2(x,g) = (x,gP^{\vee})$ and $f_3(x,gP^{\vee}) = x$. Let $\dot{\rho}_b$ be the unique $G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}$ -equivariant local system on

$$\left\{(x,gP^\vee)\in \mathrm{Lie}(G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+})\times G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}/P^\vee:\mathrm{Ad}(g^{-1})x\in \mathrm{Lie}(P^\vee)\right\}$$

such that $f_2^*\dot{\rho_b} = f_1^*\rho_b$. The map

$$f_3: \{(x, gP^{\vee}) \in \operatorname{Lie}(G_{\varphi_h}^{\vee,+})_{\operatorname{rss}} \times G_{\varphi_h}^{\vee,+}/P^{\vee}: \operatorname{Ad}(g^{-1})x \in \operatorname{Lie}(P^{\vee})\} \to \operatorname{Lie}(G_{\varphi_h}^{\vee,+})_{\operatorname{rss}}$$

restricted to regular semisimple elements⁶ is a fibration with fibre $N_{G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}}(S_{\varphi_b}^+)/S_{\varphi_b}^+$. If $(\dot{\rho_b})_{\rm rss}$ denotes the restriction of $\dot{\rho_b}$ to the regular semisimple locus, then $f_{3,!}(\dot{\rho_b})_{\rm rss}$ is a local system on Lie $(G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+})_{\rm rss}$. By [AMS1, Lemma 5.4], we have

(8.23)
$$\mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}] \cong \operatorname{End}(f_{3,!}(\dot{\rho_b})_{\mathrm{rss}}),$$

where the endomorphisms are taken in the category of $G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}$ -equivariant local systems on Lie $(G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+})_{rss}$. The proof of [AMS1, Lemma 5.4] uses that of [AMS1, Proposition 4.5] and [Lus1, §2]. There it is shown that End $(f_{3,!}(\dot{\rho}_b)_{rss})$ is canonically a direct sum of one-dimensional linear subspaces \mathcal{A}_w , indexed by $w \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}$. By [AMS1, (45)], an element of \mathcal{A}_w corresponds to a family $\mathcal{A}_{\tilde{w}}$ of morphisms of $S_{\varphi_b}^+$ -equivariant local systems on Lie $(S_{\varphi_b}^+)_{rss}$ as follows:

(8.24)
$$\mathcal{A}_{\tilde{w}}: \rho_b \to \tilde{w}^{-1} \cdot \rho_b \text{ for all } \tilde{w} \in N_{G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}}(S_{\varphi_b}^+) \text{ representing } w \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b},$$

⁶indicated by a subscript rss

related by $\mathcal{A}_{\tilde{w}n} = \mathcal{A}_{\tilde{w}} \circ (\text{action of } n)$ for all $n \in S_{\varphi_b}^+$. The multiplication in $\text{End}(f_{3,!}(\dot{\rho}_b)_{\text{rss}})$ satisfies $\mathcal{A}_{w_1} \cdot \mathcal{A}_{w_2} = \mathcal{A}_{w_1w_2}$, so any choice of a nonzero element A_w in each \mathcal{A}_w determines a 2-cocycle $\xi_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ and an isomorphism (8.23) by the relation

$$(8.25) A_{w_1} A_{w_2} = \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} (w_1, w_2) A_{w_1 w_2}.$$

Multiplying φ_b by $z \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$, as in (3.15), is a symmetry of the entire setup; in particular, one keeps the same ρ_b and the same A_w . Then (8.25) shows that

(8.26)
$$\natural_{z\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$$
 can be chosen to be equal to $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ for $z \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$.

Recall from (3.9) that

$$(8.27) W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b} \cong W(G^{\vee},L^{\vee})_{\varphi_b,\rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}),T^{\vee})_{\varphi_b,\rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}/W(L^{\vee},T^{\vee})_{\varphi_b,\rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

Via the canonical bijection $\operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_T}, \operatorname{id}) \to \operatorname{Irr}(S_{\varphi_b}^+, \eta)$ from (3.17)–(3.18), we can replace ρ_b by a representation ρ_{η} of $\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_T}$. The conjugation action of $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T, \eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ on $\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_T}$ is trivial on T^{\vee, \mathbf{W}_F} . Thus $w^{-1}\rho_{\eta}$ and $w^{-1}\rho_b$ are well-defined representations for $w \in W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$.

We now vary on (8.24) by picking representatives $\tilde{w} \in N_{G_{\varphi_b}^{\vee,+}}(S_{\varphi_b}^+)$ and fixing

$$(8.28) A_{\eta,\tilde{w}}: \rho_{\eta} \to \tilde{w}^{-1} \cdot \rho_{\eta}$$

for each $w \in W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. We impose $A_{\eta, \tilde{w}t} = \mathcal{A}_{\eta, \tilde{w}} \rho_{\eta}(t) = A_{\eta, \tilde{w}} \eta(t)$ for all $t \in \bar{T}^{\vee,+}$. In these terms, (8.25) can be rewritten as

$$(8.29) A_{\eta,\tilde{w}_1} A_{\eta,\tilde{w}_2} = \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}(w_1, w_2) A_{\eta,\tilde{w}_1\tilde{w}_2} = \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}(w_1, w_2) A_{\eta,\widetilde{w}_1\tilde{w}_2} \eta(\widetilde{w_1w_2}^{-1} \tilde{w}_1 \tilde{w}_2).$$

Note that $w_1, w_2 \in W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ in (8.29), in contrast to (8.24) and (8.25). For suitable choices of the $A_{\eta, \tilde{w}}$, the 2-cocycles $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ in (8.25) and (8.29) coincide, while in general they are only cohomologous. For book-keeping purposes, we introduce two further 2-cocycles of $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$:

$$\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\rho_{\eta}}(w_{1},w_{2}) := A_{\eta,\tilde{w}_{1}}A_{\eta,\tilde{w}_{2}}A_{\eta,\widetilde{w}_{1}\tilde{w}_{2}}^{-1} \quad \text{and} \quad \natural_{\eta}(w_{1},w_{2}) := \eta(\widetilde{w_{1}w_{2}}^{-1}\tilde{w}_{1}\tilde{w}_{2}).$$

We record that \natural_{η} is the 2-cocycle associated to the extension obtained from

$$1 \to \bar{T}^{\vee,+} \to N_{\bar{G}^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{+}_{\eta, \varphi_{h}} \to W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}_{\eta, \varphi_{h}} \to 1$$

by pushout along $\eta: \bar{T}^{\vee,+} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. Thus (8.29) means $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\rho_{\eta}} = \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \natural_{\eta}$, or equivalently,

Although, indeed, all these 2-cocycles depend on various choices of representatives, their cohomology classes are uniquely determined.

Next we analyze the relevant 2-cocycles of $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$, which is hard to do for elements of $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$ that do not fix any object of $\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$. Thus we focus on $\tau \in \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$ corresponding to the above (φ_b, ρ_b) via Theorem 4.8. By Proposition 4.5, it is tempered and unitary. By Theorem 4.8 and Lemma 8.2, we obtain a canonical isomorphism

$$(8.31) W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} \cong W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{h}}.$$

Recall from [Sol5, Theorem 6.11] that a suitably localized version of $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ contains a twisted group algebra

(8.32)
$$\mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau}, \natural_{\tau}].$$

We may inflate $abla_{\tau}$ from $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau} \cong W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}/W(R_{\sigma,\tau})$ to a 2-cocycle of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$. By [Sol5, (4.13) and proof of Proposition 5.12.a], $abla_{\tau}$ can be constructed via intertwiners of L-representations

(8.33)
$$\dot{w} \cdot \tau \to \tau \text{ for } \dot{w} \in N_G(L) \text{ representing } w \in W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}.$$

This is quite similar to how $\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}$ is defined in (7.9)–(7.10). Unfortunately, in general (i.e. when $L_{\tau}^2 \neq L_{\tau}^3 \neq L_{\tau}^4$), it is difficult to formulate the link between \natural_{τ} and $\mu_{\hat{\sigma}}$ precisely. The 2-cocycle \natural_{τ} can be described further with the construction of τ à la Deligne–Lusztig. Let (jT, θ, ρ) be the datum corresponding to (φ_b, ρ_b) via Theorem 4.8. Recall from (2.7) that $\tau = \kappa_{jT,\theta,\rho}^{L,\epsilon} = (\rho \otimes \operatorname{ind}_{L_{\mathfrak{f}}}^L \operatorname{inf}_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}^{L_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)} (\pm \mathcal{R}_{jT(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\theta))^{\epsilon})^{N_L(jT)_{\theta}}$. We also recall from (8.8) that

$$(8.34) W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} \cong W(N_G(L),jT)_{\theta,\rho}/W(L,jT)_{\theta,\rho}.$$

For $g \in N_G(L, jT)_{\theta,\rho} \subset G_{\mathfrak{f}}$ representing a $w \in W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$, we recall the isomorphism $g \cdot \kappa_{jT,\theta,\rho}^{L,\epsilon} \cong \kappa_{jT,\theta,g\cdot\rho}^{L,\epsilon}$ from (2.11)–(2.12). It was canonical up to the choice of ϵ , but meanwhile ϵ has been fixed in Theorem 4.8. Thus the choice of an isomorphism as in (8.33) boils down to the choice of an isomorphism of $N_L(jT)_{\theta}$ -representations

$$(8.35) g \cdot \rho \to \rho.$$

Recall the canonical bijection $\operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id}) \to \operatorname{Irr}(N_L(jT)_{\theta}, \theta)$ from (2.27)–(2.28). We denote the preimage of ρ by $\rho^{[x]} \in \operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]})$. Then (8.35) is equivalent to the choice of an isomorphism $B_g: g \cdot \rho^{[x]} \to \rho^{[x]}$ of $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ -representations, for $g \in N_G(L, jT)_{\theta, \rho}$. We may assume that

(8.36)
$$B_{gl} = B_g \circ \rho^{[x]}(l) \text{ for all } l \in N_L(jT)_{\theta}.$$

In these terms, $atural_{\tau}$ is given by

$$(8.37) B_{g_1}B_{g_2} = \natural_{\tau}(w_1, w_2)B_{g_1g_2}$$

for g_i representing $w_i \in W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$. For any $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G)$, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{N_L(jT)_{\chi\otimes\theta}}(g\cdot(\chi\otimes\rho),\chi\otimes\rho)=\operatorname{Hom}_{N_L(jT)_\theta}(\chi\otimes g\cdot\rho,\chi\otimes\rho)=\operatorname{Hom}_{N_L(jT)_\theta}(g\cdot\rho,\rho).$$

Hence we can use the same B_q for $\chi \otimes \theta$ and for θ . Knowing this, (8.37) shows that

(8.38)
$$\sharp_{\chi \otimes \tau} \text{ can be chosen to be equal to } \sharp_{\tau} \text{ for } \chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G).$$

Since the conjugation action of jT on $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ is trivial, $g \cdot \rho^{[x]}$ is a well-defined $\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ -representation for $g \in W(N_G(L), jT)_{\theta, \rho}$. We choose a set of representatives $\tilde{w} \in N_G(L, jT)_{\theta, \rho}$ for $W(N_G(L), jT)_{\theta, \rho}$, and we assume (8.36) only for $l \in jT$. (Thus we are implicitly inflating \natural_{τ} to $W(N_G(L), jT)_{\theta, \rho}$, and we allow it to be replaced by a cohomologous 2-cocycle.) Then for $w_1, w_2 \in W(N_G(L), jT)_{\theta, \rho}$, (8.37) becomes

(8.39)
$$B_{\tilde{w_1}} B_{\tilde{w_2}} = \natural_{\tau}(w_1, w_2) B_{\tilde{w_1}\tilde{w_2}} = \natural_{\tau}(w_1, w_2) B_{\widetilde{w_1}\widetilde{w_2}} \rho^{[x]} (\widetilde{w_1w_2}^{-1} \tilde{w_1}\tilde{w_2}) \\ = \natural_{\tau}(w_1, w_2) B_{\widetilde{w_1}\widetilde{w_2}} \theta(\widetilde{w_1w_2}^{-1} \tilde{w_1}\tilde{w_2}).$$

Let us define two 2-cocycles of $W(N_G(L), jT)_{\theta,\rho}$ by

$$\natural_{\mathfrak{s},\rho^{[x]}}(w_1, w_2) := B_{\tilde{w_1}} B_{\tilde{w_2}} B_{\widetilde{w_1} w_2}^{-1} \quad \text{and} \quad \natural_{\theta}(w_1, w_2) := \theta(\widetilde{w_1 w_2}^{-1} \tilde{w_1} \tilde{w_2}).$$

Note that \natural_{θ} is the 2-cocycle associated to the extension $\mathcal{E}_{\theta,G}^{[x]}$ from (A.1)–(A.2). Now (8.39) gives $\natural_{\mathfrak{s},\rho^{[x]}} = \natural_{\tau}\natural_{\theta}$, or equivalently,

$$\natural_{\tau} = \natural_{\mathfrak{s},\rho^{[x]}} \natural_{\theta}^{-1}.$$

The natural isomorphism (4.15) restricts to

$$(8.41) W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta} \cong W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

This enables us to compare (A.2) with (B.2).

Proposition 8.6. There exist isomorphisms of extensions of (8.41) by \mathbb{C}^{\times} :

$$\zeta_G^{\rtimes}: \mathcal{E}_{\theta,G}^{\rtimes[x]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}_{n,G}^{\rtimes\varphi_T}, \quad \zeta_G^0: \mathcal{E}_{\theta,G}^{0,[x]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}_{n,G}^{0,\varphi_T} \quad and \quad B(\zeta_G^0, \zeta_G^{\rtimes}): \mathcal{E}_{\theta,G}^{[x]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}_{n,G}^{\varphi_T},$$

which contain the similar isomorphisms without subscripts G from (4.13). These isomorphisms do not change if we adjust both θ and φ_T by an element of $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$.

Proof. For ζ_G^{\times} , this follows from [Kal5, Proposition 8.1], as in (4.17). The isomorphism ζ_G^0 exists because both source and target are split by Propositions A.2 and B.2. By Lemmas A.1 and B.1, the Baer sum of ζ_G^0 and ζ_G^{\times} is the required isomorphism $B(\zeta_G^0, \zeta_G^{\times})$. By (8.26) and (8.38), we can make all the choices invariant under twisting by $\mathfrak{X}^0(G) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$.

We are ready to complete the comparison of the 2-cocycles $\sharp_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ and \sharp_{τ} on $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b} \cong W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$. Recall that in the above process we have already inflated these 2-cocycles to

$$(8.42) W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta, \rho},$$

via (8.27) and (8.34).

Theorem 8.7. (a) The following equalities hold in $H^2(W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$:

$$\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^\vee,\rho_\eta}=\natural_{\mathfrak{s},\rho^{[x]}},\quad \natural_\eta=\natural_\theta,\quad and\quad \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^\vee}=\natural_\tau.$$

Proof. (a) The isomorphism $B(\zeta_G^0,\zeta_G^{\times}):\mathcal{E}_{\theta,G}^{[x]}\stackrel{\sim}{\to}\mathcal{E}_{\eta,G}^{\varphi_T}$ from Lemma 4.4, translates ρ_{η} into $\rho^{[x]}$, because $\pi(\varphi_b,\rho_b)=\tau=\pi_{jT,\theta,\rho}^{L,\epsilon}$. By the $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}),T^{\vee})_{\eta,\varphi_T}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ -equivariance of $B(\zeta_G^0,\zeta_G^{\times})$, the data for computing $\natural_{\mathfrak{s},\rho^{[x]}}$ match exactly with the data for computing $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\rho_{\eta}}$. Hence any choice of the $A_{\eta,\tilde{w}}$ in (8.28) corresponds to a choice of the $B_{\tilde{w}}$ in (8.39), and with these choices the 2-cocycles $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\rho_{\eta}}$ and $\natural_{\mathfrak{s},\rho^{[x]}}$ coincide.

The isomorphism $\mathcal{E}_{\eta,G}^{[x]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}_{\eta,G}^{\varphi_T}$ from Proposition 8.6 shows that \natural_{θ} and \natural_{η} are cohomologous. By (8.40) and (8.30), we compute in $H^2(W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$:

$$\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\rho_{\eta}} \natural_{\eta}^{-1} = \natural_{\mathfrak{s},\rho^{[x]}} \natural_{\theta}^{-1} = \natural_{\tau}.$$

(b) By part (a), $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ and \natural_{τ} are cohomologous 2-cocycles of (8.42). By construction, $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \in H^2(W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta, \varphi_b, \rho_b}^{\mathbf{W}_F}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$ arises by inflation from $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \in H^2(W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$, and $\natural_{\tau} \in H^2(W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{[x], \theta, \rho}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$ is inflated from $\natural_{\tau} \in H^2(W_{\mathfrak{s}, \tau}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$. Hence $\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ and \natural_{τ} are cohomologous 2-cocycles, via the isomorphism (8.31). \square

Recall that the root system $R_{\sigma,\tau}$ from (7.34) consists of roots $\alpha \in R_{\sigma}$ satisfying $s_{\alpha}(\tau) = \tau$. Via (8.18), $R_{\sigma,\tau}$ corresponds to the root system

$$R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b} := \{\beta \in R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} : s_{\beta}(\varphi_b) = \varphi_b\}.$$

The set of positive roots $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}^+ = R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b} \cap R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}^+$ gives rise to a decomposition

$$(8.43) W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b} = W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}},\varphi_b) \rtimes \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}, \text{where} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b} = \mathrm{Stab}_{W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}}(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}^+).$$

This is compatible with (7.35), thus (8.31) decomposes into isomorphisms

$$(8.44) W(R_{\sigma,\tau}) \cong W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}) \text{ and } \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau} \cong \Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}.$$

Similar to (8.32), the 2-cocycle $\downarrow_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ is trivial on $W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}) \subset W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}})$, so $\downarrow_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}|_{(W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b})^2}$ factors through $(W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}/W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}))^2 \cong (\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b})^2$. As a direct consequence of Theorem 8.7 (b), the group isomorphisms (8.44) can be lifted to algebra isomorphisms

$$(8.45) \qquad \mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{h}},\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}] \cong \mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau},\natural_{\tau}] \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{h}},\natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}] \cong \mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau},\natural_{\tau}].$$

To a suitable localization of $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$, in some sense centering on τ , one can associate a twisted graded Hecke algebra as in [Sol5, §7], say $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$. Here $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is a degenerate root datum involving the root system $R_{\sigma,\tau}$ and the vector space

$$\mathfrak{t} := \operatorname{Lie}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)) = X^*(Z^{\circ}(L)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}.$$

By definition, $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t})$ is a maximal commutative subalgebra, $\mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, \natural_{\tau}]$ is a subalgebra and the multiplication map

(8.46)
$$\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t}) \otimes \mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, \natural_{\tau}] \to \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$$

is a linear bijection. Let $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ be the twisted graded Hecke algebra obtained from $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ via the reduction procedure from [Lus3] and [Sol1, §2.1], centred at φ_b . In the terminology of [AMS3, §3.1], it can be written as

(8.47)
$$\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})) = \mathbb{H}(\varphi_b, \rho_b, \mathbf{r})/(\mathbf{r} - \log(q_F^{1/2})).$$

Let l^{\vee} be the Lie algebra of L^{\vee} , so that

$$\operatorname{Lie}((Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F}^{\circ}) \cong Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} = (X_*(Z^{\circ}(L^{\vee})) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C})^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

By construction, $\mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F})$ is a maximal commutative subalgebra of (8.47), $\mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}]$ is a subalgebra and the multiplication map

(8.48)
$$\mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) \otimes \mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}] \to \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$$

is a linear bijection.

Proposition 8.8. Proposition 8.5 and (8.45) induce an algebra isomorphism

$$\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s}, \tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}).$$

It is canonical up to:

- inner automorphisms that fix $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t})$ pointwise;
- twisting by characters of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$ that are trivial on the subgroup generated by the reflections s_{α} with $\alpha \in R_{\sigma,\tau}$ and $k_{\alpha}^{\tau} \neq 0$.

Proof. Recall from (7.36) and (8.1) that there are finite coverings

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L) & \to & \mathrm{Irr}(L)_{[L,\tau]} & : & \chi & \mapsto & \chi \otimes \tau, \\ \left(Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_{F}}\right)_{\mathbf{W}_{F}}^{\circ} & \to & \mathfrak{s}_{L}^{\vee} & : & z & \mapsto & (z\varphi_{b},\rho_{b}). \end{array}$$

It follows that the tangent map of (8.9) is a linear bijection

$$\mathfrak{t} \to Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F},$$

which by Theorem 4.8 and Lemma 8.2 is equivariant for $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} \cong W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}$. In fact it comes from the isomorphisms

$$X^*(Z(L)^\circ) \cong X^*(Z^\circ(\mathcal{L}))^{\mathbf{W}_F} \cong X_*(Z^\circ(L^\vee))^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

The map (8.49) induces an algebra isomorphism

(8.50)
$$\mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t}).$$

The map (8.50) is induced just as well by (8.10), which is a part of Proposition 8.5. For the twisted group algebras in (8.46) and (8.48), we take the first isomorphism in (8.45). Note that the restricted isomorphism $\mathbb{C}[W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b})] \cong \mathbb{C}[W(R_{\sigma,\tau})]$ is also induced by Proposition 8.5, via [Lus3] and [Sol1, §2.1]. By (8.50), (8.45), (8.46) and (8.48), we obtain a linear bijection

(8.51)
$$\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s}, \tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}).$$

To guarantee that this is an algebra isomorphism, it remains to check that the parameters for the roots on both sides agree under the bijection $R_{\sigma,\tau} \leftrightarrow R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}$ from (8.18). By [AMS3, Proposition 3.14.a], the parameters of $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ are obtained from the parameters of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$ via the method of [AMS3, Theorems 2.5 and 2.11 and (2.19)], or equivalently via [Lus3, Theorems 8.6 and 9.3]. In Proposition 8.4, we showed that the parameters of $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$ match with those of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$. Since $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ} \subset \operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ by (7.38), all simple reflections in $W(R_{\sigma})$ have the same parameters $(q \text{ and } q^*)$ in each of these three algebras. The parameters k^{τ} for the roots in $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$ are defined in terms of the parameters for $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ in [Sol5, §7 and (35)]:

(8.52)
$$k_{\alpha}^{\tau} = \begin{cases} \log(q_{\theta,\alpha}) & \text{if } X_{\alpha}(\tau) = 1\\ \log(q_{\theta,\alpha}^{*}) & \text{if } X_{\alpha}(\tau) = -1 \end{cases}.$$

By [Sol5, (95)], $q_{\theta,\alpha}q_{\theta,\alpha}^* = q_F^{\lambda(\alpha)}$ and $q_{\theta,\alpha}(q_{\theta,\alpha}^*)^{-1} = q_F^{\lambda^*(\alpha)}$. Thus (8.52) gives

(8.53)
$$k_{\alpha}^{\tau} = \log(q_F^{1/2}) \left(\lambda(\alpha) + X_{\alpha}(\tau) \lambda^*(\alpha) \right).$$

If we set $\mathbf{r} = \log(q_F^{1/2})$ and replace X_{α} by $m_{\alpha}\alpha$ as prescribed in [AMS3, Proposition 3.14], then (8.53) becomes [AMS3, (2.19)]. Hence k_{α}^{τ} is also the parameter of α in $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. The non-canonicity in (8.51) comes from three sources:

- (1) Algebra automorphisms of $\mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau}, \natural_{\tau}]$ that stabilize each line $\mathbb{C}\gamma$ for $\gamma \in \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau}$. These are precisely the maps $\gamma \mapsto \chi(\gamma)\gamma$ where $\chi : \Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is a character. On $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$, this means twisting by a character of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}/W(R_{\sigma,\tau})$.
- (2) The non-canonicity in Proposition 8.5, in particular with respect to inner automorphisms of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ that restrict to the identity on $\mathbb{C}[ZW_L(J, \hat{\sigma})]$. These account for inner automorphisms of $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$ that are the identity on $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t})$.
- (3) Proposition 8.5 also allows for some adjustments for short simple roots $\alpha \in R_{\sigma,\tau}$ satisfying $q_{\theta,\alpha}^* = 1$, i.e. $T_{s_{\alpha}}$ may be replaced by $T_{s_{\alpha}}h_{\alpha}^{\vee}$ in $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{f},\hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$. By [Sol5, (35)], this h_{α}^{\vee} corresponds to X_{α} in (8.52). By [Sol5, Proposition 7.3 and its proof], we see that $T_{s_{\alpha}} \mapsto T_{s_{\alpha}}h_{\alpha}^{\vee}$ translates to

(8.54)
$$N_{s_{\alpha}} \mapsto X_{\alpha}(\tau) N_{s_{\alpha}} \text{ in } \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}).$$

If $X_{\alpha}(\tau) = 1$, then this does nothing. On the other hand, if $X_{\alpha}(\tau) = -1$, then (8.52) implies that $k_{\alpha}^{\tau} = 0$. As mentioned in the proof of Proposition 8.5, the operation

 $T_{s_{\alpha}} \mapsto T_{s_{\alpha}} h_{\alpha}^{\vee}$ fixes all generators $T_{s_{\beta}}$ where s_{β} is not $W(R_{\sigma})$ -conjugate to s_{α} . Hence (8.54) fixes all $N_{s_{\beta}}$ where $\beta \in R_{\sigma,\tau}$ and $k_{\beta}^{\tau} \neq 0$. Consequently, (8.54) gives rise to a character χ of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$ that is trivial on $\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau}$ and on all such s_{β} , and the algebra automorphism induced by (8.54) is given by twisting by this χ .

Let $R'_{\sigma,\tau}$ be the subset of $R_{\sigma,\tau}$ consisting of the roots α with $k^{\tau}_{\alpha} \neq 0$. It is again a root system, with positive roots $R'_{\sigma,\tau}$. This gives a decomposition

$$W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} = W(R'_{\sigma,\tau}) \rtimes \Gamma'_{\hat{\sigma},\tau},$$

where $\Gamma'_{\sigma,\tau}$ is the stabilizer of $R'_{\sigma,\tau}$. The presentation of twisted graded Hecke algebras, as in [AMS2, Proposition 2.2], shows that we can write

(8.55)
$$\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}) = \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W(R'_{\sigma,\tau}), k^{\tau}) \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\Gamma'_{\hat{\sigma},\tau}, \natural_{\tau}].$$

Proposition 8.8 allows us to transfer this decomposition to $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. More precisely, let $R'_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}$ be the subsystem of roots with nonzero parameters and write

$$W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b} = W(R'_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}) \rtimes \Gamma'_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}.$$

Let $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))^{\circ}$ be the graded Hecke algebra built from $Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, $R'_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}$ and the parameters for those roots in $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. Then

$$(8.56) \qquad \mathbb{H}\left(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})\right) = \mathbb{H}\left(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})\right)^{\circ} \rtimes \mathbb{C}\left[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}', \mathfrak{t}_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}\right],$$

and Proposition 8.8 respects the decompositions (8.55) and (8.56).

9. Equivalences between module categories of Hecke algebras

Consider a type $(\hat{P}_{f}, \hat{\sigma})$ for G as in Theorem 7.1, and recall that it covers the type $(\hat{P}_{L,f}, \hat{\sigma})$ for L. Let \mathfrak{s} be the associated inertial equivalence class for G. By [BuKu], there is an equivalence of categories

$$(9.1) \quad \operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}} = \operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Mod} - \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) \text{ given by } \pi \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(\hat{\sigma}, \pi),$$

and likewise $\operatorname{Rep}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Mod} - \mathcal{H}(L,\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ given by $\pi_L \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}}(\hat{\sigma},\pi_L)$. Here $\operatorname{Mod} - \mathcal{H}$ denotes the category of right \mathcal{H} -modules. Recall from (7.26) that $\mathcal{H}(L,\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ embeds canonically in $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$. By [Sol2, Lemma 4.1], the supercuspidal support map $\operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}} = \operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma}} \to \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}/W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$ translates via (9.1) to the map

(9.2)
$$\operatorname{Irr} - \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{f}, \hat{\sigma}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Irr} - \mathcal{H}(L, \hat{P}_{L,f}, \hat{\sigma}) / W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}},$$

which sends an irreducible $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ -module M to any irreducible $\mathcal{H}(L, \hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ -subquotient of M. By Lemma 7.8 and (7.30), the map (9.2) is well-defined. The Bernstein presentation of $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$ shows that (9.2) is essentially the central character map for $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$.

Let $\tau \in \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L} = \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$ be a unitary non-singular supercuspidal representation of depth zero. Here we mean non-singularity as in Section 2, based on a F-non-singular character of a torus and slightly more restrictive than requiring σ to be non-singular. Recall the group $\mathfrak{X}^+_{\operatorname{nr}}(L) = \operatorname{Hom}(L, \mathbb{R}_{>0})$ of positive unramified characters of L. Our LLC will run through the category $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}^+_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)\tau}$, whose

objects are all finite-length G-representations π such that every irreducible subquotient π' of π has supercuspidal support⁷ in $(L, \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau)$. By convention, all our subcategories of $\mathrm{Rep}(G)$ will be full.

Let $(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau)_{\mathcal{H}}$ be the subset of Irr - $\mathcal{H}(L,\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ corresponding to $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau$ via (9.1) for L. Define $\mathrm{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau)_{\mathcal{H}}}$ - $\mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$ similarly (as $\mathrm{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau}$), i.e. its objects are the finite-length modules M such that every irreducible subquotient of M maps to $W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau)_{\mathcal{H}}$ by (9.2). There is an equivalence of categories

(9.3)
$$\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Mod} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}), \quad \pi \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}, \pi).$$

Here $\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}} = \mathrm{I}_{Q}^{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{L})$ for a progenerator $\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{L}$ of $\mathrm{Rep}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_{L}}$, which gives the analogue of (9.3) for L. Now $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)\tau$ corresponds to a set of irreducible representations of $\mathrm{End}_{L}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{L})$ that we denote $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L) \otimes \tau$. We define

(9.4)
$$\operatorname{Mod}_{\operatorname{fl},\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)\otimes\tau}$$
 - $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) = \operatorname{Mod}_{\operatorname{fl},W(G,L)_{\widehat{\sigma}}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)\otimes\tau)}$ - $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$

to be the category consisting of the finite-length modules M such that every irreducible $\operatorname{End}_L(\Pi^L_{\mathfrak{s}})$ -subquotient of M belongs to $W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}(\mathfrak{X}^+_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)\otimes\tau)$.

Recall the graded Hecke algebra $\mathbb{H}(\mathcal{R}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$ from (8.46). We write

$$\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}} = \operatorname{Lie}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)) = X^*(Z^{\circ}(L)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$$

and let $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}}$ - $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$ be the category whose objects are the finite-length modules M such that, as an $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t})$ -module, M has all its irreducible subquotients in $\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Proposition 9.1. The following categories are canonically equivalent:

- (i) $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau}$;
- (ii) $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau)_{\mathcal{H}}} \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma});$
- (iii) $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\otimes\tau}^{\mathrm{H},\mathfrak{T}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\otimes\tau}$ $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}});$
- (iv) $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}}$ $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$.

These equivalences are compatible with parabolic induction and restriction.

Remark 9.2. Here parabolic restriction from $\text{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ to $\text{Rep}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$ means: Jacquet restriction with respect to the parabolic subgroup of G opposite to (Q, L), followed by projection from Rep(L) to the Bernstein block $\text{Rep}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$.

Proof. The equivalence between (i) and (ii) follows directly from (9.1), (9.2) and the definitions. It is compatible with parabolic induction and restriction by [Sol2, Lemma 4.1]. The equivalences between (i), (iii) and (iv), as well as the compatibility with parabolic induction and restriction, follow from [Sol5, Corollary 8.1].

In (8.49), the \mathbb{R} -linear subspace $\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}} \subset \mathfrak{t}$ corresponds to

$$Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{W}_F} := (X_*(Z^{\circ}(L^{\vee})) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R})^{\mathbf{W}_F} \subset Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

We put

(9.5)
$$\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L^{\vee}) := \exp\left(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}\right) \subset \left(\left((Z(L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F}\right)^{\circ}.$$

⁷Supercuspidal supports are only defined up to G-conjugacy, so strictly speaking we mean that $Sc(\pi')$ has a representative in $(L, \mathfrak{X}_{nr}^+(L)\tau)$.

Proposition 8.8 induces an equivalence of categories

$$(9.6) \qquad \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}) \cong \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{w}_{F}}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_{b}, \log(q_{F}^{1/2})).$$

By (8.45) and (8.50), the isomorphism in Proposition 8.8 precisely matches the parabolic subalgebras on both sides, so (9.6) commutes with parabolic induction and restriction. Composing (9.6) with (i) \rightarrow (iv) in Proposition 9.1, we obtain an equivalence of categories

(9.7)
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau} \cong \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^\vee)^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^\vee,\varphi_b,\log(q_F^{1/2})),$$

which is again compatible with parabolic induction and restriction. Given the algebras, the equivalences (9.6) and (9.7) are canonical up to twisting by characters of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$, as described in Proposition 8.8. For the algebras in question, the only further choices are those of systems of positive roots, which are innocent.

However, there is another source of ambiguity: τ may be replaced by an $N_G(L)$ conjugate representation of L. Composing τ with conjugation by elements of L does
not matter, so we are looking at $\bar{w} \cdot \tau$ with $\bar{w} \in N_G(L)$ representing $w \in W(G, L)$.
Since the supercuspidal support of an irreducible G-representation is only defined
up to G-conjugacy, $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau}$ is equal to $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\bar{w}\tau}$.

For elements of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$, this does not do anything. Therefore we may adjust w by an element of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$, and we may assume that

$$(9.8) w(R_{\sigma,\tau}^+) = R_{\bar{w}\sigma,\bar{w}\tau}^+.$$

Proposition 9.3. Let $w \in W(G, L)$ be represented by $\bar{w} \in N_G(L)$ and satisfy (9.8). Let w^{\vee} be the corresponding element of $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. The diagram

$$(9.9) \qquad \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)\tau} \xrightarrow{(9.7)} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{w}_{F}}} - \mathbb{H}\left(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{b},\log(q_{F}^{1/2})\right)$$

$$\downarrow^{\operatorname{Ad}(\overline{w})} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\operatorname{Ad}(w^{\vee})}$$

$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)\overline{w}\tau} \xrightarrow{(9.7)} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{w}_{F}}} - \mathbb{H}\left(w^{\vee}\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},w^{\vee}\varphi_{b},\log(q_{F}^{1/2})\right)$$

commutes, up to isomorphisms of representations of one algebra (resp. group). Here $Ad(w^{\vee})$ is induced by the algebra isomorphism: for $f \in \mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F})$ and $v \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}$, (9.10)

$$\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \to \mathbb{H}(w^{\vee}\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, w^{\vee}\varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})), fN_v \mapsto (f \circ w^{\vee -1})N_{w^{\vee}vw^{\vee -1}}.$$

Proof. Since we only have to consider G-representations up to isomorphism, the left hand side of the diagram reduces to the identity map. Condition (9.8) implies that

$$(9.11) w^{\vee}(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{h}}^{+}) = R_{w^{\vee}\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},w^{\vee}\varphi_{h}}^{+}$$

via (8.19). Therefore, (9.10) is an algebra homomorphism (while bijectivity is clear). First we treat the case $w \in W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$. By (8.8), we can represent $W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$ in $N_G(L, T)_{\hat{\sigma}}$, thus we may assume that $\bar{w} \in N_G(L, T)_{\hat{\sigma}}$. We will use the notations for analytic localization as discussed around (7.40). In Proposition 9.1.(iv), the identity

 $\operatorname{Ad}(\bar{w})$ on $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L)\tau}$ corresponds to the composition of the canonical bijections

$$(9.12) \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}) \to \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)} 1_{U_{\tau}} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_{U}^{an} 1_{U_{\tau}} \\ \to \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}(L))\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_{U}^{an} \\ \to \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},w\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)} - 1_{wU_{\tau}} \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_{U}^{an} 1_{wU_{\tau}} \\ \to \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{w\tau}, W_{w\mathfrak{s},w\tau}, k^{w\tau}, \natural_{w\tau}).$$

The first and last maps in (9.12) are induced by analytic localization, see [Sol5, Lemma 7.2 and Proposition 7.3], so they do not change anything on the level of modules up to isomorphism. The second and third maps in (9.12) follow from [Sol5, Lemmas 6.4 and 6.5]. By the proof of [Sol5, Lemma 6.4], their composition

$$\operatorname{Mod}_{\operatorname{fl},\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)} 1_{U_{\tau}} \operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_U^{an} 1_{U_{\tau}} \to \operatorname{Mod}_{\operatorname{fl},w\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)} 1_{wU_{\tau}} \operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_U^{an} 1_{wU_{\tau}}$$

is given by $M \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}(\mathcal{T}_w)M$ with \mathcal{T}_w as in [Sol5, §5.2]. By [Sol5, Proposition 7.3] and the definition of the elements A_r^{τ}, A_v^{τ} [Sol5, §6.1] and \mathcal{T}_v^{τ} [Sol5, Lemma 6.10],

$$\mathcal{T}_w N_r^{\tau} N_v^{\tau} \mathcal{T}_w^{-1} = N_{wrw^{-1}}^{w\tau} N_{wvw^{-1}}^{w\tau} \in \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{w\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s}, w\tau}, k^{w\tau}, \natural_{w\tau})$$

for all standard basis elements $N_r^{\tau} \in \mathbb{C}[\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, \natural_{\tau}]$ and $N_v^{\tau} \in \mathbb{C}[W(R_{\sigma,\tau})]$. We conclude that the composition of the maps in (9.12) is given by push forward along the algebra isomorphism: for $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t})$ and $rv \in W_{\sigma,\tau}$, (9.13)

$$\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}) \to \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{w\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},w\tau}, k^{w\tau}, \natural_{w\tau}), \ fN_rN_v \mapsto (f \circ w^{-1})N_{wrw^{-1}}N_{wvw^{-1}}.$$

Next we need to transfer this along (9.7) to the right-hand side of the diagram. Proposition 8.8 translates (9.13) into the algebra isomorphism (9.10), thus indeed the right-hand side of the diagram is given by push-forward along (9.13).

Let $w \in W(G, L) \setminus W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$. Conjugation by \bar{w} induces an algebra isomorphism

$$(9.14) \operatorname{Ad}(\bar{w}) : \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma}) \to \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\bar{w}\mathfrak{f}}, \bar{w}\hat{\sigma}), \ f \mapsto f \circ \operatorname{Ad}(\bar{w})^{-1} = [g \mapsto f(\bar{w}^{-1}g\bar{w})].$$

It interacts with the left column of diagram (9.9) as

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)\tau} & \xrightarrow{\quad (9.1)} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)\tau)_{\mathcal{H}}} - \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma}) \\ & \downarrow_{\operatorname{Ad}(\bar{w})} & \downarrow_{\operatorname{Ad}(\bar{w})} \\ \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)\bar{w}\tau} & \xrightarrow{\quad (9.1)} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\bar{w}}(\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L)\tau)_{\mathcal{H}} - \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\bar{w}\mathfrak{f}},\bar{w}\hat{\sigma}) \end{split}$$

In terms of Theorem 7.2, for a simple reflection s_{α} , (9.14) sends $T_{s_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\hat{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ to $T_{s_{w(\alpha)}}$, where $s_{w(\alpha)}$ is a simple reflection in $W(wJ, \bar{w}\hat{\sigma})$ by (9.8). Similarly, $\mathrm{Ad}(\bar{w})$ sends a standard basis element $T_{\gamma} \in \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\hat{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$, where $\gamma \in \Omega(J, \hat{\sigma})$, to $T_{w\gamma w^{-1}} \in \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\bar{w}\hat{f}}, \bar{w}\hat{\sigma})$. (Note that this imposes a normalization on $T_{w\gamma w^{-1}}$, just as we chose a normalization of T_{γ} in the proof of Theorem 7.2.) It follows that on $\mathbb{C}[L_{\tau}^3/L^1] \cong \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Irr}(CW_L(J, \hat{\sigma})))$, embedded in $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\hat{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ via (7.26), $\mathrm{Ad}(\bar{w})$ restricts to

$$(9.15) \mathcal{O}\big(\operatorname{Irr}(CW_L(J,\hat{\sigma}))\big) \to \mathcal{O}\big(\operatorname{Irr}(CW_L(J,\bar{w}\hat{\sigma}))\big): f \mapsto f \circ w^{-1}.$$

⁸For $N_{wvw^{-1}}^{w\tau}$, this involves a choice of normalization, but the freedom in that choice is equivalent to the freedom we already had in defining N_r^{τ} .

Recall from (7.32) that $\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}} \cong \operatorname{ind}_{\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}}^{G}(\hat{\sigma})^{[L:L_{\tau}^{3}]}$ and from (7.29) that $\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \cong M_{[L:L_{\tau}^{3}]}(\mathbb{C}) \otimes \mathcal{H}(G,\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})$. In this way, (9.14) induces an algebra isomorphism (9.16) $\operatorname{Ad}(\bar{w}) : \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \to \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{w\mathfrak{s}}).$

Proposition 7.9 gives a more precise description of how $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ is embedded in $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$. Thus the property $\operatorname{Ad}(\bar{w})T_v = T_{wvw^{-1}}$ for $w \in W(J, \hat{\sigma})$ remains valid in (9.16). Upon analytic localization as in (7.40), Lemma 7.10 shows that (9.16) is already given by a localized version of (9.14). Therefore, (9.15) shows that the localized version of (9.16) agrees with the algebra isomorphism (9.13), only with $w\mathfrak{s}$ instead of \mathfrak{s} on the right-hand side. We conclude as in the case $w \in W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$, with the same argument as following (9.13).

Proposition 9.3 allows us to combine the equivalences of categories from (9.6) and (9.7) into the following cleaner statement.

Theorem 9.4. There exist the following equivalences of categories

(9.17)
$$\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}} \cong \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \cong \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_{F}^{1/2}),$$

induced by Propositions 9.1 and 8.8. These equivalences are compatible with parabolic induction and restriction 9 .

Proof. The first equivalence is just (9.3) restricted to objects of finite length. By [Sol5, Corollary 8.1], this induces the equivalence between (i) and (iv) in Proposition 9.1. From another viewpoint, the first equivalence in this theorem is obtained from (i) \rightarrow (iv) in Proposition 9.1 by taking the direct sum over all unitary representations τ in $Irr(L)_{5L}/W(G,L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$.

In (9.7), we can take the direct sum over all unitary representations τ in $\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$, or equivalently over all bounded $(\varphi_b, \rho_b) \in \Phi_e(L)^{\mathfrak{s}_L}$. The summands indexed by τ and τ' that differ by an element $w \in W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}} = W_{\mathfrak{s}}$ are identified via Proposition 9.3, and dividing out those relations recovers $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ from the left-hand side of (9.7). On the right-hand side of (9.7), we can reduce to a direct sum over (φ_b, ρ_b) up to conjugation under $W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}^{\mathbf{W}_F} = W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$, which brings us to

$$(9.18) \qquad \bigoplus_{(\varphi_b,\rho_b)\in\varphi_{e,bdd}^{\mathfrak{s}_L}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathfrak{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{w}_F}} - \mathbb{H}\left(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b,\log(q_F^{1/2})\right) / W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}},$$

where the subscript bdd stands for bounded. It was already shown in Proposition 9.1 and (9.6) that all steps so far respect parabolic induction and restriction.

We claim that (9.18) is equivalent to $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}}$ - $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ via an equivalence that respects parabolic induction and restriction. Finite-length modules M for any algebra can be decomposed along central characters: for each central character χ , one takes M_{χ} to be the maximal submodule of M such that all irreducible subquotients of M_{χ} admit central character χ . In particular we have, in the notation of (9.5),

$$\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} \text{ - } \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}) \ \cong \ \bigoplus\nolimits_{(\varphi_b, \rho_b) \in \varphi_{e, bdd}^{\mathfrak{s}_L}/W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}} \ \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}, \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L^{\vee})(\varphi_b, \rho_b)} \text{ - } \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}).$$

For a suitable action of $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$, the right-hand side can be rewritten as

$$\bigoplus_{(\varphi_b,\rho_b)\in\varphi_{e,bdd}^{\mathfrak{s}_L}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L^{\vee})(\varphi_b,\rho_b)} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2}) / W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}.$$

⁹Parabolic restriction in the sense of Remark 9.2

By construction $w^{\vee} \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ acts trivially on summands indexed by w^{\vee} -fixed (φ'_b, ρ_b) . By [AMS3, Proposition 3.14.a, Theorem 3.18.a], there is a canonical equivalence

$$(9.20) \quad \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L^\vee)(\varphi_b,\rho_b)} \operatorname{-} \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^\vee,q_F^{1/2}) \ \cong \ \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^\vee)_{\mathbb{B}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}} \operatorname{-} \mathbb{H}\big(\mathfrak{s}^\vee,\varphi_b,\log(q_F^{1/2})\big).$$

By [AMS3, Theorems 2.5.b and 2.11.b], this equivalence commutes with parabolic induction and restriction. For Hecke algebras, parabolic restriction is right adjoint to parabolic induction (which is just Frobenius reciprocity for algebras). By the uniqueness of adjoint functors, (9.20) also commutes with parabolic restriction.

Via (9.20), (9.19) becomes

$$(9.21) \qquad \bigoplus_{(\varphi_b,\rho_b)\in\varphi_{a,b,dd}^{\mathfrak{s}_L}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^\vee)_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{w}_F}} - \mathbb{H}\left(\mathfrak{s}^\vee,\varphi_b,\log(q_F^{1/2})\right) / W_{\mathfrak{s}^\vee}.$$

By [Lus3, §7], or by an argument analogous to the analysis of (9.12) in the proof of Proposition 9.3, we deduce that the action of $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ in (9.21) reduces to the cases for which (9.11) holds, where it is none other than $\mathrm{Ad}(w^{\vee})$ from Proposition 9.3. This proves the claim we made after (9.18).

Remark 9.5. We warn the reader that Theorem 9.4 does not imply that $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ and $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ are Morita equivalent. We really need the restriction to finite-length modules, because those can be decomposed along central characters. The difficulties (or even obstructions) to extend such equivalences of categories to representations of arbitrary length stem from (7.25).

Let $\mathfrak{B}(G)_{ns}$ be the collection of inertial equivalence classes for G whose supercuspidal representations are non-singular, and define the subset $\mathfrak{B}(G)_{ns}^0$ by the additional condition that the supercuspidal representations have depth zero. This $\mathfrak{B}(G)_{ns}^0$ is a finite set because: G has only finitely many conjugacy classes of Levi subgroups L; each such L has only finitely many orbits of facets \mathfrak{f}_L in its Bruhat–Tits building; and each of the groups $\hat{P}_{L,\mathfrak{f}}$ has only finitely many irreducible representations that come from its finite reductive quotient. We write

$$\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(G)_{ns} := \prod_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{B}(G)_{ns}^{0}} \operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$$

for the category of G-representations whose cuspidal support consists of non-singular depth-zero representations. Since the index set is finite, the direct product is also a direct sum. We recall that $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ acts on $\operatorname{Rep}^0(G)_{ns}$ by tensoring.

Theorem 9.6. The equivalences (9.17) induce equivalences of categories

$$(9.22) \quad \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}^{0}(G)_{ns} \cong \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{B}(G)_{ns}^{0}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \cong \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{B}(G)_{ns}^{0}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_{F}^{1/2}),$$

which are compatible with parabolic induction and restriction.

The group $\mathfrak{X}^0(G) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ acts canonically on all three terms, and the equivalences are equivariant for these actions.

Proof. The equivalences of categories follow directly from Theorem 9.4. Next we decompose $\operatorname{Rep}^0(G)_{ns}$ into $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ -stable pieces. Let $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{f}}$ be the sum of the categories $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$, where $\hat{\sigma}$ runs over all F-non-singular representations of $\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}$. This category is stable under twisting by $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$, because every $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(L)$ is trivial on $G_{\mathfrak{f},0+} = \ker(P_{\mathfrak{f}} \to \mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F))$. For an inertial equivalence class $\mathfrak{s} = [L,\tau]_G$, we write

 $\mathfrak{s} \prec \mathfrak{f}$ if $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ has the form $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$ as in Theorem 7.1, so that $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{f}} = \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s} \prec \mathfrak{f}} \operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$. In this context, Theorem 9.4 gives equivalences of categories

$$(9.23) \quad \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}(G)_{(P_{\mathfrak{f}},\sigma)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s}\prec\mathfrak{f}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s}\prec\mathfrak{f}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_{F}^{1/2}).$$

Take $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G)$. Let $\chi_u|\chi|$ be its polar decomposition, where $|\chi| \in \mathfrak{X}^+_{\mathrm{nr}}(G) = \mathrm{Hom}(G,\mathbb{R}_{>0})$ and $\chi_u \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ has image in $S^1 \subset \mathbb{C}^\times$. Then $[L,\chi_u \otimes \tau]_G = \chi_u \mathfrak{s} = \chi \mathfrak{s}$, and the construction of $\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}} = \mathrm{I}_Q^G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^L) = \mathrm{I}_Q^G(\mathrm{ind}_{L^1}^L\tau)$ shows that $\Pi_{\chi_u\mathfrak{s}}$ is equal to $\chi \otimes \Pi_{\mathfrak{s}} = \chi_u \otimes \Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}$. The relation between $\mathrm{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ and $\mathrm{End}_G(\Pi_{\chi_u\mathfrak{s}})$ is best described with the following isomorphism from [Sol5, Corollary 5.8]:

$$(9.24) \qquad \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))} \mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)) \cong \mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)) \rtimes \mathbb{C}[W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)), \natural_{\tau}],$$

where $\mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))$ denotes the field of rational functions on $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$, and $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ is identified with the family of L-representation $\{z \otimes \tau : z \in \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)\}$. The twisted group algebra $\mathbb{C}[W(L,\tau,\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)), \natural_{\tau}]$ is spanned by operators N_w , which may have poles on $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$. Since tensoring with χ is a symmetry of the entire setup, these operators N_w can be constructed in exactly the same way for $\chi_u\mathfrak{s}$. Then there is a canonical algebra isomorphism

(9.25)
$$\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\chi_{u}\mathfrak{s}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))} \mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))} \mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L))$$
$$fN_{w} \mapsto (f \circ \otimes \chi)N_{w},$$

where $f \in \mathbb{C}(\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L))$, $w \in W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L)) = W(L, \chi_u \otimes \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L))$ and $\otimes \chi$ is to be interpreted as the family $z \otimes \tau \mapsto |\chi| z \otimes \chi_u \tau$ for $z \in \mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L)$. The poles of N_w 's on both sides match, thus (9.25) restricts to an algebra isomorphism

(9.26)
$$\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{Y_{\mathfrak{A},\mathfrak{F}}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{F}}).$$

Pullback along (9.26) is thought of as tensoring modules with χ , and this gives the action of $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ on the middle term in (9.23). For $\pi \in \text{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$, by (9.3), the first arrow in (9.23) sends $\chi \otimes \tau$ to

$$\operatorname{Hom}_G(\Pi_{\chi_u\mathfrak{s}},\chi\otimes\pi)=\operatorname{Hom}_G(\chi_u\otimes\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}},\chi\otimes\pi)=\operatorname{Hom}_G(\chi\otimes\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}},\chi\otimes\pi).$$

The right-hand side is the vector space $\operatorname{Hom}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}, \pi)$ with the $\operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})$ -module structure adjusted by (9.25), thus it is equal to $\chi \otimes \operatorname{Hom}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}, \pi) \in \operatorname{Mod-End}_G(\Pi_{\chi_u \mathfrak{s}})$. This shows that the first equivalence in (9.23) is $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ -equivariant.

The second arrow in (9.23) will be treated in three steps. First we pass to $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}}$ - $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{\tau},W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau},k^{\tau},\mathfrak{h}_{\tau})$, as in Proposition 9.1. More precisely, we take a direct sum of such categories, first over $\mathfrak{s} \prec \mathfrak{f}$ and then over unitary $\tau \in \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$ modulo $W_{\mathfrak{s}}$. The equivalence

$$(9.27) \qquad \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$$

is described in the first two lines of (9.12); see [Sol5, (8.1)]. Here the steps involving analytic localization are innocent, and it boils down to the algebra isomorphism

(9.28)
$$\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s}, \tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})_{\log^{-}(U_{\tau})}^{an} \xrightarrow{\sim} 1_{U_{\tau}} \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})_{U}^{an} 1_{U_{\tau}}$$

from [Sol5, Proposition 7.3], written in the notation of (9.12). On $\mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, \mathfrak{t}_{\tau}]$, this isomorphism is given by the same formula (independent of twisting by χ) for any τ ,

and it sends any $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t})$ to $f \circ \log_{\tau}$, where $\log_{\tau}(z \otimes \tau) := \log(z)$. Similar to $\otimes \chi$, we have the map

$$\otimes \log |\chi| : \log_{\tau}(U_{\tau}) \to \log_{\chi_u \tau}(\chi_u U_{\tau}) = \log_{\tau}(U_{\tau}).$$

We claim that there is a commutative diagram of algebra isomorphisms

$$(9.29) \qquad \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{\chi_{u}\tau}, W_{\chi_{u}\mathfrak{s}, \chi_{u}\tau}, k^{\chi_{u}\tau}, \natural_{\chi_{u}\tau})^{an} \underset{\log_{\chi_{u}\tau}(\chi_{u}U_{\tau})}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s}, \tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})^{an} \underset{\log_{\tau}(U_{\tau})}{\overset{an}{\longrightarrow}}$$

$$\downarrow (9.28) \qquad \qquad \downarrow (9.28) \qquad \qquad \downarrow (9.28)$$

$$1_{\chi_{u}U_{\tau}}\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\chi_{u}\mathfrak{s}})^{an}_{\chi_{u}U}1_{\chi_{u}U_{\tau}} \xrightarrow{(9.25)} \qquad 1_{U_{\tau}}\operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}})^{an}_{U}1_{U_{\tau}}$$

where the upper horizontal map is given by

$$(9.30) \quad fN_w \mapsto (f \circ \otimes \log |\chi|) N_w \text{ for } f \in C^{an}(\log_{\chi_u \tau}(\chi_u U_\tau)), \ w \in W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} = W_{\chi_u \mathfrak{s},\chi_u \tau}.$$

Indeed, the only thing left to show is that the 2-cocycles \natural_{τ} and $\natural_{\chi_u\tau}$ match, which is guaranteed by (8.38) and Proposition 8.6. We define the $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ -action as pullback along (9.30), and thus (9.27) is $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ -equivariant.

Next we consider the equivalence of categories

$$(9.31) \quad \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_{b}, \log(q_{F}^{1/2})),$$

where \mathfrak{s} and τ run through the same set as in (9.30), and (φ_b, ρ_b) corresponds to τ via Theorem 4.8. This follows from Proposition 8.8. We claim that there is a commutative diagram of algebra isomorphisms

(9.32)
$$\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{\chi_{u^{\tau}}}, W_{\chi_{u}\mathfrak{s}, \chi_{u^{\tau}}}, k^{\chi_{u^{\tau}}}, \natural_{\chi_{u^{\tau}}}) \xrightarrow{(9.30)} \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s}, \tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$$

$$\downarrow \text{Proposition 8.8} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \text{Proposition 8.8}$$

$$\mathbb{H}(\chi_{u}\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \chi_{u}\varphi_{b}, \log(q_{F}^{1/2})) \xrightarrow{} \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_{b}, \log(q_{F}^{1/2}))$$

where the second row is given by

$$(9.33) fN_{w^{\vee}} \mapsto (f \circ \otimes \log |\chi|) N_{w^{\vee}} \text{ for } f \in \mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) \text{ and } w^{\vee} \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}.$$

Theorem 4.8 guarantees that $\chi_u \varphi_b$ and $\chi_u \mathfrak{s}^{\vee}$ correspond to $\chi_u \tau$ and $\chi_u \mathfrak{s}$, respectively, as desired. By $\chi_u, |\chi| \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ and (8.26), we have that (9.33) is an algebra isomorphism. Commutativity of the diagram is clear from the formulas for the maps in question. This proves that (9.31) is equivariant for $\mathfrak{X}^0(G) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$, where on the right we let $\mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ act via pullback along (9.33). The equivalence of categories

$$(9.34) \qquad \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s},\tau} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \cong \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{s} \prec \mathfrak{f}} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$$

was shown in the proof of Theorem 9.4; see (9.18). It then boils down to several applications of the following equivalence of categories

$$(9.35) \qquad \operatorname{Mod}_{\operatorname{fl},Z({\mathbb T}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{P}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{b},\log(q_{F}^{1/2})) \cong \operatorname{Mod}_{\operatorname{fl},\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^{+}(L^{\vee})(\varphi_{b},\rho_{b})} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_{F}^{1/2})$$

from [AMS3, Proposition 3.14.a and Theorem 3.18.a]. This is analogous to the equivalence of categories in (9.27). Using analytic localizations as in (9.29), one can

show that there is a commutative diagram

$$(9.36) \qquad \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{I}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{w}_{F}}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_{b},\log(q_{F}^{1/2})) \xrightarrow{(9.35)} \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_{F}^{1/2})$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad$$

where the right vertical arrow is pullback along the following algebra isomorphism from [Sol6, (19)]: for $f \in \mathcal{O}(\chi_u \mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee})$ and $w \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} = W_{\chi_u \mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$,

(9.37)
$$\mathcal{H}(\chi_u \mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}) \to \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$$
 is given by $fN_{w^{\vee}} \mapsto (f \circ \otimes \chi)N_{w^{\vee}}$.

Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ act on the right-hand side by pullback along (9.37), and thus (9.34) is $\mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ -equivariant.

10. An LLC for non-singular depth-zero representations

10.1. Construction.

The right-hand sides of Proposition 9.3, Theorems 9.4 and 9.6 concern Langlands parameters, but only cuspidal L-parameters for Levi subgroups of rigid inner twists of G. We also need to consider non-cuspidal enhanced L-parameters (see for example [AMS3]) when parametrizing the irreducible modules (or the standard modules) of the relevant Hecke algebras. Note that [AMS3] considers only left modules, in this article we will need to consider right modules at some point. In preparation for this, we study how the cuspidal support map from [AMS1] behaves with respect to taking contragredients of enhancements of L-parameters.

Lemma 10.1. Let $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e(G)$. Suppose that $Sc(\varphi, \rho)$ is represented by (L, φ_L, ρ_L) .

- (a) $\operatorname{Sc}(\varphi, \rho^{\vee})$ is represented by $(L, \varphi_L, \rho_L^{\vee})$.
- (b) Consider inertial classes $\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee} = \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)(\varphi_L, \rho_L)$ and $\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee op} = \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)(\varphi_L, \rho_L^{\vee})$ for $\Phi_e(L)$. Let \mathfrak{s}^{\vee} and $\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}$ be the corresponding inertial classes for $\Phi_e(G)$. Then

$$\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}} = \{ (\varphi, \rho^{\vee}) : (\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \}.$$

Proof. (a) By [AMS1, Definition 7.7], the construction of Sc boils downs to cuspidal supports for local systems supported on unipotent orbits in complex reductive groups, for which the compatibility with contragredients follows from the characterization in [AMS1, Theorem 5.5.a] (see also [DiSc, Theorem 2.5.3]).

We now parametrize irreducible modules in Theorem 9.4 by enhanced L-parameters.

Theorem 10.2. There is a canonical bijection

(10.1)
$$\operatorname{Irr} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}) \cong \Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}.$$

Proof. We need to modify the bijection from [AMS3, Theorem 3.18.a], which only concerns left modules, and adapt it for irreducible right modules. The equivalence between $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}}$ - $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ and (9.18) established in the proof of Theorem 9.6 works both for left and for right modules. Hence it suffices to modify [AMS3, Theorem 3.18.a] for

$$\mathrm{Irr}_{Z(\mathfrak{l}^\vee)^{\mathbf{w}}_{\mathbb{R}}} \, \operatorname{-}\, \mathbb{H} \big(\mathfrak{s}^\vee, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}) \big) \, \, \subset \, \, \mathrm{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}, Z(\mathfrak{l}^\vee)^{\mathbf{w}}_{\mathbb{R}}} \, \operatorname{-}\, \mathbb{H} \big(\mathfrak{s}^\vee, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}) \big).$$

Then [AMS3, Theorem 3.18] reduces to [AMS3, Theorem 3.8], and the set of enhanced Langlands parameters $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ reduces to those with cuspidal support in $(L^{\vee}, \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L^{\vee})(\varphi_b, \rho_b))$, denoted $\Phi_e(G)^{[\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L^{\vee})(\varphi_b, \rho_b)]}$.

For any $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e(G)^{[\mathfrak{X}_{nr}^+(L^{\vee})(\varphi_b, \rho_b)]}$, there is a unique $z \in \mathfrak{X}_{nr}^+(L^{\vee})$ such that $\varphi|_{\mathbf{W}_F} = z\varphi_b|_{\mathbf{W}_F}$. This z has a unique logarithm

(10.2)
$$t_{\varphi} := \log(z) = \log(\varphi(\operatorname{Frob}_F)\varphi_b(\operatorname{Frob}_F)^{-1}) \in Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

Let $d\varphi : \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to \operatorname{Lie}(G^{\vee})$ be the tangent map of $\varphi|_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})}$. Write $N_{\varphi} := d\varphi(\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix})$. By [AMS3, Theorem 3.8], we can associate to (φ, ρ) a left $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ -module $M(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. By [Sol9, Proposition 3.3], it can be expressed as

(10.3)
$$M(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \cong \operatorname{sgn}^* M_{N_{\varphi}, t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_F)/2, \rho},$$

where sgn denotes the sign automorphism of the algebra $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r})$, with an indeterminate \mathbf{r} instead of $\log(q_F^{1/2})$. We will modify this left module in several steps. By definition, $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r}) = \mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) \otimes \mathbb{C}[W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}, \natural_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}] \otimes \mathbb{C}[\mathbf{r}]$ as vector spaces; moreover, $\operatorname{sgn}|_{\mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F})} = \operatorname{id}|_{\mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F})}$, $\operatorname{sgn}(\mathbf{r}) = -\mathbf{r}$, and $\operatorname{sgn}(N_w) = \operatorname{sgn}(w)N_w$ for $w \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}$. The sign character of $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}$ is defined as $\det|_{X_*(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F})}$, which extends the sign character of the Weyl group $W(R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b})$. This constitutes a slight improvement, already used in [Sol10, §6.2], on an alternative sign character from [AMS2, AMS3, Sol9]. As shown in [Sol10, after (6.16) and §7], this minor modification does not affect any of the good properties established in [AMS2, AMS3, Sol9]. By [AMS2, Theorem 3.11] and [AMS3, Theorem 3.6], $M(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ is the unique irreducible quotient of the standard module

(10.4)
$$E(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \cong \operatorname{sgn}^* E_{N_{\varphi}, t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_F)/2, \rho}.$$

By [AMS2, Lemma 3.6.a] and [AMS3, (1.17)], we can write

(10.5)
$$E(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_0(S_{\varphi})}(\rho, \operatorname{sgn}^* E_{N_{\varphi}, t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_F)/2}).$$

Since we have used a sign character different from previous literature, we hereby specify that we use the right-hand side formulas of (10.3), (10.4) and (10.5) to define the respective left-hand sides. These are still left modules, to obtain an analogue for right modules, we recall from [AMS2, (5), (14)] the following canonical isomorphism for the opposite algebra of $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r})$: for $f \in \mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) \otimes \mathbb{C}[\mathbf{r}]$ and $w \in W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b}$,

(10.6)
$$\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r})^{op} \to \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r})$$
 is given by $fN_w \mapsto N_w^{-1} f$.

Here $\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}$ comes from $\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee op}$ as in Lemma 10.1. Applying the above discussions to $\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}$ instead of \mathfrak{s}^{\vee} , we obtain the standard left $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r})$ -module

(10.7)
$$E(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, \log(q_F^{1/2})) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+)}(\rho^{\vee}, \operatorname{sgn}^* E_{N_{\varphi}, t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_F)/2})$$
$$= (\rho \otimes \operatorname{sgn}^* E_{N_{\varphi}, t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_F)/2})^{\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+)}.$$

It has a unique irreducible quotient $M(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. Via (10.6), we can also view $E(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ and $M(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ as right modules for $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r})$ or $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. To emphasize this point of view, we shall add a superscript op

This $\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee op}$ is associated to a rigid inner twist of L, not necessarily to L, but at the moment we are only working in LG where it does not matter.

and we replace ρ^{\vee} by ρ (in the notation only, so it remains (10.7) as a vector space) This procedure does not change the $\mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F})$ -weights of $E(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$, so

$$E\left(\varphi,\rho,\log(q_F^{1/2})\right)^{op},\ M\left(\varphi,\rho,\log(q_F^{1/2})\right)^{op}\in\mathrm{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl},Z(\mathfrak{l}^\vee)_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}}\ -\ \mathbb{H}\left(\mathfrak{s}^\vee,\varphi_b,\log(q_F^{1/2})\right).$$

By [AMS3, Theorem 3.8], $(\varphi, \rho) \mapsto M(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2}))^{op}$ gives the desired bijection

(10.8)
$$\Phi_e(G)^{[\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(L^{\vee})\varphi_b,\rho_b]} \longrightarrow \mathrm{Irr}_{Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{w}_F}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b,\log(q_F^{1/2})).$$

Let $\bar{E}(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$ and $\bar{M}(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$ be the corresponding modules obtained from the equivalence of (9.18) with Mod_{fl} - $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$. Thus by (10.8), we obtain a map

(10.9)
$$\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^\vee} \to \operatorname{Irr} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^\vee, q_F^{1/2})$$
 given by $(\varphi, \rho) \longmapsto \bar{M}(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$.

Again, by [AMS3, Theorem 3.18.a],
$$(10.9)$$
 inherits the bijectivity of (10.8) .

We remark that in (10.7), the second line fits better with the parametrization of Deligne-Lusztig packets in (2.7). By Theorems 9.4 and 10.2, we obtain bijections

$$(10.10) \qquad \operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Irr} - \operatorname{End}_{G}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Irr} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_{F}^{1/2}) \longleftarrow \Phi_{e}(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}.$$

On the appropriate subsets, we can describe these bijections more precisely using Propositions 9.1 and 8.8, i.e. we have

$$(10.11) \quad \operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)\tau} \to \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)\otimes\tau} - \operatorname{End}_G(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}) \to \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}) \to \operatorname{Irr}_{Z([]^{\vee})_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\mathbf{w}_F}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \leftarrow \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L^{\vee})} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}) \leftarrow \Phi_e(G)^{[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L^{\vee})(\varphi_b, \rho_b)]}.$$

We abbreviate the bijection between the outer sides of (10.10) or (10.11) as

(10.12)
$$\operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}} \longleftrightarrow \Phi_{e}(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \text{ given by } \pi \mapsto (\varphi_{\pi}, \rho_{\pi}) \text{ and } \pi(\varphi, \rho) \longleftrightarrow (\varphi, \rho).$$

In the proof of Theorem 10.2, we constructed a standard module

(10.13)
$$\bar{E}(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op} \in \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}).$$

Let $\pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho) \in \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathsf{fl}}^0(G)_{ns}$ be its image via Theorem 9.4.

Lemma 10.3. In (10.12), the map $\pi \mapsto \varphi_{\pi}$ is canonical.

Proof. The remarks after (9.7) and Proposition 9.3 show that the non-canonicity in the construction of (10.12) comes from four sources:

- (i) On the supercuspidal level, i.e. for ${\rm Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak s_L}$, where the non-canonicity only comes from the enhancements.
- (ii) Choices of systems of positive roots in the construction of the various algebras. But since all positive systems in a finite root system are associate under the Weyl group, these choices do not affect the L-parameters up to conjugacy.
- (iii) Twisting by characters of $W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}$ that are trivial on the subgroup generated by the reflections s_{α} where $\alpha \in R_{\sigma,\tau}$ and $k_{\alpha}^{\tau} \neq 0$, as in Proposition 8.8. By (8.55) and (8.56), this can be translated to a character twist of the twisted group algebra part of $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. By the construction of $E(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ (as in the proof of Theorem 10.2) and [AMS2, Lemma 3.18], the twisted group algebra in a twisted graded Hecke algebra only affects the enhancements of the parameters for the irreducible or standard modules. Hence these character twists only affect ρ , not φ .
- (iv) Normalizations of the various 2-cocycles. Choices have to be made both on the

supercuspidal level (see especially Lemmas 4.3 and 4.4) and on the non-supercuspidal level (namely in Proposition 8.6). Often we do not know a natural choice. For the same reason as in point (iii), this affects the enhancements ρ_{π} but not the L-parameters φ_{π} .

Combining (10.12) over blocks gives the following.

Theorem 10.4. The equivalences (9.22) and (10.1) induce a bijection between

- the set $Irr^0(G)_{ns}$ of irreducible depth-zero G-representations with non-singular cuspidal support; and
- the set $\Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ of depth-zero parameters in $\Phi_e(G)$, whose cuspidal support is supercuspidal, i.e. trivial on $SL_2(\mathbb{C})$.

For any L-parameter $\varphi \in \Phi(G)$, the set of non-singular depth-zero representations in the L-packet $\Pi_{\varphi}(G) = \{\pi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) : \varphi_{\pi} = \varphi\}$ is determined canonically.

Proof. By (8.7), if we take the union over all Bernstein blocks $\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ of the indicated kind, then \mathfrak{s}^{\vee} runs precisely once through all inertial equivalence classes of the indicated kind for $\Phi_e(G)$. Hence the union of (10.12) gives the required bijection. The statement about the L-packets follows from Lemma 10.3.

Remark 10.5. We warn the reader that, for $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$, maybe not all enhancements ρ' of φ lead to cuspidal supports that are trivial on $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$. Hence the L-packet $\Pi_{\varphi}(G)$ need not consist entirely of non-singular depth-zero representations; its other members fall outside the scope of this paper.

10.2. Properties.

We now show that our local Langlands correspondence for non-singular depth-zero representations enjoys several nice properties, including those desired by Borel [Bor, §10]. Recall from (3.15) that $\mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ acts naturally on $\Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$. In the following, we label the bijection in Theorem 10.4 as

(10.14)
$$\operatorname{Irr}^{0}(G)_{ns} \longleftrightarrow \Phi_{e}^{0}(G)_{ns}$$

Lemma 10.6. The map (10.14) is equivariant for the canonical actions of $\mathfrak{X}^0(G) \cong \mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$. Similarly, the map $(\varphi, \rho) \mapsto \pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho)$ from (10.13) is $\mathfrak{X}^0(G)$ -equivariant.

Proof. By Theorem 9.6, it suffices to prove that the maps

$$\Phi_e^0(G)_{ns} \to \bigsqcup_{\mathfrak{s} \in \mathfrak{B}(G)_{ns}^0} \operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$$

given by $(\varphi, \rho) \mapsto \bar{M}(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$ and $(\varphi, \rho) \mapsto \bar{E}(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$ are equivariant for the $\mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ -actions from (3.15), (9.36), (9.37). This follows from [Sol6, Lemma 2.2].

Cuspidality for enhanced L-parameters was introduced in [AMS1, §6], generalizing earlier works of Lusztig.

Proposition 10.7. In (10.14), π is supercuspidal if and only if $(\varphi_{\pi}, \rho_{\pi})$ is cuspidal. In this case, (10.14) coincides with (8.14) and with [Kal2, Kal3].

Proof. Since $\pi \in \text{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}},\hat{\sigma})}$ arises via parabolic induction from $\text{Rep}(L)_{(\hat{P}_{L},\mathfrak{f},\hat{\sigma})}$, we know that π is supercuspidal if and only if L = G. On the other hand, any (φ, ρ) in Theorem 10.4 has cuspidal support in $\Phi_e(L)$, for some Levi subgroup $L \subset G$, so it is cuspidal if and only if L = G.

Suppose now that L = G. Then $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ reduces to $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee})$, while the isomorphism of twisted graded Hecke algebras in Proposition 8.8 reduces to

$$\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2})) = \mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s}, \tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau}) = \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t}).$$

This isomorphism is simply (8.50), which is induced by the tangent map of $\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L} \to \Phi_e(L)^{\mathfrak{s}_L^\vee}$ at τ . By [Sol5, (2.25)], we have $\operatorname{End}_L(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^L) \cong \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)) \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L,\tau), \natural_{\tau}]$. Consider the sequence from (10.11):

$$(10.15) \quad \operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^{+}(L)\tau} \to \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^{+}(L)\otimes\tau} \operatorname{-End}_{L}(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^{L}) \to \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} \operatorname{-}\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t}) \to \\ \operatorname{Irr}_{Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{D}}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}} \operatorname{-}\mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}) \to \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^{+}(L^{\vee})\varphi_{b}} \operatorname{-}\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_{L}^{\vee}) \to \Phi_{e}(L)^{[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^{+}(L^{\vee})\varphi_{b},\rho_{b}]}$$

We start on the right-hand side with $(z\varphi_b, \rho_b)$ for any $z \in \mathfrak{X}_{nr}^+(L^{\vee}) \cong \mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$. Its image in $\operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{X}_{nr}^+(L^{\vee})\varphi_b} - \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee})$ is again $(z\varphi_b, \rho_b)$. In $\operatorname{Irr}_{Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}} - \mathcal{O}(Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}) \cong Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, this becomes $\log(z)$ and in $\operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}} - \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{t}) \cong \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}$, it also maps to $\log(z)$. From there to

$$\operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)\otimes\tau}\operatorname{-End}_L(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^L) = \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)\otimes\tau}\operatorname{-}\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L)) \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L,\tau), \natural_{\tau}],$$

we apply [Sol5, (8.1) and Corollary 8.1]. By [Sol5, Lemmas 6.4 and 6.5 and Proposition 7.3], $\log(z)$ is mapped to $\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L))}^{\operatorname{End}_L(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^L)}(z)$. Since τ is our basepoint, this irreducible module corresponds to $z \otimes \tau \in \operatorname{Irr}(\operatorname{End}_L(\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}^L))$ in the notation of (9.4). In the conventions of Proposition 9.1, the leftmost bijection in (10.15) sends $z \otimes \tau$ to $z \otimes \tau$, but now as an element of $\operatorname{Irr}(L)_{\mathfrak{s}_L}$. Thus (10.15) is just $z \otimes \tau \mapsto (z\varphi_b, \rho_b)$, which by Theorem 4.8 agrees with (8.14).

Let $\mathfrak{Lev}(G)$ be a set of representatives for the Levi subgroups of G (i.e. the F-Levi subgroups of G) modulo G-conjugation. Then $\mathfrak{Lev}(G)$ also represents the G^{\vee} -conjugacy classes of G-relevant L-Levi subgroups of LG by [Sol6, Corollary 1.3].

Lemma 10.8. The cuspidal support maps and (10.14) form a commutative diagram

$$\operatorname{Irr}^{0}(G)_{ns} \longleftrightarrow \Phi_{e}^{0}(G)_{ns}
\downarrow \operatorname{Sc} \qquad \downarrow \operatorname{Sc}
\bigsqcup_{L \in \mathfrak{Lev}(G)} \operatorname{Irr}^{0}_{\operatorname{cusp}}(L)_{ns}/W(G,L) \longleftrightarrow \bigsqcup_{L \in \mathfrak{Lev}(G)} \Phi_{\operatorname{cusp}}^{0}(L)_{ns}/W(G^{\vee},L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}$$

Proof. By Proposition 10.7 and Theorem 4.8, the maps from Theorem 10.4 on the cuspidal level are equivariant for $W(G,L) \cong W(G^{\vee},L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. In particular, the bottom line of the diagram is well-defined and bijective.

Suppose that $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}} \subset \Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ has cuspidal support (L, φ_L, ρ_L) . Recall from [AMS3, Lemma 2.3] that

$$(10.16) Z(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})) = \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}/W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}) = \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee})^{W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}} = \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}_L^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}}.$$

By [AMS3, Theorem 3.18.a], the left $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}, q_F^{1/2})$ -module $M(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ admits central character $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}}(\varphi_L, \rho^{\vee})$. Then the construction of $M(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$ in the proof of Theorem 10.2 shows that it admits the same central character $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}}(\varphi_L, \rho^{\vee})$. Changing the notation from $(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}, \rho^{\vee})$ to $(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \rho)$ means that this central character must now be written as $W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}(\varphi_L, \rho_L)$. This and (10.16) imply that $M(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$ is a constituent of

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}_L^\vee,q_F^{1/2})}^{\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}_V^\vee,q_F^{1/2})}(\varphi_L,\rho_L) = \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}_L^\vee,q_F^{1/2})}^{\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}_L^\vee,q_F^{1/2})} M(\varphi_L,\rho_L,q_F^{1/2})^{op}.$$

By the compatibility with parabolic induction in Theorem 9.4, we know that $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is a constituent of $I_Q^G \pi(\varphi_L, \rho_L)$. By Proposition 10.7, $\pi(\varphi_L, \rho_L) \in Irr(L)$ is supercuspidal, thus it represents the cuspidal support of $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$.

In the following, we shall use the notion of temperedness for modules of twisted graded Hecke algebras as in [Sol5, Definition 9.2].

Lemma 10.9. In (10.14), $\pi \in \operatorname{Irr}^0(G)_{ns}$ is tempered if and only if $\varphi_{\pi} \in \Phi^0(G)$ is bounded.

Proof. We keep track of what happens to temperedness in (10.11), starting with $\pi(\varphi,\rho) \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ on the left. By [Sol5, Proposition 9.5.a], $\pi(\varphi,\rho)$ is tempered if and only if $M(\varphi,\rho) \in \operatorname{Irr}_{\mathfrak{k}} - \mathbb{H}(\mathcal{R}^{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$ is tempered. The isomorphism from Proposition 8.8 respects the maximal commutative subalgebras and the sets of positive roots for these twisted graded Hecke algebras, so it preserves temperedness. By [AMS3, Theorem 3.8.b and 3.18.b], the last two maps in (10.11) match tempered irreducible modules with bounded enhanced L-parameters.

Recall that a G-representation is called essentially square-integrable if its restriction to G_{der} is square-integrable. The corresponding notion for modules of Hecke algebras is essentially discrete series; see for example [Sol5, Definition 9.2].

Lemma 10.10. In (10.14), $\pi \in \operatorname{Irr}^0(G)_{ns}$ is essentially square-integrable if and only if $\varphi_{\pi} \in \Phi^0(G)$ is discrete.

Proof. Again we trace through (10.11), starting with $\pi(\varphi, \rho) \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)_{\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(L)\tau}$. By [Sol5, Proposition 9.5.b,c], $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is essentially square-integrable if and only if

(10.17)
$$\operatorname{rk} R_{\sigma,\tau} = \operatorname{rk} \Sigma(G, L),$$

where $\Sigma(G, L)$ denotes the set of nonzero weights of the maximal F-split subtorus of $Z^{\circ}(L)$ acting on $\mathrm{Lie}(G)$. As with temperedness, the algebra isomorphism from Proposition 8.8 preserves "essentially discrete series". Condition (10.17) is equivalent to the condition that

$$\operatorname{rk} R_{\sigma,\tau} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(L) - \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}(G) = \dim \mathfrak{t} - \operatorname{rk} X^{*}(Z^{0}(G)),$$

which is then equivalent to the condition that

(10.18)
$$\operatorname{rk} R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F} - \dim_{\mathbb{C}} Z(\mathfrak{g}^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}.$$

By [AMS3, Lemma 3.7], we can express the right-hand side of (10.18) as $\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(T)$, where T is as in [AMS3, §3.1]. Thus $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is essentially square-integrable if and only if $M(\varphi, \rho, \log(q_F^{1/2})) \in \operatorname{Irr-H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ is essentially discrete series and rk $R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(T)$. By [AMS3, Theorem 3.18.c], the combination of the latter two conditions is equivalent to the discreteness of φ .

Recall from [Lan1, Bor] that every $\varphi \in \Phi(G)$ canonically determines a character χ_{φ} of Z(G). To better utilize the cuspidal support map for enhanced L-parameters in the proof of the following Proposition 10.11, we will also need the perspective of L-parameters as Weil–Deligne morphisms

(10.19)
$$\psi: \mathbf{W}_F \ltimes \mathbb{C} \to {}^L G.$$

More explicitly, given $\varphi : \mathbf{W}_F \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \to {}^L G$, we define ψ by

$$(10.20) \qquad \qquad \psi(w,z) := \varphi \left(w, \begin{pmatrix} \|w\|^{1/2} & 0 \\ 0 & \|w\|^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right).$$

It is well-known that ψ determines φ up to G^{\vee} -conjugacy, see for instance [GrRe, Proposition 2.2].

Proposition 10.11. In (10.14), the central character of π is $\chi_{\varphi_{\pi}}$.

Proof. Let $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ and let (L, φ_L, ρ_L) be (a representative of) its cuspidal support. By Lemma 10.8, $\pi(\varphi_L, \rho_L) \in \operatorname{Irr}_{\operatorname{cusp}}^0(L)$ represents the cuspidal support of $\pi = \pi(\varphi, \rho)$. Then $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is a subquotient of $\operatorname{I}_Q^G \pi(\varphi_L, \rho_L)$; moreover, $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ and $\pi(\varphi_L, \rho_L)$ admit the same Z(G)-character, i.e. the restriction to Z(G) of the Z(L)-character of $\pi(\varphi_L, \rho_L)$, which by Lemma 4.6 is equal to

$$\chi_{\varphi_L}|_{Z(G)} = \theta|_{Z(G)}.$$

The construction of χ_{φ} from [Lan1, Bor] is recalled just above Lemma 4.6. Let $\mathcal{G} \to \tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ be an embedding such that $\mathcal{G}_{\text{der}} = \tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{\text{der}}$ and $Z(\tilde{\mathcal{G}})$ is connected. Let $\tilde{\varphi} \in \Phi(\tilde{G})$ be a lift of φ . The image $\tilde{\varphi}_z \in \varphi(Z(\tilde{G}))$ of $\tilde{\varphi}$ determines a character $\chi_{\tilde{\varphi}}$ of $Z(\tilde{G})$, and by definition $\chi_{\varphi} = \chi_{\tilde{\varphi}}|_{Z(G)}$.

We now consider ψ as in (10.19). Similarly, we define ψ_L and $\tilde{\psi}$, in terms of φ_L and $\tilde{\varphi}$. By [AMS1, Definition 7.7 and (108)], $\psi|_{\mathbf{W}_F} = \psi_L|_{\mathbf{W}_F}$, thus ψ and ψ_L differ only on the unipotent elements $u_{\varphi} := \psi(1,1)$ and $u_{\varphi_L} := \psi_L(1,1)$. The lift $\tilde{\psi}$ of ψ gives rise to a lift $\tilde{\psi}_L : \mathbf{W}_F \ltimes \mathbb{C} \to {}^L G$ of ψ_L , defined by

$$\tilde{\psi}_L|_{\mathbf{W}_F} = \tilde{\psi}|_{\mathbf{W}_F}$$
 and $\tilde{\psi}_L|_{\mathbb{C}} = \psi_L|_{\mathbb{C}}$.

The map ${}^L\tilde{G} \to {}^LZ(\tilde{G})$ dual to $Z(\tilde{\mathcal{G}}) \to \tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ divides $\tilde{G}_{\mathrm{der}}^{\vee}$ out, in particular $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbb{C})$ and $\tilde{\psi}_L(\mathbb{C})$ belong to its kernel. Hence $\tilde{\psi}_z \in \varphi(Z(\tilde{G}))$ is equal to the image $\tilde{\psi}_{L,z}$ of $\tilde{\psi}_L$ in $\varphi(Z(\tilde{G}))$. In other words, $\tilde{\psi}_z$ and $\tilde{\psi}_{L,z}$ determine the same character of $Z(\tilde{G})$.

Consider the maximal torus $\tilde{T} = TZ(\tilde{G})$ of \tilde{G} . Since φ_L and ψ_L have image in LT , $\tilde{\psi}_L$ has image in $^L\tilde{T}$. By the functoriality of the LLC for tori [Yu], $\tilde{\psi}_L$ determines a character of \tilde{T} that extends the character θ of T determined by ψ_L or φ_L . Hence the character $\chi_{\tilde{\varphi}}$ of $Z(\tilde{G})$ determined by $\tilde{\psi}_z = \tilde{\psi}_{L,z}$ (or equivalently by $\tilde{\varphi}_z$) extends $\theta|_{Z(G)}$. We conclude that χ_{φ} is equal to $\theta|_{Z(G)}$, which by (10.21) is also the Z(G)-character of $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$.

Next we investigate the compatibility between our LLC and parabolic induction. Let $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{MU}$ be a parabolic F-subgroup of \mathcal{G} , with unipotent radical \mathcal{U} and Levi factor \mathcal{M} . Suppose that $\varphi \in \Phi^0(G)$ factors through LM . Then we can compare representations of G and of M associated to enhancements of φ , via normalized parabolic induction. However, there is an obstruction to doing this nicely, given by a function ϵ from [Lus4, §1.16] in a setting with graded Hecke algebras. As in the discussion before [AMS3, Lemma 3.19], ϵ can be interpreted as a function

$$\epsilon(\varphi, q_E^{1/2}) := \epsilon(t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_E)/2),$$

where t_{φ} is as in (10.2), computed in a setting from $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \mathbf{r})$.

Lemma 10.12. Let $(\varphi, \rho^M) \in \Phi_e^0(M)_{ns}$ and let $\pi^M(\varphi, \rho^M) \in Irr(M)$ be its image under (10.14) for M.

(a) Suppose that $\epsilon(\varphi, q_F^{1/2}) \neq 0$. There is a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}_P^G\pi^{M,st}(\varphi,\rho^M)\cong \bigoplus\nolimits_{\rho} \mathcal{H}om_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho,\rho^M)\otimes \pi^{st}(\varphi,\rho),$$

where the sum runs through all $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+))$ such that $Sc(\varphi, \rho)$ and $Sc(\varphi, \rho^M)$ are G^{\vee} -conjugate.

The multiplicity of $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ in $I_P^G \pi^{M,st}(\varphi, \rho^M)$ is dim $\operatorname{Hom}_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho, \rho^M)$, and $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ already appears this many times as a quotient of $I_P^G \pi^M(\varphi, \rho^M)$.

(b) Suppose that φ is bounded. Then $\epsilon(\varphi, q_F^{1/2}) \neq 0$, $\pi^M(\varphi, \rho^M) = \pi^{M,st}(\varphi, \rho^M)$ and $\pi(\varphi, \rho) = \pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho)$, thus

$$\mathrm{I}_P^G\,\pi^M(\varphi,\rho^M)\cong\bigoplus\nolimits_{\rho}\,\mathrm{Hom}_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho,\rho^M)\otimes\pi(\varphi,\rho).$$

Proof. (a) [AMS3, Lemma 3.19] gives this for left $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ -modules, only with $\operatorname{Hom}_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho^M,\rho)$ instead of $\operatorname{Hom}_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho,\rho^M)$. The constructions in Theorem 10.2 translate this to our right $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},q_F^{1/2})$ -modules. Then the isomorphism becomes

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}_{M}^{\vee},q_{F}^{1/2})}^{\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}_{N}^{\vee},q_{F}^{1/2})} \bar{E}_{M}(\varphi,\rho^{M},q_{F}^{1/2})^{op} \cong \bigoplus_{\rho} \operatorname{Hom}_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho^{M\vee},\rho^{\vee}) \otimes \bar{E}(\varphi,\rho,q_{F}^{1/2})^{op}$$
$$\cong \bigoplus_{\rho} \operatorname{Hom}_{S_{\varphi}^{M+}}(\rho,\rho^{M}) \otimes \bar{E}(\varphi,\rho,q_{F}^{1/2})^{op}.$$

Theorem 9.4 allows us to transfer statements from $\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})$ to $\operatorname{Rep}_{\mathrm{fl}}^0(G)_{ns}$. (b) The boundedness of φ implies that $t_{\varphi} = 0$. By [Sol9, Lemma B.3] ¹¹, we know that $\epsilon(t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_F)/2) \neq 0$. The equalities between irreducible and standard $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, q_F^{1/2})$ -modules come from [Sol9, Proposition B.4.a], and via Theorem 9.4 they can be carried over to the corresponding results about G-representations. \square

Next we verify compatibility of Theorem 10.4 with the Langlands classification for p-adic groups as in [Kon, Ren]. We briefly recall the statement. For every $\pi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)$, there exists a triple (P, τ, ν) , unique up to G-conjugation, such that:

- P = MU is a parabolic subgroup of G;
- $\tau \in Irr(M)$ is tempered;
- the unramified character $\nu \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(M)$ is strictly positive with respect to P;
- π is the unique irreducible quotient of the standard representation $I_P^G(\tau \otimes \nu)$.

These constructions provide bijections between:

- the set of triples (P, τ, ν) as above, up to G-conjugation,
- the set of standard G-representations, up to isomorphism,
- Irr(G).

Note that in the above setting, π , $I_P^G(\tau \otimes \nu)$ and $\tau \otimes \nu$ have the same cuspidal support. Hence π lies in $Irr^0(G)_{ns}$ if and only if $\tau \otimes \nu$ lie in $Irr^0(M)_{ns}$.

Similarly, there is a Langlands classification for L-parameters in [SiZi]. For every $\varphi \in \Phi(G)$, there exists a parabolic subgroup P = MU of G, such that φ factors through LM and can be written as $\varphi = z\varphi_b$, where $\varphi_b \in \Phi(M)$ is bounded and $z \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{nr}}^+(M)$ is strictly positive with respect to P. This gives a bijection between $\Phi(G)$ and such triples (P, φ_b, z) , up to G^{\vee} -conjugacy (see [SiZi, Theorem 4.6]). The strict positivity of z implies that

(10.22)
$$Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F)) = Z_{M^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F)) \text{ and } S_{\varphi}^+ = S_{\varphi}^{M+}.$$

For any enhancement $\rho \in \operatorname{Irr}(\pi_0(S_{\varphi}^+))$, the construction of the cuspidal support of (φ, ρ) reduces to a construction in $Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi(\mathbf{W}_F))$, with $\varphi|_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})}$ and ρ as input (see

¹¹The element t_{φ} is called σ_0 in [Sol9]

for example [AMS1, §7]). Therefore, $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e(M)$ has the same cuspidal support as $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e(G)$. In particular, $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ if and only if $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e^0(M)_{ns}$. Now, let $(\varphi, \rho) \in \Phi_e^0(G)_{ns}$ and write $\varphi = z\varphi_b \in \Phi(M)$ as in [SiZi, Theorem 4.6].

Proposition 10.13. (a) $\pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho)$ is isomorphic to $I_P^G \pi^M(\varphi, \rho) = I_P^G (z \otimes \pi^M(\varphi_b, \rho))$. (b) $\pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho)$ is a standard G-representation in the sense of Langlands, and $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is its unique irreducible quotient.

(c) Every standard representation in $Rep^0(G)_{ns}$ arises in this way.

Proof. (a) Since $z \in (Z(M^{\vee})^{\mathbf{I}_F})_{\mathbf{W}_F}$, we have $S_{\varphi}^+ = S_{\varphi_b}^+$ and ρ can be viewed as an enhancement of $\varphi_b \in \Phi(M)$. By Lemmas 10.6 and 10.12 (b), we have

$$\pi^{M}(\varphi,\rho) = z \otimes \pi^{M}(\varphi_{b},\rho) = z \otimes \pi^{M,st}(\varphi_{b},\rho) = \pi^{M,st}(\varphi,\rho).$$

By [Sol9, Lemma B.3], $\epsilon(\varphi, q_F^{1/2}) = \epsilon(t_{\varphi}, -\log(q_F)/2)$ is nonzero. By (10.22) and Lemma 10.12 (a), we have $\pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho) \cong \operatorname{I}_P^G \pi^M(\varphi, \rho) = \operatorname{I}_P^G \pi(\varphi, \rho)$.

(b) By Lemma 10.9, $\pi^M(\varphi_b, \rho) \in \operatorname{Irr}(M)$ is tempered, and by construction, $z \in \mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{nr}}^+(M)$ is strictly positive with respect to P. Hence $\pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho) \cong \operatorname{I}_P^G(z \otimes \pi^M(\varphi_b, \rho))$ is a standard G-representation. By [Sol9, Proposition B.4.c], $M(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ is the unique irreducible quotient of $E(\varphi, \rho^{\vee}, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$, in the category of left modules for $\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee op}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$. By (10.6), (10.7) and (10.9), the same holds for

$$M(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op}$$
 and $E(\varphi, \rho, q_F^{1/2})^{op} \in \text{Mod}_{\text{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2}).$

Then by Theorem 9.4, $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ is the unique irreducible quotient of $\pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho)$.

(c) Let $I_P^G(\tau \otimes \nu)$ be a standard representation in $\operatorname{Rep}^0(G)_{ns}$. Then $\tau \in \operatorname{Irr}^0(M)_{ns}$ is tempered, thus by Lemma 10.9, $\varphi_{\tau} \in \Phi(M)$ is bounded. The strict positivity of ν agrees with the notion in [SiZi], because the same parabolic subgroup $P \subset G$ is used on both sides. Hence (P, φ_{τ}, ν) is a triple as in [SiZi, Theorem 4.6]. By part (a), we have $\pi^{st}(\nu\varphi_{\tau}, \rho_{\tau}) \cong I_P^G(\nu \otimes \pi(\varphi_{\tau}, \rho_{\tau})) = I_P^G(\nu \otimes \tau)$.

Finally, we deduce a corollary of our results on the p-adic Kazhdan–Lusztig conjecture from [Vog, Conjecture 8.11]. It expresses the multiplicity of an irreducible representation in a standard representation as the multiplicity of a local system in a perverse sheaf, both arising from enhanced L-parameters.

Corollary 10.14. The p-adic Kazhdan–Lusztig conjecture holds for $Rep^0(G)_{ns}$.

Proof. This follows from Theorems 9.6 and 10.4 in combination with [Sol9, $\S 5$] (in particular the proof of [Sol9, Theorem 5.4]).

Appendix A. Splittings of some extensions on the p-adic side

In §8.3, we will need generalizations of some results in §2.1. The extensions (2.33), (2.27) and (2.35) can also be constructed with $N_G(L)$ instead of L, giving

$$(A.1) \qquad 1 \to T \to N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta, [x]} \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta, [x]} \to 1,$$

$$1 \to T \to N_{G}(L, jT)_{\theta} \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta, [x]} \to 1,$$

$$1 \to T \to (\mathcal{T}^{\flat} \rtimes W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat}))_{x}(F)_{\theta} \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta, [x]} \to 1.$$

Pushout along $\theta: T \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ gives extensions containing (2.34), (2.28) and (2.36) resp.

Arguments in [Kal5, §8] are written for extensions of finite groups by tori, they also apply to (A.1) and (A.2). Thus, similar as in Lemma 2.9, we conclude:

Lemma A.1. In (A.1) and (A.2), the middle extension is the Baer sum of the other two.

The first extensions in (A.1) and (A.2) have the following analogues without restricting to the stabilizer of $[x] \in H^1(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Z} \to \mathcal{T})$:

$$(A.3) 1 \to T \to N_{G^{\flat}}(L^{\flat}, T^{\flat})_{\theta} \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta} \to 1, \\ 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}^{0}_{\theta,G} \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\flat}}(\mathcal{L}^{\flat}), \mathcal{T}^{\flat})(F)_{\theta} \to 1.$$

We have the following analogue of Proposition 2.10.

Proposition A.2. The extension $\mathcal{E}_{\theta,G}^0$ from (A.3) splits.

Proof. As in Proposition 2.10, it suffices to construct a setwise splitting of (2.38), which upon pushout along $\theta_f : \mathcal{T}_f(k_F) \to \mathbb{C}^\times$ becomes a groupwise splitting of

$$(A.4) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}^{0}_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{y}} \to W(N_{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{y}}(\mathcal{L}^{\circ}_{y}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_{F})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1.$$

As the notation $\mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_j,\mathcal{G}^\circ_y}$ suggests, this extension is the analogue of $\mathcal{E}^0_{\theta,G}$ for the finite reductive groups $\mathcal{G}^\circ_y(k_F)$, $\mathcal{L}^\circ_y(k_F)$ and $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$. By a standard argument analogous to that in the proof of Proposition 2.10, one reduces further to the cases where \mathcal{G}°_y is simply connected and absolutely simple. From the proof of Proposition 2.10 we recall the groups $\mathcal{L}_{y,i} \subset \mathcal{L}^+_{y,i}$ and $Z_{\mathcal{G}^\circ_y}(\mathcal{L}^\circ_{y,\mathrm{der}})^\circ \subset Z_{\mathcal{G}^\circ_y}(\mathcal{L}^\circ_{y,\mathrm{der}})^+$, the embedding (2.42) and the extension

$$(A.5) 1 \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}(k_F) \to N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+,\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1,$$

We write the pushout of the extension (A.5) along θ_f as

$$(A.6) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}^{0}_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}, \mathcal{L}^{+}_{n,i}} \to W(\mathcal{L}^{+}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_{F})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1.$$

Let $W(Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\text{der}}^{\circ})^+, Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ be the image of $W(N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}), \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ under (2.42) followed by projection onto the first factor. Similar to (2.38) and (A.5), we construct (A.7)

$$1 \to Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ}(k_F) \to N_{Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\mathrm{der}}^{\circ})^+}(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\mathrm{der}}^{\circ})^+, Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1,$$

whose pushout along θ_f gives

$$(A.8) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}^{0}_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}, Z_{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{y}}(\mathcal{L}^{\circ}_{y, \mathrm{der}})^{+}} \to W(Z_{\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{y}}(\mathcal{L}^{\circ}_{y, \mathrm{der}})^{+}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}, i})(k_{F})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to 1.$$

We claim that it suffices to construct setwise splittings of (A.5) (for each i) and of (A.7), such that upon pushout along $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ they become groupwise splittings of (A.6) and (A.8). More precisely, in this case $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ extends to $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ and hence to $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}} \rtimes_{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. Doing this for all i gives us an extension of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ from

 $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}} \cap \mathcal{L}_{y, \mathrm{der}}^{\circ})(k_F)$ to $\prod_i N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i} \rtimes \Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. Similarly, $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},Z} := \theta_{\mathfrak{f}}|_{Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ}(k_F)}$ extends to $N_{Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, der}) \rtimes \Gamma}(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. These extensions combine to a character $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}^+$ of

(A.9)
$$\frac{N_{Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})\rtimes\Gamma}(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}\times\prod_{i}N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}\rtimes\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}}{\{(z,z^{-1}):z\in(Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ}\cap\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})(k_F)\}},$$

which extends $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$. Since $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ embeds in (A.9), we obtain an extension of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ in (2.38). This gives a groupwise splitting of (A.4) and hence our claim.

By (2.18), $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is a semidirect product of a normal subgroup and a complementary part that embeds in $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})/\mathbb{Z}R(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})$. By the simplicity of \mathcal{G}_y° , that complement is cyclic or isomorphic to the Klein four group. The group $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, T_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ embeds in $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, T_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. By the non-singularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$, we know that $W(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ}, T_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ intersects the reflection subgroup of $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, T_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ trivially. Hence

(A.10)
$$W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, T_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$$
 embeds in $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})/ZR(\mathcal{G}_{y}^{\circ}, T_{\mathfrak{f}})$.

By the simplicity of \mathcal{G}_y° , the right hand side of (A.10) is either cyclic or isomorphic to the Klein four group.

By the classification of irreducible root systems and parabolic subsystems, one deduces that each $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is either simple or a direct product of simply connected groups of type A_{n-1} . This leads to three cases of (A.5) and (A.6), treated below.

Case A. $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is a product of d > 1 simple factors \mathcal{M}_i of type A_{n-1} , permuted transitively by $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \times \mathbf{W}_F$.

All these \mathcal{M}_i 's are isomorphic to SL_n . Let $\mathrm{Frob}^{d'}$ be the smallest power of Frob that stabilizes all the \mathcal{M}_i 's (or equivalently one of them). Then $\mathrm{Frob}^{d'}$ acts on \mathcal{M}_i as raising to the $q_F^{d'}$ -th power composed with an elliptic element F_A of $W(A_{n-1}) \cong S_n$ (by classification and by the ellipticity of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$). Every elliptic element of S_n is an n-cycle, and by adjusting the coordinates in $\mathcal{M}_i \cong \mathrm{SL}_n$ we can achieve that $F_A \in \mathrm{GL}_n$ is the product of the matrix of the permutation $(1 \ 2 \dots n)$ with a scalar matrix.

By (A.10), the group $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ comes from at most two simple factors \mathcal{M}_i of $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$. By the transitive action on the set of simple factors of $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$, each such \mathcal{M}_i contributes the same number of elements to $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. If $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ has two simple factors which both contribute, then (A.10) is not cyclic, which implies that \mathcal{G}_y° has type D_{2n} . But in this case, the elements of $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ outside its reflection subgroup do not come from any type-A Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G}_y° . Indeed, the Weyl group of a maximal type-A Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G}_y° is S_{2n} , but any expression of an element of $W(\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ outside its reflection subgroup contains some of the sign reflections in $W(D_{2n}) \cong S_{2n} \ltimes \{\pm 1\}^{2n}$. This shows that $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is trivial.

Consider two simple factors $\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{M}_2$ of $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$. The Dynkin diagram of $\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2$ embeds into a connected type-A sub-diagram J of the Dynkin diagram of \mathcal{G}_y° . In the Weyl group generated by J, we can find an element of $N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,i})$ that exchanges \mathcal{M}_1 with \mathcal{M}_2 and stabilizes the other \mathcal{M}_i 's. Hence $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ surjects onto S_d (viewed as the permutation group of the set of simple factors \mathcal{M}_i).

We take a closer look at the reflections in this S_d . It suffices to consider the transposition s_{12} that exchanges \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{M}_2 . The Levi subgroup of \mathcal{G}_y° generated by J is simple of type A, and it contains finite covers of \mathcal{M}_1 and \mathcal{M}_2 as Levi subgroups. In terms of the coordinates of $\mathcal{M}_i \cong \mathrm{SL}_n$, s_{12} is the product of n commuting reflections

 s_{α} , permuted cyclically by F_A and each sending one coordinate for \mathcal{M}_1 to one coordinate for \mathcal{M}_2 . Since s_{α} fixes $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and the two coordinates exchanged by α have no relations (like they would in SL_2), we have $\langle \alpha^{\vee}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \rangle = 0$. Let \tilde{s}_{α} be a Tits lift of s_{α} with respect to some pinning [Tits, §4]. This element is canonical up to the image of α^{\vee} , and $\langle \alpha^{\vee}, \theta_{\mathfrak{f}} \rangle = 0$ implies that \tilde{s}_{α} becomes canonical after pushout along $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$. Set

$$\tilde{s}_{\operatorname{Frob}^{d'm}(\alpha)} := \operatorname{Frob}^{d'm} \tilde{s}_{\alpha} \operatorname{Frob}^{-d'm} \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{s}_{12} := \prod_{m=0}^{n-1} \tilde{s}_{\operatorname{Frob}^{d'm}(\alpha)}.$$

Then \tilde{s}_{12} is fixed by Frob^{d'} and

(A.11)
$$\tilde{s}_{12}^2 = \prod_{m=0}^{n-1} \operatorname{Frob}^{d'm}(\alpha^{\vee}(-1)) \in \ker(\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}) \cap Z(\mathcal{L}_{y,i})^{\operatorname{Frob}^{d'}},$$

so \tilde{s}_{12}^2 becomes trivial upon pushout along $\theta_{\rm f}$. The same construction can be carried out for any simple reflection $s_{i,\,i+1}$ in S_d . By the length-multiplicativity of Tits lifts [Spr, Proposition 9.3.2] these $\tilde{s}_{i,\,i+1}$ give rise to a map

(A.12)
$$S_d \to \left(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+\right)^{\operatorname{Frob}^{d'}},$$

which by (A.11) yields a homomorphism $S_d \to \mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_{\hat{t}},\mathcal{L}^+_{\eta,i}}$.

Recall that d' is at most the order of the action of Frob on \mathcal{G}_y° , so it is at most 3. By the assumptions of case A, every simple factor of $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ lies in a Frob-orbit consisting of precisely d' many of the \mathcal{M}_i 's. The centralizer of Frob in S_d is a semidirect product of two subgroups:

- (i) the normal subgroup $N(S_d, \text{Frob})$ generated by the cycles of Frob, e.g. $\langle (123), (456) \rangle$ if Frob acts by (123)(456);
- (ii) a subgroup $\Gamma(S_d, \text{Frob}) \cong S_{d/d'}$ that permutes the various Frob-orbits of \mathcal{M}_i 's (where the coordinates of each \mathcal{M}_i are ordered in a cycle given by F_A), e.g. (14)(25)(36) if Frob acts by (123)(456).

We order the \mathcal{M}_i 's so that each Frob-orbit forms one string of consecutive entries. Then the set of those \tilde{s}_{α} (as above) such that s_{α} only permutes one Frob-orbit, can be constructed in a Frob-equivariant way. This allows us to make the image of $N(S_d, \text{Frob})$ under (A.12) Frob-invariant.

A transposition h in $\Gamma(S_d, \text{Frob})$ is formed of a product of d'n commuting reflections, each of the form $\text{Frob}^m s_{\alpha} \text{Frob}^{-m} = s_{\text{Frob}^m(\alpha)}$. Analogous to the construction of \tilde{s}_{α} above, we can construct a Frob-invariant lifting \tilde{h} of h. Using these \tilde{h} , we can make the image of $\Gamma(S_d, \text{Frob})$ under (A.12) Frob-invariant.

This provides the desired lift of S_d^{Frob} , which gives a splitting of (A.6).

Case B. $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is Frob-stable and $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, T_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} = \{1\}.$

Now $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ injects into the group of diagram automorphisms of $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$. If $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is cyclic, then there exists a splitting of (A.6). This group can only be non-cyclic if $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ has type D_4 and $W(N_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}), T_{\mathfrak{f}})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ surjects onto the group of outer automorphisms $\operatorname{Out}(D_4) \cong S_3$.

We represent $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ by an element $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ of the fundamental alcove for $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(D_4)$ in $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}\mathbb{R}$. Then the stabilizer of $\tilde{\theta}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ in $W(D_4)\rtimes\mathrm{Out}(D_4)$ is isomorphic to the stabilizer of $\tilde{\theta}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ in $X^*(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})\rtimes\mathrm{Aut}(W(D_4))$. The aforementioned shape of $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+,\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ implies that it is generated by elements that stabilize the fundamental alcove. The regularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ gives the regularity of $\tilde{\theta}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$, in the sense that it does not lie on

any hyperplane in the affine Coxeter complex. Thus $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is isomorphic to the group $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)$ of diagram automorphisms, which we view as a subgroup of $W(D_4) \rtimes \operatorname{Out}(D_4)$.

Next we show that $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{f,i})(k_F)_{\theta_f}$ is cyclic or that (A.6) splits. If Frob acts on $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ by an outer automorphism, then $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)^{\operatorname{Frob}}$ is cyclic of order 2 or 3. Suppose Frob acts on $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ by an inner automorphism. Its image in $W(D_4)$ is elliptic because $\mathcal{T}_{f,i}$ is elliptic. The elliptic elements in $W(D_4) \cong S_4 \ltimes \{\pm 1\}^4$ are easily classified:

- (i) a product of two disjoint 2-cycles in S_4 times one sign change in both cycles, e.g. $(12)(34)\epsilon_1\epsilon_4$,
- (ii) a 3-cycle in S_4 times two sign changes, of which one outside the 3-cycle, e.g. $(123)\epsilon_1\epsilon_4$,
- (iii) the central element $-1 = \epsilon_1 \epsilon_2 \epsilon_3 \epsilon_4$.

Elliptic elements of the first two kinds do not commute with the whole group $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)$. For such Frob, $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ is a proper subgroup of $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)$, and hence cyclic. Suppose that Frob acts via a lift of $-1 \in W(D_4)$ to $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+$. The character lattice

$$X_*(\mathcal{T}_{f,i}) = \{x \in \mathbb{Z}^4 : x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + x_4 \text{ is even}\}$$

is spanned by the standard basis $\{e_1 - e_2, e_2 - e_3, e_3 - e_4, e_3 + e_4\}$ of the root system D_4 . Here $e_2 - e_3$ is the central node in the Dynkin diagram of type D_4 . The given Frob-action implies that $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}(k_F)$ is a direct product of 4 copies of the unitary group $U_1(k_F)$, where the cocharacter lattice of each copy is spanned by one of the simple roots. Accordingly, the character $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ has four coordinates, each a character of $U_1(k_F)$. Since $\theta_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ is stable under $\mathrm{Out}(D_4)$, its coordinates associated to the simple roots $e_1 - e_2$, $e_3 - e_4$ and $e_3 + e_4$ are equal. The cocharacters $\mathbb{Z}(e_2 - e_3)$ are fixed by $\mathrm{Out}(D_4)$, so we may ignore them in our analysis. Then we are in a situation like Case A, with three simply connected groups of type A_1 permuted transitively by $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$. Same as in Case A, we produce liftings \tilde{s}_{α} and \tilde{s}_{12} , which combine to a splitting of (A.5).

Case C. $\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ is \mathbf{W}_F -stable and $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{f,i})_{\theta_f} \neq \{1\}$. Cases I–V in the proof of Proposition 2.10 show that

$$W(\mathcal{L}_{u,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{f,i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \cong W(\mathcal{L}_{u,i}, \mathcal{T}_{f,i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \times N,$$

where $N = \{1\}$ unless $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ has type D_n (case IV) in which case N may have two elements. In case IV, the proof of Proposition 2.10 already gives a $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ equivariant splitting on $W(\mathcal{L}_{y,i}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ in (A.5). It remains to find a splitting for N, when its k_F -points have order two. Since N is cyclic, its generator ϵ_n can always be represented by an element of $N_{\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}}$ whose order reduces to two upon pushout along $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$.

Now that we have treated the case of (A.5), we next treat (A.7) and (A.8). Since the Frob-action on $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ came from $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})$, Frob acts on $Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})$ and on $Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})^+$ just via the automorphism used to define \mathcal{G}_y° as a k_F -group. In particular, $Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ}$ is a maximal, maximally k_F -split torus of $Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})^{\circ}$. Let \mathcal{H} be the simply connected cover of $Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})^{\circ}$ and set $\mathcal{H}^+ := \mathcal{H} \rtimes \Gamma_Z$. The Frob-action on $Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})^+$ lifts canonically to \mathcal{H}^+ , making it a k_F -group. Let $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}$ be the inverse image of $Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ}$ in

 \mathcal{H} . We choose a Frob-stable Borel subgroup $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}\mathcal{U}_{\mathcal{H}}$ of \mathcal{H} and enhance $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{B})$ to a Frob-stable pinning of \mathcal{H} . Without changing the group $\mathcal{H}^+(k_F)$, we may replace Γ_Z by the isomorphic (Frob-stable) subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{H})$ that stabilizes the chosen pinning. Via the canonical map $\mathcal{H} \to Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\operatorname{der}}^{\circ})^{\circ}$, we may pull back $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ to a character $\theta_{\mathcal{H}}$ of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}$. We can obtain (A.8) from the extension

(A.13)
$$1 \to \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}(k_F) \to N_{\mathcal{H}^+}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}} \to W(\mathcal{H}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}} \to 1$$

in two steps, i.e. first we push out along $\theta_{\mathcal{H}}$ to produce the extension

$$(A.14) 1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}^{0}_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}},\mathcal{H}^{+}} \to W(\mathcal{H}^{+},\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_{F})_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}} \to 1,$$

which we then pull back along

$$W(Z_{\mathcal{G}_y^{\circ}}(\mathcal{L}_{y,\mathrm{der}}^{\circ})^+, Z(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}} \to W(\mathcal{H}^+, \mathcal{T}^{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}$$

Hence we may replace (A.7) by (A.13), and we need to find a splitting of (A.14). Note that $\theta_{\mathcal{H}}$ can be an arbitrary character of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}(k_F)$, the non-singularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ for \mathcal{L}_y° does not impose restrictions on $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ for $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{L}_y^{\circ})^{\circ}$.

By [Kal3, §2.7], the $\mathcal{H}(k_F)$ -endomorphism algebra of $\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ is the twisted group algebra $\mathbb{C}[W(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}, \natural_{\mathcal{H}}]$ associated to the extension $\mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{H}}$. Let $\xi_{\mathcal{H}}: \mathcal{U}(k_F) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a non-degenerate character. By adjointness of parabolic induction and restriction for finite reductive groups [GeMa, Proposition 3.1.10], we compute

(A.15)
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{U}(k_F)}(\xi_{\mathcal{H}},\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{U}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\xi_{\mathcal{H}}),\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}}))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}(k_F)}(*R_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{H}}\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{U}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\xi_{\mathcal{H}}),\theta_{\mathcal{H}}).$$

By [DLM, Theorem 2.9], the right hand side of (A.15) simplifies to

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}(k_F)}\left(\operatorname{ind}_{\{e\}}^{\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}}(k_F)}(\xi_{\mathcal{H}}), \theta_{\mathcal{H}}\right) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\{e\}}(\xi_{\mathcal{H}}, \theta_{\mathcal{H}}) \cong \mathbb{C}.$$

Therefore, $\xi_{\mathcal{H}}$ appears in $\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ with multiplicity one. We fix a nonzero vector $v_{\xi} \in \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ on which $\mathcal{U}(k_F)$ acts via the character $\xi_{\mathcal{H}}$. Every element of

$$\operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})) \cong \mathbb{C}[W(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}, \natural_{\mathcal{H}}]$$

sends v_{ξ} to the $\xi_{\mathcal{H}}$ -weight space of $\mathcal{U}(k_F)$, which is $\mathbb{C}v_{\xi}$. Thus for every $w \in W(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}$, there exists a unique lift $\tilde{w} \in \mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{H}} \subset \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}}))$ that fixes v_{ξ} . The collection of these \tilde{w} gives a group homomorphism

$$W(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}} \to \mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{H}} \subset \mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}, \mathcal{H}^+}$$

that splits a part of (A.14). The only elements of Γ_Z that appear in (A.13) are those that stabilize the orbit $W(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)\theta_{\mathcal{H}}$ and are fixed by Frob. Therefore, we may assume without loss of generality that $\Gamma_Z = \Gamma_{Z,W(\mathcal{H},\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}^{\text{Frob}}$.

Since Γ_Z stabilizes the pinning, the Whittaker datum $(\mathcal{U}(k_F), \xi_{\mathcal{H}})$ can be chosen so that it is fixed by Γ_Z . For example, if the pinning gives isomorphisms $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \cong \mathcal{G}_a$ for simple roots α , defined over a finite field extension k' of k_F , then we can take $\xi_{\mathcal{H}}((x_{\alpha})_{\alpha}) = \xi'(\sum_{\alpha} x_{\alpha})$ where $x_{\alpha} \in k'$, for a nontrivial additive character $\xi' : k' \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. Then v_{ξ} is also an element of $\gamma \cdot \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ on which $\mathcal{U}(k_F)$ acts by the character $\xi_{\mathcal{H}}$.

By [Kal3, §2.7], the $\mathcal{H}^+(k_F)$ -endomorphism algebra of $\pi_{\mathcal{H}^+} := \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}^+(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ is isomorphic to the twisted group algebra $\mathbb{C}[W(\mathcal{H}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}, \natural_{\mathcal{H}}]$ associated to the extension (A.14). Moreover

(A.16)
$$\pi_{\mathcal{H}^+} \cong \bigoplus_{\gamma \in \Gamma_Z} \gamma \cdot \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}}) \text{ as representations of } \mathcal{H}(k_F),$$

where $\gamma \cdot \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ is identified with the subset of $\pi_{\mathcal{H}^+}$ consisting of functions supported on $\gamma \mathcal{H}(k_F)$. Hence the $\xi_{\mathcal{H}}$ -weight space of $\mathcal{U}(k_F)$ in $\pi_{\mathcal{H}^+}$ is $\bigoplus_{\gamma \in \Gamma_Z} \pi_{\mathcal{H}^+}(\gamma) \mathbb{C} v_{\xi}$. The elements of $\mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}},\mathcal{H}^+} \subset \mathbb{C}[W(\mathcal{H}^+,\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}, \natural_{\mathcal{H}}] \cong \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{H}^+(k_F)}(\pi_{\mathcal{H}^+})$ permute the terms in the decomposition (A.16), according to their images in Γ_Z . Take $w \in W(\mathcal{H}^+,\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}$ and write it as $w = \gamma w_0$ with $\gamma \in \Gamma_Z$ and $w_0 \in W(\mathcal{H},\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}$. Let $\tilde{w} \in \mathcal{E}^0_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}},\mathcal{H}^+}$ be the unique lift of w that sends $v_{\xi} \in \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ to v_{ξ} as an element of $\gamma \cdot \operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})$ in (A.16). Consider

$$\pi_{\mathcal{H}^+}(\gamma^{-1})\tilde{w} \in \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}\big(\mathrm{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}}), \gamma^{-1} \cdot \mathrm{ind}_{\mathcal{B}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{H}(k_F)}(\theta_{\mathcal{H}})\big).$$

All maps of this form fix v_{ξ} , thus the composition of two such maps also fixes v_{ξ} . This implies that $\tilde{w}\tilde{v} = \tilde{w}v$ for all $w, v \in W(\mathcal{H}^+, \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{H}})(k_F)_{\theta_{\mathcal{H}}}$, thus providing the required splitting of (A.14).

APPENDIX B. SPLITTINGS OF SOME EXTENSIONS ON THE GALOIS SIDE

For applications in §8.3, some parts of §3.2 need to be generalized to larger groups. In the extensions (3.25), (3.17) and (3.22), we can replace L^{\vee} by $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})$, giving (B.1)

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1 \to \bar{T}^{\vee,+} \to & (N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})^{+})_{\varphi_{T}, \eta} & \to W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}, \eta}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} \to 1, \\ 1 \to \bar{T}^{\vee,+} \to & \operatorname{preimage of} \ Z_{N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})}(\varphi)_{\eta} \ \operatorname{in} \ \bar{G}^{\vee} & \to W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}, \eta}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} \to 1, \\ 1 \to \bar{T}^{\vee,+} \to \left(\bar{T}^{\vee,+} \rtimes W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}}\right)^{\varphi_{T}(\mathbf{W}_{F})} \to W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_{T}, \eta}^{\mathbf{W}_{F}} \to 1. \end{array}$$

Analogous to (A.1)–(A.2), pushout along $\eta: \bar{T}^{\vee,+} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ gives three new extensions, which contain (3.26), (3.18) and (3.22), respectively:

As in Lemmas 2.9 and A.1, the proof of Lemma 3.4 only uses [Kal5, §8] and hence applies to the above extensions as well. Therefore we have the following.

Lemma B.1. In (B.1) and (B.2), the middle extension is the Baer sum of the other two, in the category of $\tilde{N}_{\varphi,\eta}$ -groups.

The analogue of Proposition 3.5 for these extensions is the following.

Proposition B.2. The extension $\mathcal{E}_{\eta,G}^{0,\varphi_T}$ splits.

Proof. The first part of the (long) proof consists of several simplifying steps, which allow us to reduce certain concrete cases to the case of simple groups, which will be treated by explicit arguments. As at the start of the proof of Proposition 3.5, we

can reduce to the case where \mathbf{I}_F acts trivially on G^{\vee} , and thus we may replace φ by the single element $\varphi(i_F)$. Since

$$W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi_T} \subset W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(\imath_F)},$$

the required equivariance is automatic once we have constructed a splitting in this simplified setting.

As before, η factors through $(T^{\vee}/Z(G^{\vee}))^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, and the first extension in (B.1) can be obtained by push out the following along η (B.3)

$$1 \to (T^{\vee}/Z(G^{\vee}))^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to (N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})/Z(G^{\vee}))^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\varphi(\imath_F), \eta} \to W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\varphi(\imath_F), \eta} \to 1.$$

The extension (B.3) is the direct product of analogous extensions for the F-simple factors of G. Therefore we may assume that G is F-simple and simply connected.

Now G^{\vee} is the direct product of its simple factors, and they are permuted transitively by \mathbf{W}_F . Hence we can replace G^{\vee} by one of its simple factors and \mathbf{W}_F by the subgroup stabilizing that factor, without changing (B.3). This allows us to reduce further to the cases where G^{\vee} is simple.

By [Ste], similar to the discussion for finite reductive groups near (2.18), we know that $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ is a semidirect product of a normal subgroup and a complementary part that embeds into $X_*(T^{\vee})/ZR(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$. By the simplicity of G^{\vee} , this complement is either cyclic or isomorphic to the Klein four-group. The group $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ embeds into $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$. By the non-singularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$, $W(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ intersects the reflection subgroup of $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ trivially. Hence

(B.4)
$$W(L_i^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$$
 embeds in $X_*(T^{\vee})/\mathbb{Z}R^{\vee}(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})$.

By the simplicity of G^{\vee} , the right-hand side of (B.4) is either cyclic or isomorphic to the Klein four-group. Recall from (3.28) that η factors through $(T^{\vee}/Z(L^{\vee}))^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. Hence (B.3) can be replaced by (B.5)

$$1 \to (T^{\vee}/Z(L^{\vee}))^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to (N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})/Z(L^{\vee}))^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\varphi(\iota_F), \eta} \to W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}_{\varphi(\iota_F), \eta} \to 1,$$

and we need to show that this extension splits upon pushout along η . We decompose

$$(B.6) X_*(T^{\vee}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} = X_*(Z(L^{\vee})^{\circ}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \oplus \bigoplus_i X_*(L_i^{\vee} \cap T^{\vee}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R},$$

where L_i^{\vee} runs through the $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F),\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \times \mathbf{W}_F$ -orbits of simple factors of L^{\vee} . Accordingly, the character η decomposes as a product of characters η_i . Let P denote the image of $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F),\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ in the orthogonal group of $X_*(Z(L^{\vee})^{\circ}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, and write $T_i^{\vee} := T^{\vee} \cap L_i^{\vee}$. The decomposition (B.6) gives rise to an embedding of (B.5) in the product of the extensions $1 \to 1 \to P \to P \to 1$ and

(B.7)
$$1 \to (T_i^{\vee}/Z(L_i^{\vee}))^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to (N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})/Z_{G^{\vee}}(L_i^{\vee}) \cap N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee}))_{\varphi(i_F), \eta_i}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to W_{i_{F_i}}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1,$$

where i runs through the same index set as in (B.6), and

$$W_i := W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)} / W(Z_{G^{\vee}}(L_i^{\vee}) \cap N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}.$$

It suffices to construct, for each i, a splitting of (B.7) which becomes a group homomorphism upon pushout along η_i :

(B.8)
$$1 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to \mathcal{E}_{i,n,G}^{0,\varphi_T} \to W_{i,n_i}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \to 1.$$

Alternatively, we may directly construct a groupwise splitting of (B.8), i.e. in this case η_i extends to $(N_{G^{\vee}}(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})/Z(L_i^{\vee}))_{\varphi(i_F),\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$, and hence to $(N_{G^{\vee}}(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee}))_{\varphi(i_F),\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$. Thus $\eta = \prod_i \eta_i$ extends to $(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee}))_{\varphi(i_F),\eta}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ and we are done.

By classification of irreducible root systems and parabolic subsystems, $L_i^{\vee}/Z(L_i^{\vee})$ is simple or is a product of adjoint groups of type A. This leads to three cases (A,B,C), treated separately below, in which we construct such a splitting (B.7).

Case A. L_i^{\vee} is a product of d > 1 type A_{n-1} simple factors M_i , which are permuted transitively by $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}^{\mathbf{W}_F} \times \mathbf{W}_F$.

All M_i 's are isomorphic to $\operatorname{PGL}_n(\mathbb{C})$. Recall that the \mathbf{W}_F -action is given via elements of $N_{L^\vee}(T^\vee) \rtimes \mathbf{W}_F$ and that \mathbf{I}_F acts trivially. Let $\operatorname{Frob}_F^{d'}$ be the smallest power of Frob_F that stabilizes any (or equivalently all) of the M_i 's. Then $\operatorname{Frob}_F^{d'}$ acts as an elliptic element F_A on each M_i . Every elliptic element in S_n is an n-cycle. By adjusting the coordinates in each $M_i \cong \operatorname{PGL}_n(\mathbb{C})$, we can make F_A the product of the matrix of permutation $(12\ldots n)$ with a scalar matrix.

By (B.4), the group $W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ arises from at most two simple factors M_i of L_i^{\vee} . By the transitive action on the set of simple factors of L_i^{\vee} , each such M_i contributes the same number of elements to $W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$. If L_i^{\vee} has two simple factors that both contribute, then (B.4) is not cyclic, thus G^{\vee} has type D_{2n} . But in this case, the elements of $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ modulo its reflection subgroup do not come from any type-A Levi subgroup of G^{\vee} . More precisely, when one expresses elements of $W(G^{\vee}, T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ outside its reflection subgroup in terms of simple reflections, one must use some of the sign reflections in $W(D_{2n}) \cong S_{2n} \ltimes \{\pm 1\}^{2n}$. However, the Weyl group of a maximal type-A Levi subgroup of G^{\vee} is S_{2n} . This shows that $W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ is trivial.

Consider two simple factors M_1, M_2 of L_i^{\vee} . The Dynkin diagram of $M_1 \times M_2$ embeds into a connected type-A subdiagram J of the Dynkin diagram of G^{\vee} . In the Weyl group generated by J, we can find an element of $N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee})$ that exchanges M_1 and M_2 and stabilizes the other M_i 's. Hence $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ surjects onto S_d , the latter viewed as the permutation group on the set of simple factors M_i . We now take a closer look at the reflections in this S_d . It suffices to consider the transposition s_{12} that exchanges M_1 and M_2 . The Levi subgroup of G^{\vee} generated by J is simple of type A, and it contains finite covers of M_1 and M_2 as Levi subgroups. In terms of the coordinates of $M_i \cong \operatorname{PGL}_n(\mathbb{C})$, s_{12} is the product of n commuting reflections s_{α} , permuted cyclically by F_A and each sending one coordinate for M_1 to one coordinate for M_2 . Since s_{α} fixes $\varphi(i_F)$ and the two coordinates exchanged by α have no relations (like they would in $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$), we have $\alpha^{\vee}(\varphi(i_F)) = 1$ and $\alpha^{\vee}(\mathbb{C}^{\times}) \subset Z_{G^{\vee}}(\varphi(i_F))$. Let \tilde{s}_{α} be a Tits lift of s_{α} with respect to some pinning [Tits]. We set

$$\tilde{s}_{F_A^m(\alpha)} := F_A^m \tilde{s}_{\alpha} F_A^{-m} \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{s}_{12} := \prod_{m=0}^{n-1} \tilde{s}_{F_A^m(\alpha)}.$$

Then \tilde{s}_{12} is fixed by F_A and

$$\tilde{s}_{12}^2 = \prod\nolimits_{m = 0}^{n - 1} {(F_A^m \alpha)^\vee } (- 1) \in Z(L^\vee)^{F_A}.$$

The same construction can be carried out for any simple reflection $s_{i,i+1}$ in S_d . By the length multiplicativity of Tits lifts [Spr, Proposition 9.3.2], this extends to a group homomorphism

(B.9)
$$S_d \to \left(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})/Z_{G^{\vee}}(L_i^{\vee})\right)^{F_A}.$$

Recall that $F_A = \operatorname{Frob}_F^{d'}$ for some $d' \geq 1$. This d' is at most the order of the action of Frob_F on G^{\vee} , thus it is at most 3. By the assumptions in case A, every simple factor of L_i^{\vee} lies in a Frob_F -orbit consisting of precisely d' of the M_i 's. The centralizer of Frob_F in S_d is a semidirect product of two subgroups:

- (i) the normal subgroup $N(S_d, \text{Frob}_F)$ generated by the cycles of Frob_F , and
- (ii) a subgroup $\Gamma(S_d, \operatorname{Frob}_F) \cong S_{d/d'}$ that permutes the various Frob_F -orbits of M_i 's (where the coordinates of each M_i are ordered in a cycle given by F_A).

We order the M_i 's so that each Frob_F-orbit forms one string of consecutive entries. Then the set of those \tilde{s}_{α} (as above) such that s_{α} only permutes one Frob_F-orbit, can be constructed in a Frob_F-equivariant way. This allows us to make the image of $N(S_d, \operatorname{Frob}_F)$ under (B.9) Frob_F-invariant.

A transposition γ in $\Gamma(S_d,\operatorname{Frob}_F)$ is given by a product of d'n commuting reflections, each of the form $\operatorname{Frob}_F^m s_\alpha \operatorname{Frob}_F^{-m} = s_{\operatorname{Frob}_F^m(\alpha)}$. Analogous to the construction of \tilde{s}_α above, we can construct a Frob_F -invariant lifting $\tilde{\gamma}$ of γ . Using these $\tilde{\gamma}$, we can make the image of $\Gamma(S_d,\operatorname{Frob}_F)$ under (B.9) Frob_F -invariant. This provides the desired lift of $S_d^{\operatorname{Frob}_F}$, which gives a desired splitting of (B.7).

Case B. L_i^{\vee} is \mathbf{W}_F -stable and $W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi(\imath_F)} = \{1\}.$

 W_i injects into the group of diagram automorphisms of L_i^{\vee} . If W_i is cyclic, then there exists a splitting of (B.8) along η_i ; and W_i can only be non-cyclic if L_i^{\vee} has type D_4 and $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ surjects onto the group of outer automorphisms $\operatorname{Out}(D_4) \cong S_3$.

We represent $\varphi(i_F)$ by an element φ_a of the fundamental alcove for $W_{\mathrm{aff}}(D_4)$ in $X_*(T^\vee) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$. Then the stabilizer of $\varphi(i_F)$ in $W(D_4) \rtimes \mathrm{Out}(D_4)$ is isomorphic to the stabilizer of φ_a in $X_*(T^\vee) \rtimes \mathrm{Aut}(W(D_4))$. The structure of W_i implies that it is generated by elements that stabilize the fundamental alcove. The regularity of $\theta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ gives the regularity of φ_a , in the sense that it does not lie on any hyperplane of the affine Coxeter complex. Thus W_i is isomorphic to the group $\mathrm{Out}(D_4)$ of diagram automorphisms, which we view as a subgroup of $W(D_4) \rtimes \mathrm{Out}(D_4)$.

We next show that $W_i^{\operatorname{Frob}_F}$ is cyclic or that (B.8) splits. If Frob_F acts on L_i^{\vee} by an outer automorphism, then Out $(D_4)^{\operatorname{Frob}_F}$ is cyclic of order 2 or 3. Since Frob_F acts on L^{\vee} by an inner automorphism, its image in $W(D_4)$ is elliptic because T^{\vee} is elliptic. The elliptic elements in $W(D_4) \cong S_4 \ltimes \{\pm 1\}^4$ are easily classified:

- (i) a product of two disjoint 2-cycles in S_4 times one sign change in both cycles, e.g. $(12)(34)\epsilon_1\epsilon_4$;
- (ii) a 3-cycle in S_4 times two sign changes, of which one outside the 3-cycle, e.g. $(123)\epsilon_1\epsilon_4$;
- (iii) the central element $-1 = \epsilon_1 \epsilon_2 \epsilon_3 \epsilon_4$.

Elliptic elements of the first two kinds do not commute with the whole group $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)$. For such Frob_F , $W_i^{\operatorname{Frob}_F}$ is a proper subgroup of $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)$ and hence cyclic.

Suppose now that Frob_F acts via a lift of $-1 \in W(D_4)$ to $N_{L^{\vee}}(T^{\vee})$. In this case, we need to use η_i . The group $T_i^{\vee,\operatorname{Frob}_F}$ consists of the elements of order ≤ 2 in T_i^{\vee} .

Since we divided out $Z(L^{\vee})$, we may take $L_i^{\vee} = \mathrm{PSO}_8(\mathbb{C})$ with T_i^{\vee} being the maximal torus on the diagonal, i.e.

$$T_i^{\vee} = \{ \operatorname{diag}(t_1, t_2, t_3, t_4, t_4^{-1}, t_3^{-1}, t_2^{-1}, t_1^{-1}) : t_i \in \mathbb{C}^{\times} \}.$$

We write an arbitrary $t \in T_i^{\vee}$ as $t = (t_1, t_2, t_3, t_4)$. In this notation, $T_i^{\vee, \operatorname{Frob}_F} \cong \{\pm 1\}^4$ is generated by

$$(-1,1,1,1),(1,-1,1,1),(1,1,-1,1),(1,1,1,-1)$$
 and $(\sqrt{-1},\sqrt{-1},\sqrt{-1},\sqrt{-1}).$

The element $\epsilon_4 \in \text{Out}(D_4)$ stabilizes the character η_i of T_i^{\vee,Frob_F} if and only if

$$\eta_i(\epsilon_4(\sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1})) = \eta_i(\sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, -\sqrt{-1})
= \eta_i(\sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}) \eta_i(1, 1, 1, -1)$$

equals $\eta_i(\sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1}, \sqrt{-1})$, or equivalently $\eta_i(1, 1, 1, -1) = 1$. The element ϵ_4 can be lifted to an element of the subgroup of $PO_8(\mathbb{C})$ that changes only the fourth and fifth coordinates (corresponding to only the fourth coordinate of T_i^{\vee}). Since $-1 \in W(D_4)$ acts on the coordinates of T_i^{\vee} separately, this lift of ϵ_4 can be adjusted by some element $(1, 1, 1, t_4) \in T_i^{\vee}$ to make it into a Frob_F-invariant lift, say a_4 . Then

$$a_4^2 \in \{(1, 1, 1, t_4) : t_4 \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}\}^{\operatorname{Frob}_F} = \langle (1, 1, 1, -1) \rangle \subset \ker \eta_i.$$

By construction, a_4 is canonical up to $\{(1,1,1,t_4): t_4 \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}\}^{\operatorname{Frob}_F}$, thus upon pushout along η_i it becomes unique. Via conjugation by order 3 elements of $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)$, we also obtain canonical lifts of the other order 2 elements of $\operatorname{Out}(D_4)$. By their canonicity, these lifts combine to a splitting of (B.8).

Case C. L_i^{\vee} is \mathbf{W}_F -stable and $W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi(\imath_F)} \neq \{1\}$. Cases I–V in the proof of Proposition 2.10 show that

$$W_i \cong W(L_i^{\vee}, T_i^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)} \times N,$$

where $N=\{1\}$ unless L_i^{\vee} has type D_n (case IV), in which case N may have two elements. In case IV, the proof of Proposition 2.10 provides a $W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ -equivariant splitting on $W(L_i^{\vee}, T^{\vee} \cap L_i^{\vee})_{\varphi(i_F)}$ in (B.8). It remains to construct a splitting for N, which has order two. Since it is cyclic, its generator ϵ_n can be represented by an element of

$$(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee})/Z_{G^{\vee}}(L_i^{\vee}) \cap N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}, T^{\vee}))_{\varphi(\imath_F)}^{\mathbf{W}_F},$$

whose order reduces to two upon pushout along η .

INDEX OF NOTATIONS

ξ₅∨ §8.1, p. 56	$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}$ §8.3, p. 64
	D §5, p. 34
\mathbb{A}_S §5, p. 34	Δ_{aff} §5, p. 34
$\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}, F)$ §2, p. 8	$\Delta_{\rm f,aff}$ §5, p. 35
$\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{ad}}, F)$ §2, p. 7	η §3.2, p. 24
$C^{an}(U)$ §7.1, p. 48	$\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\varphi_T}$ §3.2, p. 24
$CW(J, \hat{\sigma})$ §7.1, p. 48	$\mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{\rtimes \varphi_T}$ §3.2, p. 25
$\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma}}$ §7.2, p. 51	\mathcal{E}_{θ}^{0} §2.1, p. 16
$\Gamma_{\hat{\sigma},\tau}$ §7.2, p. 52	$\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}$ §2.1, p. 15
$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ §8.1, p. 56	<i>σ</i> _θ <i>σ</i> =, p. 10

$\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{\ltimes[x]}$ §2.1, p. 16	$\kappa_{(T,\theta)}^{L,\epsilon}$ §2, p. 10
$\mathcal{E}_{\theta,G}^{0}$ §A, p. 83	$\mathcal{L}^{L,\epsilon}$ 82 p. 10
F §2, p. 7	$\kappa_{T,\theta,\rho}^{(L,\epsilon)}$ §2, p. 10 \mathcal{L} §2, p. 7 \mathcal{L}^{\flat} §2.1, p. 14
F_s §2, p. 13	\mathcal{L} 82, p. 1
f §2, p. 8	§8.3, p. 64
\mathfrak{f}_L §2, p. 8	\mathcal{L}_{α} §6, p. 39
Frob §2, p. 13	$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{ad}}$ §2, p. 7
Frob _F §3.1, p. 21	${}^{L}G = {}^{L}G$ §3.1, p. 21
\mathcal{G} §2, p. 7	L_{j} §3.1, p. 22
$G = \S2, p. 7$	^{L}T §3.1, p. 22
\mathcal{G}^{ν} §2.1, p. 15	$\mathcal{L}_{y,i}$ §2.1, p. 18
G §2, p. 7 G^{\flat} §2.1, p. 15 G^{1} §7.1, p. 46 G^{\vee} §3.1, p. 21	$\mathcal{L}_{y,i}^{+}$ §2.1, p. 18
G §3.1, p. 21	Mod - $\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathfrak{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ §7, p. 45
G_{α} §6, p. 44	$\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathrm{fl}} - \mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{\mathbf{f}}, \hat{\sigma})$ §7.1, p. 49
$\mathcal{G}_{ m der}$ §2.1, p. 17 $\mathcal{G}_{ m f}$ §2, p. 8	$N_G(L,T)$ §2, p. 10
$G_{f} = \begin{cases} 82, p. & 8 \\ 82, p. & 8 \end{cases}$	N_{φ} §10.1, p. 75
$G_{f,0+}$ §2, p. 8	\tilde{N}_{arphi} §3.2, p. 24
$G_{\mathfrak{f},\sigma}$ §5, p. 36	$N_{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(\mathcal{T})_{\theta}$ §2, p. 9
$\mathcal{G}^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)$ §2, p. 8	$N_W(J)$ §5, p. 35
$\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha}}^{\circ}(k_F)$ §6, p. 38	\mathfrak{o}_F §2, p. 8
$C = \{C \in SC \mid SC \in SC \}$	$\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(G))$ §7.1, p. 48
$\mathcal{G}_{\rm sc}$ §2.1, p. 17	\mathbf{P}_F §3.1, p. 21
G_{τ}^2 §7.1, p. 47	$P_{\rm f}$ §2, p. 8
\mathcal{G}_{σ} \text{80}, \text{p. 42} \\ \mathcal{G}_{\text{sc}} \text{82.1}, \text{p. 17} \\ \mathcal{G}_{\tau}^2 \text{87.1}, \text{p. 47} \\ \mathcal{G}_{\tau}^3 \text{87.1}, \text{p. 47} \\ \mathcal{G}_y^0 \q	$P_{\rm f} = \S 2, {\rm p.} 8$
\mathcal{G}_y° §2, p. 13	$P_{L,\mathfrak{f}}$ §2, p. 8
$\mathcal{H}(G, P_{\mathfrak{f}}, \sigma)$ §6, p. 37	Π_{φ} §4, p. 28
$\mathcal{H}(G, \hat{P}_{f}, \hat{\sigma})^{\circ}$ §7.2, p. 50	$\Pi_{\varphi,\eta}$ §4, p. 28
$\mathbb{H}(\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{\tau}, W_{\mathfrak{s},\tau}, k^{\tau}, \natural_{\tau})$ §8.3, p. 64	$\Pi_{\varphi}(L')$ §4, p. 28
$\mathbb{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, \varphi_b, \log(q_F^{1/2}))$ §8.3, p. 64	$\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ §10.1, p. 76
$\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_{1/2}^{1/2})$ §8.1, p. 54	$\Pi_{\varphi}(L')$ §4, p. 28 $\pi(\varphi, \rho)$ §10.1, p. 76 $\pi^{st}(\varphi, \rho)$ §10.1, p. 76
$\eta_{F} = 0.1, p. 04$	$\Pi(L, T, \theta)$ §2, p. 9 $\Pi_{\mathfrak{s}}$ §7.2, p. 51
$\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}, q_F^{1/2})^{\circ}$ §8.1, p. 56	$q_{\alpha^{\vee}}$ §8.1, p. 56
$ \theta $ §2, p. 8 $ \theta_{\rm f} $ §2, p. 8	q_F §6, p. 37
$i_F = \S3.2, \text{ p. } 26$	$q_{\sigma,\alpha}$ §5, p. 36
${f I}_F = \S 3.1, \ { m p.} \ \ 21$	$q_{\sigma,\alpha}$ §5, p. 36 $q_{\theta,\alpha}$ §6, p. 40
$\operatorname{Irr}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}^{[x]}, \operatorname{id})$ §2.1, p. 15	$\operatorname{Rep}_{f}(G)$ §7.1, p. 49
$Irr(G)_{\epsilon}$ 88.1. p. 56	$\text{Rep}^{\overline{0}}(G)_{ns}$ §9, p. 71
$Irr(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ §8.1, p. 56 Irr(L) §2, p. 9	$\operatorname{Rep}(G)_{\mathfrak{s}}$ §9, p. 66
$\operatorname{Irr}^{0}(L)$ §2, p. 9	$ \operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(P_{\hat{f}}, \sigma)} \qquad \S5, \text{ p. } 36 \operatorname{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{\hat{f}}, \hat{\sigma})} \qquad \S7, \text{ p. } 44 $
$\operatorname{Irr}(N_L(T)_{\theta}, \theta)$ §2, p. 9	$\text{Rep}(G)_{(\hat{P}_{i},\hat{\sigma})}$ §7, p. 44
$Irr(S_{\varphi}^{+}, \eta)$ §3.2, p. 24	$\operatorname{Rep}(L)$ §2, p. 9
J \(\frac{85}{95}\), p. 34	R(G, S) §5, p. 34
$j = \S2.1, p. 14$	R_{σ} §7.2, p. 49
j_0 §2.1, p. 14	$R_{\sigma,\tau} = \S7.2, \text{ p. } 52$
k_F §2, p. 7	$R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ §8.1, p. 56

D 000 00	III (I) CF 9F
$R_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee},\varphi_b}$ §8.3, p. 63	$W_{\rm aff}(J)$ §5, p. 35
$\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}(k_F)}(heta)$ §2, p. 8	$W_{ m aff}(J,\sigma)$ §5, p. 36 ${f W}_F$ §3.1, p. 21
$\pm \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}(k_F)}^{\mathcal{L}_{f}(k_F)}(\theta)$ §2, p. 8	W_{J} §5, p. 34
a = 88.3 p. 59	W(G,L) §2, p. 10
$ \rho_{\pi} $ §10.1, p. 76 $ S $ §5, p. 34 $ S $ §8.1, p. 56 $ S $ §8.1, p. 54	$W(G^{\vee}, L^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ §3.2, p. 23
S = 85 p. 34	W(G, L) §5.2, p. 25 $W(G, L)_{\hat{\sigma}}$ §7.2, p. 49
s 88.1. p. 56	
s [∨] 88.1. p. 54	$W(G,L)_{(T,\theta)}$ §2, p. 10
$S_{\rm aff}$ §5, p. 34	$W(G,L)_{(T,\mathfrak{X}^0(L)\theta)}$ §2, p. 11
Sc §8.1, p. 54	$W(J, \sigma)$ §5, p. 36 $W(J, \hat{\sigma})$ §7, p. 46
	$W(3,0) = \S7, p. 40$
$S_{ m f,aff}$ §5, p. 35 $S_{ m f,aff,\sigma}$ §5, p. 36	W_L §7.2, p. 49
$S^+_{1,an,b}$ 83.1. p. 21	$W_L(J,\sigma)$ §7.2, p. 49 $W(\mathcal{L},\mathcal{T})$ §2, p. 13
\mathbf{s}^{\vee} 88.1 p. 54	$W(L, \tau, \mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L))$ §7.2, p. 52
S_{φ}^{+} §3.1, p. 21 \mathfrak{s}_{L}^{\vee} §8.1, p. 54 σ §2, p. 11	$W(L, t, X_{nr}(L))$ §1.2, p. 32 $W(N_G(L), T)$ §2, p. 10
$\hat{\sigma} = 87 \text{ n} \cdot 44$	$W(N_{G^{\vee}}(L^{\vee}), T^{\vee})^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ §3.2, p. 23
\mathcal{T} §2. p. 8	$W_{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ §8.1, p. 55
t §8.3, p. 64	[x] §2.1, p. 15
\mathcal{T} §2, p. 8 \mathfrak{t} §8.3, p. 64 $\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}$ §9, p. 67 \mathcal{T}^{\flat} §2.1, p. 15	$\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L)$ §2, p. 10
T^{\flat} §2.1, p. 15	$\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(L)^+$ §8.3, p. 59
\mathcal{T}_{s} §2, p. 8	$\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L)$ 30.0, p. 65 $\mathfrak{X}_{nr}(L^{\vee})^+$ 88.3 p. 59
$egin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\mathfrak{X}_{ m nr}(L^{\lor})^{+}$ §8.3, p. 59 $\mathfrak{X}^{0}(G)$ §2, p. 10 $\mathfrak{X}^{0}(G^{\lor})$ §3.2, p. 24
$T_{\rm sc}$ §3.2, p. 26	$\mathfrak{X}^0(G^{\vee})$ 83.2 p. 24
$T_{\rm sc}$ §3.2, p. 26 $\overline{T}^{\lor,+}$ §3.2, p. 24	$\mathfrak{X}_{\rm nr}(G, \tau)$ §7.1, p. 47
$\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{t}}$ §2. p. 8	$X_*(Z^{\circ}(L))$ §2, p. 8
$\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ §2, p. 8 $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{f},i}$ §2.1, p. 18	$X^*(\mathcal{T}_{f})$ §2, p. 14
t_{φ} §10.1, p. 75	χ_{φ} §4, p. 32
τ §7.1, p. 46	$v = \begin{cases} 3.7 & \text{P} \end{cases}$
τ_1 §7.1, p. 47	$y = \begin{cases} 3 & 1 \\ y & \end{cases} $ $\begin{cases} 2, p. 13 \\ 2 & \end{cases} $ $\begin{cases} 2.1, p. 14 \\ \end{cases} $
$\Phi(G)$ §3.1, p. 21	T_{cpt} §2, p. 10
$\Phi_e^0(G)$ §3.1, p. 21	$Z(\mathcal{L})$ §2, p. 7
$\Phi_e^0(G)$ §3.1, p. 21 $\Phi_e(G)^{\mathfrak{s}^{\vee}}$ §8.1, p. 54	$Z^{\circ}(\mathcal{L})$ §2, p. 7
φ §3.1, p. 21	$Z(\mathfrak{l}^{\vee})_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbf{W}_F}$ §9, p. 67
φ_b §8.3, p. 59	$ZW(J,\hat{\sigma})$ §7.1, p. 47
φ_{π} §10.1, p. 76	Ω §5, p. 34
φ_T §3.1, p. 23	$\Omega_{\mathrm{f},\sigma}$ §5, p. 36
$v(\alpha, J)$ §5, p. 35	$\Omega(J)$ §5, p. 35
W §5, p. 34	$\Omega(J,\sigma)$ §5, p. 36
$W_{\rm aff}$ §5, p. 34	$\Omega(J,\hat{\sigma})$ §7, p. 45
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

References

[AFMO1] J.D. Adler, J. Fintzen, M. Mishra, K. Ohara, "Structure of Hecke algebras arising from types", arXiv:2408.07801, 2024

[AFMO2] J.D. Adler, J. Fintzen, M. Mishra, K. Ohara, "Reduction to depth zero for tame p-adic groups via Hecke algebra isomorphisms", arXiv:2408.07805, 2024

[Art1] J. Arthur, "On the transfer of distributions: weighted orbital integrals", Duke Math. J. **99.2**, (1999), 209–283

[Art2] J. Arthur, "A note on L-packets", Pure Appl. Math. Quaterly 2.1 (2006), 199–217

- [ABPS] A.-M. Aubert, P.F. Baum, R.J. Plymen, M. Solleveld, "Conjectures about p-adic groups and their noncommutative geometry", Contemp. Math. **691** (2017), 15–51
- [AMS1] A.-M. Aubert, A. Moussaoui, M. Solleveld, "Generalizations of the Springer correspondence and cuspidal Langlands parameters", Manus. Math. 157 (2018), 121–192
- [AMS2] A.-M. Aubert, A. Moussaoui, M. Solleveld, "Graded Hecke algebras for disconnected reductive groups", pp. 23–84 in: Geometric aspects of the trace formula, W. Müller, S. W. Shin, N. Templier (eds.), Simons Symposia, Springer, 2018, and arxiv:1607.02713v2
- [AMS3] A.-M. Aubert, A. Moussaoui, M. Solleveld, "Affine Hecke algebras for Langlands parameters", arXiv:1701.03593v6, 2024
- [AMS4] A.-M. Aubert, A. Moussaoui, M. Solleveld, "Affine Hecke algebras for classical p-adic groups", arXiv:2211.08196, 2022
- [AuXu1] A.-M. Aubert, Y. Xu, "Hecke algebras for p-adic reductive groups and Local Langlands Correspondence for Bernstein blocks", Adv. Math. **436** (2024), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2023.109384
- [AuXu2] A.-M. Aubert, Y. Xu, "The explicit local Langlands correspondence for G_2 ", arXiv:2208.12391, 2022
- [BCHN] D. Ben-Zvi, H. Chen, D. Helm, D. Nadler, "Coherent Springer theory and the categorical Deligne-Langlands correspondence", Invent. Math. 235 (2024), 255–344
- [Bor] A. Borel, "Automorphic L-functions", Proc. Symp. Pure Math 33.2 (1979), 27-61
- [Bou] N. Bourbaki, Groupes et algèbres de Lie. Chapitres IV, V et VI, Éléments de mathématique XXXIV, Hermann, 1968
- [BoMe] A. Bourgeois, P. Mezo, "Functoriality for supercuspidal L-packets", arXiv:2109.09552v4, 2024
- [BrTi] F. Bruhat, J. Tits, "Groupes réductifs sur un corps local: II. Schémas en groupes. Existence d'une donnée radicielle valuée", Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 60 (1984), 5–184
- [BuKu] C.J. Bushnell, P.C. Kutzko, "Smooth representations of reductive p-adic groups: structure theory via types", Proc. London Math. Soc. 77.3 (1998), 582–634
- [DeB] S. DeBacker, "Parameterizing conjugacy classes of maximal unramified Tori via Bruhat-Tits theory", Michigan J. Math 54 (2006), 157–178
- [DeRe] S. DeBacker, M. Reeder "Depth-zero supercuspidal L-packets and their stability", Annals of Math. 169.3 (2009), 795–901
- [DeLu] P. Deligne, G. Lusztig, "Representations of reductive groups over a finite field", Annals Math. 103 (1976), 103–161
- [DLM] F. Digne, G. Lehrer, J. Michel, "The characters of the group of rational points of a reductive group with non-connected centre", J. reine angew. Math. **425** (1992), 155–192
- [DiMi] F. Digne, J. Michel, Representations of finite groups of Lie type, London Mathematical Society Student Texts 21, Cambridge University Press, 1991
- [Dil] P. Dillery, "Rigid inner forms over local function fields", Adv. Math. 430 (2023), 109204
- [DiSc] P. Dillery, D. Schwein, "Rigid inner forms and the Bernstein decomposition for L-parameters", arXiv:2308.11752, 2023
- [FaSc] L. Fargues, P. Scholze, "Geometrization of the local Langlands correspondence", arXiv:2102.13459, 2021
- [FKS] J. Fintzen, T. Kaletha, L. Spice "A twisted Yu construction, Harish-Chandra characters, and endoscopy", Duke Math. J. 172.12 (2023), 2241–2301
- [GeMa] M. Geck, G. Malle, The character theory of finite groups of Lie type. A guided tour, Cambridge studies in advanced mathematics 187, Cambridge University Press, 2020
- [GrRe] B.H. Gross, M. Reeder, "Arithmetic invariants of discrete Langlands parameters", Duke Math. J. 154.3 (2010), 431–508
- [Hai] T.J. Haines, "The stable Bernstein center and test functions for Shimura varieties", pp. 118–186 in: Automorphic forms and Galois representations, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 415, Cambridge University Press, 2014
- [Hel] E. Hellmann, "On the derived category of the Iwahori-Hecke algebra", Compos. Math. 159.5 (2023), 1042–1110
- [HeVi] G. Henniart, M.-F. Vignéras, "A Satake isomorphism for representations modulo p of reductive groups over local fields", J. reine angew. Math. **701** (2015), 33–75

- [HoLe] R.B. Howlett, G. Lehrer, "Induced cuspidal representations and generalised Hecke rings", Invent. Math. **58** (1980), 37–64
- [Kal1] T. Kaletha, "Rigid inner forms of real and p-adic groups", Ann. Math. 184.2 (2016), 559–632
- [Kal2] T. Kaletha, "Regular supercuspidal representations", J. Amer. Math. Soc. 32 (2019), 1071– 1170
- [Kal3] T. Kaletha, "Supercuspidal L-packets", arXiv:1912.03274v2, 2021
- [Kal4] T. Kaletha, "On L-embeddings and double covers of tori over local fields", arXiv:1907.05173v2, 2021
- [Kal5] T. Kaletha, "On the local Langlands conjectures for disconnected groups", arXiv:2210.02519, 2022
- [Kal6] T. Kaletha, "Representations of reductive groups over local fields", pp. 2498–2975 in: Proc. Int. Cong. Math. 2022, Vol. 4, EMS Press, Berlin, 2023
- [KMSW] T. Kaletha, A. Minguez, S.-W. Shin, P.-J. White, "Endoscopic Classification of Representations: Inner Forms of Unitary Groups", arXiv:1409.3731v3, 2014
- [KaPr] T. Kaletha, G. Prasad, Bruhat-Tits Theory: A New Approach, New Mathematical Monographs 44, Cambridge University Press, 2023
- [KiYu] J-L. Kim, J-K. Yu, "Construction of tame types", pp. 337–537 in: Representation Theory, Number Theory, and Invariant Theory, Progress in Mathematics 323 (2017)
- [Kon] T. Konno, "A note on the Langlands classification and irreducibility of induced representations of p-adic groups", Kyushu J. Math. 57 (2003), 383–409
- [Lan1] R.P. Langlands, "On the classification of irreducible representations of real algebraic groups", pp. 101–170 in: Representation theory and harmonic analysis on semisimple Lie groups, Math. Surveys Monogr. 31, American Mathematical Society, 1989
- [Lan2] R.P. Langlands, "Representations of abelian algebraic groups", Olga Taussky-Todd: in memoriam, Pacific J. Math. (1997), Special Issue, 231–250
- [LaSh] R.P. Langlands, D. Shelstad, "On the definition of transfer factors", Math. Ann. 278 (1987), 219–271
- [Lus1] G. Lusztig, "Intersection cohomology complexes on a reductive group", Invent. Math. **75.2** (1984), 205–272
- [Lus2] G. Lusztig, "On the representations of reductive groups with disconnected centre", Astérisque 168 (1988), 157–166
- [Lus3] G. Lusztig, "Affine Hecke algebras and their graded version", J. Amer. Math. Soc 2.3 (1989), 599–635
- [Lus4] G. Lusztig, "Cuspidal local systems and graded Hecke algebras. III", Represent. Theory 6 (2002), 202–242
- [LuYu] G. Lusztig, Z. Yun, "Endoscopy for Hecke categories, character sheaves and representations", Forum Math. Pi 8 (2020), doi.org/10.1017/fmp.2020.9 and revision arXiv:1904.01176v3
- [Mor1] L. Morris, "Tamely ramified intertwining algebras", Invent. Math. 114.1 (1993), 1–54
- [Mor2] L. Morris, "Level zero G-types", Compositio Math. 118.2 (1999), 135–157
- [MoPr1] A. Moy, G. Prasad, "Unrefined minimal K-types for p-adic groups", Inv. Math. **116** (1994), 393–408
- [MoPr2] A. Moy, G. Prasad, "Jacquet functors and unrefined minimal K-types", Comment. Math. Helvetici 71 (1996), 98–121
- [Oha1] K. Ohara, "Hecke algebras for tame supercuspidal types", Amer. J. Math. 146.1 (2024), 277–293
- [Oha2] K. Ohara, "A comparison of endomorphism algebras", J. Algebra 659 (2024), 183–343
- [Opd] E.M. Opdam, "On the spectral decomposition of affine Hecke algebras", J. Inst. Math. Jussieu **3.4** (2004), 531–648
- [Ren] D. Renard, Représentations des groupes réductifs p-adiques, Cours spécialisés 17, Société Mathématique de France, 2010
- [Roc] A. Roche, "The Bernstein decomposition and the Bernstein centre", pp. 3–52 in: Ottawa lectures on admissible representations of reductive p-adic groups, Fields Inst. Monogr. 26, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009
- [SiZi] A.J. Silberger, E.-W. Zink, "Langlands Classification for L-Parameters", J. Algebra 511 (2018), 299–357

- [Sol1] M. Solleveld, "On the classification of irreducible representations of affine Hecke algebras with unequal parameters", Represent. Th. 16 (2012), 1–87
- [Sol2] M. Solleveld, "On completions of Hecke algebras", pp. 207–262 in: Representations of Reductive p-adic Groups, A.-M. Aubert, M. Mishra, A. Roche, S. Spallone (eds.), Progress in Mathematics 328, Birkhäuser, 2019
- [Sol3] M. Solleveld, "Langlands parameters, functoriality and Hecke algebras", Pacific J. Math. 304.1 (2020), 209–302
- [Sol4] M. Solleveld, "Affine Hecke algebras and their representations", Indag. Math. 32.5 (2021), 1005–1082
- [Sol5] M. Solleveld, "Endomorphism algebras and Hecke algebras for reductive p-adic groups", J. Algebra 606 (2022), 371–470 and appendix in arXiv:2005.07899v3 (2023)
- [Sol6] M. Solleveld, "A local Langlands correspondence for unipotent representations", Amer. J. Math. 145.3 (2023), 673–719
- [Sol7] M. Solleveld, "On unipotent representations of ramified p-adic groups", Represent. Theory 27 (2023), 669–716
- [Sol8] M. Solleveld, "Parameters of Hecke algebras for Bernstein components of p-adic groups", Indag. Math. 36.1 (2025), 124–170
- [Sol9] M. Solleveld, "Graded Hecke algebras, constructible sheaves and the p-adic Kazhdan-Lusztig conjecture", J. Algebra 667 (2025), 865–910
- [Sol10] M. Solleveld, "On principal series representations of quasi-split reductive *p*-adic groups", arXiv:2304.06418, 2023 (to appear in Pacific J. Math.)
- $[SoXu] \ \ M. \ Solleveld, \ Y. \ Xu, \ "On depth-zero characters of \ p\mbox{-adic groups"}, \ arXiv:2502.01505, \ 2025 \ \ p.$
- [Spr] T.A. Springer, Linear algebraic groups 2nd ed., Progress in Mathematics 9, Birkhäuser, Boston MA, 1998
- [Ste] R. Steinberg Endomorphisms of linear algebraic groups, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 80, American Mathematical Society, Providence RI, 1968
- [SuXu] K. Suzuki, Y. Xu, "The explicit Local Langlands Correspondence for GSp₄, Sp₄ and stability (with an application to Modularity Lifting)", arXiv:2304.02622, 2023
- [Tits] J. Tits, "Normalisateurs de tores I. Groupes de Coxeter étendus", J. Algebra 4 (1966), 96–116
- [Vog] D. Vogan, "The local Langlands conjecture", pp. 305–379 in: Representation theory of groups and algebras, Contemp. Math. 145, American Mathematical Society, Providence RI, 1993
- [Yu] J.-K. Yu, "On the local Langlands correspondence for tori", pp. 177–183 in: Ottawa lectures on admissible representations of reductice p-adic groups, Fields Institute Monographs, American Mathematical Society, 2009
- [Zhu] X. Zhu, "Coherent sheaves on the stack of Langlands parameters", arXiv:2008.02998, 2020

Institute for Mathematics, Astrophysics and Particle Physics, Radboud Universiteit Nijmegen, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

Email address: m.solleveld@science.ru.nl

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY, NEW YORK, NY, USA *Email address*: xu.yujie@columbia.edu